Isolation, characterization and engineering of *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* for degradation of wide range of organophosphates

A thesis submitted to the University of Hyderabad for the award of a Ph.D. degree in Department of Animal Sciences

By

Pinjari Aleem Basha



Department of Animal Sciences School of Life Sciences University of Hyderabad Prof. C. R. Rao Road, Gachibowli Hyderabad-500 046 Andhra Pradesh, India.

Enrolment No. 04LAPH10

April 2010



University of Hyderabad

(A central university established in 1974 by an act of parliament)

Hyderabad-500046, INDIA

DECLARATION

I, **Pinjari Aleem Basha** hereby declare that this thesis entitled "**Isolation**, characterization and engineering of *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* for degradation of wide range of organophosphates" is an original and independent research work. I also declare that it has not been submitted previously in part or in full to this University or any other University for the award of any degree or diploma.

Date:

Name: Pinjari Aleem Basha Signature: Enrollment No. 04LAPH10



University of Hyderabad (A Central University established in 1974 by an act of parliament)

Hyderabad-500046, INDIA

CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that this thesis entitled "Isolation, characterization and engineering of *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* for degradation of wide range of organophosphates" is a record of bonafide work done by Pinjari Aleem Basha a research scholar for Ph.D. programme in Department of Animal Sciences, School of Life Sciences, University of Hyderabad under my guidance and supervision.

The thesis has not been submitted previously in part or in full to this or any other University or Institution for the award of any degree or diploma.

Prof. S. Dayananda Supervisor

//Countersigned//

Head Department of Animal Sciences **Dean** School of Life Sciences

Acknowledgements

It's a great privilege to express my deep sense of gratitude to my beloved supervisor **Prof. S. Dayananda.** I know him as a teacher who not only taught me in my post graduation but also carved my career by inspiring me to take up research. I express my heartful gratitude to him for his guidance, caring and unwavering support throughout the course of my work.

I thank the Dean **Prof. M. Ramanadham**, School of Life Sciences and former dean, **Prof A.S. Raghavendra** for allowing me to use the school facilities.

My thanks to the Head, Department of Animal Sciences, **Prof. S. Dayananda** and former Head **Prof.** Aparna Dutta Gupta for allowing me to use the Department facilities. I would like to thank my Doctoral Committee members **Prof. Manjula Sritharan** and **Prof. Ch. Venkata Ramana** for their valuable suggestions.

I thank **Prof. P. Reddanna** for allowing me to use GC-MS facility and I also extend my thanks to **Dr. M. Bramanandam** for their valuable suggestions during my Doctoral studies.

I would like to thank all the *faculty members* of School of Life Sciences for their help whenever needed.

I thank Mr.Lallan, Mr. Ankinedu, Mr.Jagan, Mr. Gopi, Mr. Narasimha and Mrs. Jyothi who helped me in different endeavors during my work.

I thank CSIR, DST and DBT for giving me financial assistance throughout my Doctoral studies. I am thankful to DST, CSIR, DRDO and DBT for funding our laboratory.

I thank my current lab mates Purushotham, Paul, Deviprasanna, Toshi, Swetha, Dr. Gopi, Sunil, Santhosh, Dr. Vinay Kumar, Ravikanth and my senior lab mates Dr. Pakala Suresh Babu, Dr. Syed Khajamohiddin and Dr. Elisha Repalle for their valuable suggestions in my work and providing me a peaceful atmosphere during my bench work.

Thanks to **Mr. Manikanta** (Tech, Asst) and **Mr. Krishna** (Lab Attendant) for their assistance in administrative work.

I also extend my acknowledgements to **Dr. Jay Prakash Pandey** who helped me in part of my work and also for his advices in my professional life as a brother.

I thank my beloved teachers **Mohd. Ibrahim** (Jaagruti Public School), **Vavilala Krishna Murthy** (Adarshsa Vidya Peetham) and **C. Sreenivasa Rao** (Osmania Degree College, Kurnool) for their valuable support during my studies.

I extend my thanks to my childhood friends and school mates Raghavendra Acharya, Sreenivasulu goud, Suresh, Venkata Ramana, Vekateshwarlu, Khadar Basha, Madan Sekhar, Madhu and Hussain peera for their encouragement, fun and joy.

I specially thank my elder brother Mr. P. Rajack miah who always guided me for better study. I also thank Mrs. P. Rajack miah and family members Rasheed, Rabiya and Raheem for their webwishing nature.

I specially thank my second brother Late P. Nabisaheb who encouraged me for a better life. I also thank Mrs. P. Nabisaheb and family members Sheikshavali, Ahmed Basha and Aminabi for their support and welwishing nature. I specially thank my brothers P. Ibrahim and P. Noor Basha for their constant support and helping hand whenever needed. I also thank my bhabhis Mabuni and Haseena and their children Shekuna, Mahaboob Basha, Reshma, Nazeer, Nasir, Naveed and Munna for giving me lots of love and fun.

I express my whole hearted thanks to my brother in law **P.** Ali Hussain and my beloved sister **P.** Khajabee and their children Zubeer and Waheed. I once again express my heartfelt thanks to my sister for her caring and support.

I would like to express my heartfull thanks to brothers **Mastan basha** and **Azeem**, bhabhis **Jaina** and **Shahnaz**, their kids **Adil**, **Ayesha** and **Affu** (Laddu) and my only one sister in law **Rahimunnissa Begum** for their support and encouragement.

I would like to extend my thanks to my classmates and well wishers Haneef Basha and family, Seetharam and his wife Shobha, Muralidhar reddy, Kanna, Naveen, Harinathachari, Srinath and Sree Ramachandra murthy.

My special thanks to SKU friends Sreenivasa reddy, Bala Nagi reddy, Padmavathi, Ramehswar reddy, Dr. Viswanath, Dr. Prashanthi, Dr. Santhosh, Rajkanth, Jr. Purush, Dr. Venkateswara Swamy and N. Harathi for their encouragement and affection during my stay at Anantapur.

I take this opportunity to extend my sincere gratitude to **Gunti Steenivas, Kotha Anil, Bharath** and **Gangadhar** who gave their helping hands in very odd times.

I thank all the friends in School of Life Sciences for their help whenever required.

I find no words to express my gratitude for the immense support, patience and love shown by my wife **P. Sabera** through my thin and thick times. I am grateful to my Mom for selecting me such a wonderful life partner. My litprincess **P. Noor Jauhar (Naima)** made my life beautiful.

I express my sincere gratitude and heartfelt thanks to my in law parents **G**. Mastanappa and **G**. Mahaboob Begum who treated me as their son and showed immense love and affection.

Words are not adequate to explain the love and affection showed by my parents Late P. Navamma and Late P. Ghouse miah.

Last but not least I would like to thank all friends who helped me directly or indirectly.

Finally I would like to thank *Almighty* for his blessings throughout my life.

Pinjari Aleem Basha....

Table of Contents

Introduction

1.1 Organophosphorus Compounds

a. Chemistry and toxicology of organophosphate compounds.

b. Organophosphorus pesticides as environmental pollutants and its health hazards.

1.2 Microorganisms and Biodegradation

a. Biodegradation of organophosphorus pesticides

b. Parathion (O, O-diethyl-O-p-nitrophenyl phosphorothioate)

c. Methyl parathion (O, O-dimethyl-O-p-nitrophenyl phosphorothioate)

d. The role of bacterial enzymes in detoxification of organophosphates

e. Organophosphorus hydrolase (OPH), a remarkable enzyme for detoxification of organophosphorus compounds

- 1.3 Engineering of microorganisms for detoxification of toxic environmental pollutants
- 1.4 Catalytic properties of OPH

1.5 Hypothesis

a. Definition of the problem

1.6 Brief description of work done in the study

Materials and methods

- 2.1 Materials
 - 2.1.1. Antibiotics
 - 2.1.2 Biochemicals
 - 2.1.3. Restriction and other enzymes
- 2.2. Bacterial strains
- 2.3. Plasmids
- 2.4. Preparation of stock, working solutions and buffers

- 2.5. Preparation of buffers and solutions for SDS-PAGE
- 2.6. SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
- 2.7. Preparation of buffers for Western blotting
- 2.8. Western blotting
- 2.9. Detection
- 2.10. Preparation of solutions for Agarose gel electrophoresis
- 2.11. Agarose gel electrophoresis
- 2.12. DNA Ligation
- 2.13. Transformation
- 2.14. Media and Growth conditions
- 2.15 Enrichment culture technique to isolate acephate (O, S dimethyl acetyl phosphoramidothioicacid) degrading bacterium
- 2.16. Growth of Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus using acephate as source of carbon, nitrogen and sulfur source
- 2.17. Identification of the bacteria
- 2.18. Surface peptide analysis by MALDI-TOF/TOF
- 2.19. 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis
- 2.20. DNA-DNA hybridization
- 2.21 Extraction and characterization of catabolic intermediates of acephate
- 2.22. Construction of expression plasmids
- 2.23. Expression of OPH in P.jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus
- 2.24. Sub-cellular localization of OPH in P. jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus DS004
- 2.25. Protein estimation
- 2.26. Parathion Hydrolase Assay

Chapter I

- 3.1 Isolation of acephate mineralizing bacterium from activated sludge
- 3.2 Substrate tolerance

- 3.3 Usage of acephate as source of nitrogen and sulfur
- 3.4. Taxonomic characterization of strain DS004
 - 3.41 Morphological Characterization
 - 3.42 Biochemical properties of strain DS004
 - 3.43 Description of acephate degrading bacterium strain DS004
- 3.5 Analysis of cell surface peptides
- 3.6 Amplification of 16S rRNA gene from strain DS004
- 3.7 Cloning of 16S rRNA gene in pGEM-T Easy vector
- 3.8 16S rRNA gene sequencing
- 3.9 Construction of phylogenetic tree
- 3.10 DNA-DNA Hybridization
- 3.11 Discussion
- 3.12 Conclusions

Chapter II

- 4.1 Identification of catabolic intermediates of acephate
- 4.2 Identification of Catabolic intermediates of acephate through LC-MS analysis
- 4.3 Discussion

4.3a. Organophosphate degrading enzymes

4.3b. Oxygenases

4.4 Conclusions

Chapter III

- 5.1 Organophosphates other than acephate as carbon source
- 5.2 Amplification of opd gene from Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus
- 5.3 **OPH** assay
- 5.4 Construction of expression plasmids

5.41. Expression of opd gene with its native promoter

101-121

5.42. Expression of OPH in the inner membrane of P. jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus

5.43. Expression of cytoplasmic OPH in Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus

- 5.5 Mobilization of expression plasmids into Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus
- 5.6 Screening of exconjugants for the presence of expression plasmids

5.61. Growth on acephate kanamycin plates

5.62. Colony PCR using opd specific primers

5.7 Expression of OPH in Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus

5.71. Expression of opd gene with native promoter

5.72. Expression and sub cellular localization of preOPH in Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus

5.73. Expression and subcellular localization of mOPH in Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus

- 5.8 Degradation of organophosphates by engineered strains of Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus
- 5.9 Influence of OPH expression on strains acephate mineralization ability
- 5.10 Discussion
- 5.11 Conclusions

References

It is well established that the dawn of human civilization is intricately associated with development of agricultural societies. The Neolithic Revolution in economic, political, and social organization began in the Middle East as early as 10,000 B.C. and gradually spread to other centers, including parts of India, North Africa, and Europe. With the rise of agricultural forms of economic production, humans were able to remain settled more permanently in a region. Additionally, the emergence of agriculturally based societies caused a massive increase in the sheer number of people in the world auguring newer agricultural practices such the use of better quality seeds and fertilizers to improve crop productivity as well as the use of pesticides, insecticides, herbicides etc., to protect crops and their produce.

In general, "Pesticide" is a substance or mixture of substances used to kill pests including insects, ticks, mites, plant pathogens, molluscs, nematodes, weeds and microbes which can have a devastating effect on crop yield by direct destruction of the crop or by competing for nutrients in the soil. It is estimated that nearly Rs. 12,000 crore worth of crops are consumed annually by pests (Shroff, 2000). Despite such huge losses, widespread use of pesticides is inevitable since they provide a sure cover for the farmer to protect his investment in seeds and fertilizers. Pesticides represent the direct control towards crop disease and pest management and thus help in increased yields of crops. Currently about 215 pesticides have been registered for use in India (NCIPM, National Centre for Integrated Pest Management) and the production and consumption of pesticides has increased several folds in the last three decades. In the United States alone, 50,000 tonnes of pesticides are used per year (Ballantyne and Marrs, 1992). As per Mathur et al (1999), pesticide utilization rate is much greater in India (76%) as against global utilization (44%). Due to inadequate

knowledge about pesticide practices, they have been used indiscriminately. Continuous and wide spread use of pesticides has added to environmental problems leading to contamination of air, water and terrestrial ecosystems, eliciting harmful effects on different biota, and disrupting biogeochemical cycling. However, pesticides will continue to be the indispensable tool for the farmer to manage insect pests in the absence of other viable alternative technologies.

On the basis of their chemical properties, pesticides are broadly classified into inorganic compounds, thiocyanates, organochlorines, organophosphates, carbamates, organosulfur, natural and synthetic pyrethroids. The first known pesticide was elemental sulfur dusting used by Sumerians about 4500 years ago. Since then, toxic chemicals like arsenic, lead and mercury were also applied to crops to control pests (Miller and Tyler, 2002). In the 17th century, natural products like nicotine sulfate (isolated from tobacco leaves), pyrethrum (derived from chrysanthemum) and rotenone (from roots of tropical vegetables) were used as insecticides. The first synthetic organic pesticides were organochlorine compounds such as dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT), invented by Paul Muller in 1939 and considered as a brilliant invention at that time (Metcalf, 1995). The period between 1940's and 1950's ushered the 'pesticide era' experiencing 50-fold increase in pesticide usage. DDT and other organochlorine insecticides like aldrin, chlordane, endrin, dieldrin, diclofor, heptachlor, and lindane were used for many years to control mosquitoes along with broad spectrum insecticide to control insect pests that damaged foods and crops. Because of their persistency and susceptibility to bio-magnification these insecticides were subsequently banned in most of the countries (Munnecke, 1979; Alexander, 1981). Later these organochlorine pesticides were replaced by less

persistent organophosphates (Graetz et al., 1970; McEwens and Stephenson, 1979; Rosenberg and Alexander, 1979).

1.1 Organophosphate compounds

The term 'organophosphate' (OP) is the general term given to esters or thiols derived from phosphoric, phosphonic or phosphoramidic acid (Sogorb and Vilanova, 2002). The OP compounds were recognized as a diverse class of compounds as early as in 1854. However, the insecticidal properties of OP compounds were appreciated only in the 1930's mainly due to the pioneering work of Gerhard Schrader, a German chemist working in Bayer Company (IG Farben). This discovery lead to the synthesis of the first OP insecticide tetraethyl pyrophosphate (TEPP) and that of an extensively used OP compound, parathion (*O*, *O*-dimethyl-*O*-*p*-nitrophenyl phosphorothioate). Since then, thousands of OP compounds have been synthesized for use as insecticides, nerve agents, solvents, plasticizers etc (Graetz et al., 1970; Rosenberg and Alexander, 1979; Marquis, 1986; Minton and Murray, 1988; Aspelin, 1994).

a. Chemistry and Toxicology of Organophosphate Compounds

Most organophosphorus compounds are ester or thiol derivatives of phosphoric, phosphonic or phosphoramidic acid. Their general formula is presented in Fig. 1.1 R₁ and R₂ are mainly the aryl or alkyl groups, which can be directly attached to a phosphorus atom (phosphinates) or via oxygen (phosphates) or a sulphur atom (phosphothioates). In some cases, R₁ is directly bonded with phosphorus and R₂ with an oxygen or sulfur atom (phosphonates or thion phosphonates, respectively). At least one of these two groups is attached with uni-, mono- or di-substituted amino groups in phosphoramidates. The X group can be diverse and may belong to a wide range of

aliphatic, aromatic, heterocyclic or halide groups. The X group is also known as a leaving group because it is released from phosphorus on hydrolysis of the ester bond (Sogorb & Vilanova, 2002).





Globally, organophosphate pesticide usage accounts for approximately 38% of total pesticides. In the USA alone over 40 million kilos of OP's are applied annually (EPA, 2004). Some of the widely used pesticides around the world are parathion, methyl parathion, chlorpyrifos, acephate, coumaphos, monocrotophos etc., and all of them are used for the control of various insect pests (Fig.1.2).



Fig.1.2. Chemical structures of commonly used organophosphorus pesticides.

These pesticides are highly neurotoxic and exclusively inhibit the acetylcholinesterase activity causing serious problems to non-target organisms including the humans (Gaines, 1969; Eto, 1974; Green et al., 1977; Cremlyn et al., 1978; Ashani et al., 1991). It is noteworthy that OP compounds, due to their anticholinesterase activity are also used as chemical warfare agents. Sarin, Soman and Tabun are few examples of nerve agents which were produced on large scale during the Second World War (Fig.1.3).



Fig.1.3. Chemical Structures of Nerve gases that belongs to organophosphate group.

The mode of action of organophosphorus compounds includes inhibition of ester-splitting enzymes in living organisms. They are particularly effective against acetylcholine esterase, which hydrolyzes acetylcholine generated in myoneural junctions during the transmission of motor commands. Acetylcholine is required for the transmission of nerve impulses in the brain, skeletal muscles and other areas (Toole & Toole, 1995). However, after the transmission of the impulse, acetylcholine must be hydrolyzed to avoid over-stimulation of the nervous system. The breakdown of acetylcholine is catalyzed by an enzyme called acetylcholine esterase which converts acetylcholine into choline and acetyl CoA by binding the substrate at its active site at serine 203 to form an enzyme substrate complex (Somani, 1992). Further reactions involve release of choline from the complex and subsequent, rapid reaction of acylated enzymes with water to produce acetic acid. It has been estimated that one

enzyme can hydrolyze 300,000 molecules of acetylcholine every minute (Ragnarsdottir, 2000). Organophosphorus compounds inhibit the normal activity of the acetylcholine esterase by establishing covalent bonding to the enzyme, thereby changing its structure and function. They bind to the serine residue present in active site of acetylcholine esterase enzyme. Binding of op compounds to acetylcholinesterase brings phosphorylation of the enzyme and this phosphorylated enzyme is unable to function as an effective catalyst for the hydrolysis of acetylcholine (Raushel, 2002). The regeneration of acetylcholine esterase enzyme is very slow and may take hours or days, resulting in the accumulation of acetylcholine at the synapses. Nerves are then over stimulated (Manahan, 1992), leading to convulsion, paralysis and finally death for insects and mammals (Ragnarsdottir, 2000) (Fig.1.4).



Fig.1.4. Panel A. Acetylcholinesterase (AchE) mediated hydrolysis of acetylcholine. Panel B. Mechanism of inhibition of acetylcholinesterase (AchE) by organophosphates.

b. Organophosphorus pesticides as environmental pollutants and its health hazards

Though organophosphate pesticides are less persistent, their continuous and extensive use has led to contamination of several ecosystems in different parts of the world. Even traces of pesticides residues are seen in rain, fog and snow due to successive cycles of volatilization and condensation (Rice, 1996; Dubus et al., 2000). Several organophosphorus compounds are used on animals for the control of body pests. As several of them are fat soluble and can thus enter the body readily through the skin and potentially find their way into meat and milk as well (MAFF/HSE, 1995). Contamination of grains, vegetables and fruits with organophosphorus compounds is also well documented (Pesticide Trust 1996; National Consumer Council 1998). Another potential and more dangerous source of organophosphorus contamination arises from their use as chemical warfare agents. It is estimated that about 200,000 tons of extremely toxic organophosphorus chemical warfare agents such as Sarin, Soman, and VX were manufactured and are stored. As required by the Chemical Weapon Convention (CWC) 1993, these stocks must be destroyed by the member states (Singh, 2008).

The prolonged use of these pesticides has resulted to its chronic poisoning. The classic example of the pesticide poisoning is mercury poisoning reported in Japan and parathion poisoning in Missisipi of the United States of America (Clarion-Ledger, a Mississippi News Paper, November, 1996). It is estimated that OP pesticides cause around 3 million poisonings and 200,000 human deaths annually, mostly in developing countries (Karalliedde and Senanayake, 1999). This problem is mainly

due to the toxicity of the pesticides which were used by farmers, who do not wear appropriate protective clothing due to inadequate knowledge on pesticide poisoning. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) reports annually about 3000 to 5000 cases of acute pesticide poisoning in USA annually. Hence the toxicity of pesticides is observed not only in developing countries but also in developed countries (Steenland, 1995).

It has been estimated that of the total quantity of pesticides used, less than 1% is utilized by plants while the remaining 99% goes directly into soil, indirectly affecting biota and food chain, leading to pollution of the environment (Thomson and Abbot 1966; Pimentel and Leviton, 1986). Apart from that, pollution of the environment also arises due to accidents in transportation or in manufacturing (Munnecke, 1979a; Kearney et al., 1987; Copella et al., 1990; Smith et al., 1992).

In India, the first report of poisoning due to pesticides was from Kerala in 1958, where over 100 people died after consuming wheat flour contaminated with parathion (Karunakaran, 1958). According to report of Central Bureau of Investigation, Government of India, as many as 4536 persons died while handling poisonous substances. A sizable number of men, women and children especially from agricultural families of Handigodu village, Malanadu district, Karnataka, as well as from cluster of villages surrounding Sagar in Shimoga district have been attacked by horrible bone disease. This disease which typically crippled the affected people is named after the village as Handigodu syndrome. Scientific investigations conducted in this regard have revealed that consumption of fish and crabs caught in paddy fields that were intensely sprayed with pesticides of high toxicity (notably parathion and

endrin) was responsible for this disease (Bhat and Krishnamachari, 1977). In 2007, Center for Science and Environment (CSE) reported the presence of pesticides in soft drinks. Of the reported pesticides, two of them belong to OP class of compounds (Malathion and Chlorpyriphos). Related investigations revealed that the water was used for manufacturing these soft drinks are contaminated by pesticides (cseindia.org). Long term, low-level exposure to a pesticide, rotenone (widely used in horticulture) is suspected to be a cause of Parkinson's disease in humans (Giasson and Lee, 2000). Recently it is shown that the reason for illness of Gulf War Veterans is mainly due to their exposure to acetylcholinesterase inhibitors like toxic nerve agents and organophosphorus compounds (Golomb, 2008).

Increased use of pesticides has led to the entry of these chemicals into the environment and has contaminated soils, waters, dairy products and other food commodities (Caldwell and Raushel, 1991). This has caused an environmental concern for the mankind since many of the pesticides used have been found to be highly toxic; thus indiscriminate dumping of chemical wastes needs immediate attention.

The Government of India has taken steps to ensure the safe use of pesticides. The Insecticide Act, promulgated in 1968 and enforced on 1st August ,1971 envisages to regulate the import, manufacture, sale , transport, distribution and use of insecticides with a view to prevent risks to human beings or animals and for matters connected therewith (The Insecticide Act,1968).

9

1.2. Microorganisms and Biodegradation

The toxicity of insecticides has come into light for the first time through the book "Silent spring" written by Rachel Carson that has drawn attention of general public and various governmental agencies about the toxic effects of pesticides on humans. Since then, numerous programmes have concentrated on the proper disposal of pesticides without any toxic effects to environment.

The fate of pesticides applied is dependent on various abiotic and biotic factors. The abiotic factors include physical and chemical factors acting independently or in combination. In general practice the detoxification of pesticides was done by physical and chemical methods which include landfills and incineration. Landfills function adequately in the short term but it leads to leaching of pesticides into surrounding soil and ground water. Incineration, a method for the detoxification of pesticides, though approved by the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), has met with serious public opposition because of the toxic emissions and high costs involved; incineration requires large amounts of energy to reach high temperatures that are needed to destroy pesticides.

The biotic factors that are known to reduce the toxicity of pesticides include plants, fungi, bacteria etc. It is well documented that bacteria exhibit versatility in degrading pesticides and are very well known for detoxification of xenobiotics. Fungi and yeasts are the minor components of this biodegradation process. Compared to the disadvantage of conventional methods for decontamination of pesticides, bioremediation using microorganisms has been considered as a potentially convenient, effective, low-cost, and environmentally friendly method. Microbial

degradation of toxic compounds offers a promising strategy by which many toxic wastes may be economically and safely detoxified.

Biodegradation is the term used to describe the process of using microorganisms to degrade or remove toxic components from the environment (Glazer and Nikaido, 1995). Biodegradation is a form of biotransformation that mainly converts the toxic parent compound to products of less toxicity. Biodegradation has distinct advantages over physicochemical methods as it can be cost-effective and achieve the complete degradation of toxic compounds without destruction of the site material or associated indigenous flora and fauna (Timmis and Pieper, 1999). Most of the pesticides applied, regardless of the site or purpose of application, enter the environment either in its original or modified form (Hill and Wright, 1978; Pimentel and Leviton, 1986).

Of the various genera of bacteria, *Pseudomonads* are shown to be versatile for the degradation of xenobiotics. Due to the presence of an array of enzymes, pathways and control mechanisms they have occupied a unique status in the degradation of xenobiotics. They catalyze different chemical reactions such as oxidation, hydroxylation, hydrolysis, dehalogenation, dealkylation, nitro group reduction and aromatic ring cleavage. The ability of microbes in degradation has been widely reviewed in the literature (Dagley, 1975; Alexander, 1985; Lal, 1983; Tiedje et al., 1987; Reinecke and Knackman, 1988; Chaudhry and Chapalamadugu, 1991; Cork and Krueger, 1991; Mohn and Tiedje, 1992; Deo et al., 1994; Moorman, 1994; Singh et al., 1999).

11

Several bacterial strains that are involved in degradation of different classes of pesticides have been isolated from different geographical regions. Most of the microorganisms responsible for detoxification of the toxic compounds belong to the genera Flavobacterium, Pseudomonas, Alcaligenes, Arthrobacter and Agrobacterium. In particular, some strains of *Pseudomonas* have been reported to degrade a large number of organic chemicals. For example, strains of Pseudomonas sp. and Klebsiella pneumoniae have been shown to possess hydrolase enzymes that are capable of breaking down s-triazine herbicides, such as atrazine. Strains of *Alcaligenes* possess several enzymes like oxygenases, hydroxylases, and isomerases that are involved in the degradation of herbicide 2, 4 - D (2, 4 – dichlorophenoxyaceticacid) (Tiedje et al., 1964; Don et al., 1985). A few strains of Pseudomonas have shown the ability to degrade 2, 4, 5–T (2, 4, 5 – Tichlorophenoxyaceticacid) which is poorly biodegradable as compared to 2, 4 – D (Karns et al., 1983; Karns et al., 1984). Several microorganisms are known to degrade organochlorine pesticides like DDT [1, 1–bis (4 – chlorophenyl)-2, 2, 2-trichloro ethane], both aerobically and anaerobically. Major chemical reactions in microbial degradation of organochlorine pesticides include dechlorination, dehydrochlorination, oxidation and isomerization (Lal and Saxena, 1982). Under anaerobic conditions, strains like Aerobacter aerogenes, Pseudomonas *fluorescens* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* dechlorinated DDT to DDE, an important step in degradation of DDT (Wedemeyer, 1966). Aerobic degradation of DDT via 4chlorobenzoic acid (4-CBA) was reported in Alcaligenes eutrophus A5 (Nandeau et al., 1994).

Apart from bacterial strains, few fungal strains also exhibit predominant ability to eliminate toxic environmental pollutants. Mainly fungal strains belonging to

Phanerochaete, *Aspergillus*, *Trichoderma*, *Rhizopus* and *Penicillium* genus have the demonstrated ability to eliminate different groups of pesticides like organochlorines, carbamates and organophosphates. The white - rot fungi *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* possess enzymes that not only enable them to degrade lignin and cellulose, but also to degrade many recalcitrant chemicals including halogenated-phenol ring-containing compounds, such as pentachlorophenol (wood preservative), which is a persistent pollutant in industrial wastes emanating from paper and leather tanning industry (Evans and Bucke, 1998).

Both bacteria and fungi can degrade OP pesticides through hydrolytic cleavage, and pyrethroids (e.g. permethrin) through cleavage of the ester bonds. With the exception of dithio-carbamates, microbial degradation of all types of carbamate pesticides has also been demonstrated; for example, a rapid hydrolysis of carbaryl has been reported due to presence of the esterase enzyme in *Pseudomonas* sp. (Mulbry and Kearney, 1991).

a. Biodegradation of Organophosphorus pesticides

Organophosphate pesticides are comparatively less persistent in the environment, but possess high mammalian toxicity (Singh and Singh, 1997; Singh and Gautam, 1997). Due to acute toxicity, they adversely affect soil biotic factors and other soil properties, and also harm non-target organisms (Kaplainis et al., 1959; Knapp, 1962; Nacemann, 1970; Zakrevsky and Mallet, 1975). The action of microbial communities, either individually or in a consortium, is solely responsible for the less persistence of OP pesticides in soil. A report on biodegradation of OP pesticides became available in 1946 describing the degradation of diisopropyl fluorophosphate

(DFP), involving cleavage of the phosphorus-fluorine bond by an enzyme in animal tissues (Mazur, 1946). Since then, a number of workers have studied microbial degradation of organophosphates in plants, soils, water and animals (Beynon et al., 1973), in flooded soil and in anaerobic cultures (Sethunathan, 1973) and by soil microorganisms (Laveglia and Dahm, 1977; Munnecke, 1981; Read, 1983). Bacteria from flooded soil were found to hydrolyze selected organophosphorus insecticides (Adhya et al., 1981). Daughton and Hsieh (1977) are the first ones to report the biodegradation of OP pesticides by a consortium of defined microbial cultures. OP pesticides are either cleaved or degraded in the environment. Microbial cleavage is responsible for degradation of organophosphorus insecticides (Rosenberg and Alexander, 1979). This is the most possible reason for the lesser persistence of OP pesticides in the environment (Felsot, 1989). The susceptibility of OP compounds to microbial degradation has been reported for several insecticides such as parathion (Sethunathan and Yoshida, 1973), methyl parathion (Chaudry et al., 1988; Somara and Siddavattam, 1995; Zhongli et al., 2001; Pakala et al., 2007), glyphosate (Wacket et al., 1987; Kertesz et al., 1994a), diazinon (Sethunathan, 1971; Sethunathan and Pathak 1972), coumaphos (Mulbry, 2000; Horne et al., 2002b), isofenphos (Racke and Coats, 1987), monocrotophos (Bhadbhade et al., 2002a; Singh and Singh, 2003), chlorfevinphos (Suett et al., 1996), fenitrothion (Adhya et al., 1981; Hayatsu et al., 2000), phorate (Suett and Jukes, 1997) and the nematicides cadusafos (Karpouzas et al., 2004b), ethoprophos (Smelt et al., 1987; Karpouzas et al., 1999b), phorate (Mich and Dahm, 1970) and fenamiphos (Anderson and Lafuenza, 1992; Stirling et al., 1992; Davis et al., 1993; Singh et al., 2003; Karpouzas et al., 2004a).

14

Being esters, they have many vulnerable sites and are potentially hydrolyzable. Degradation of organophosphate pesticides is generally faster than that of organochlorines. Soil is an excellent medium for both biological and nonbiological degradation of organophosphorus pesticides. The principal reactions in soils are hydrolysis, oxidation, alkylation, and dealkylation (Singh et al., 1999). Microbial degradation through hydrolysis of *P-O*-alkyl and *P-O*-aryl bonds is considered the most significant step in the detoxification of organophosphorus compounds. Hydrolysis of organophosphorus compounds leads to a reduction in their mammalian toxicity by several orders of magnitude.

b. Parathion (*O*, *O*-diethyl-*O*-*p*-nitrophenyl phosphorothioate)

The degradation of parathion by microorganisms is well documented (Licheinstein and Schultz, 1964; Sethunathan and Yoshida, 1973; Siddaramappa et al., 1973; Munnecke et al., 1974; Daughton and Hsieh, 1977; Rosenberg and Alexander, 1979; Nelson, 1982; Serdar et al., 1982; Mulbry et al., 1986; Misra et al., 1992). The major degradation products of parathion are *p*-nitrophenol and diethyl thiophosphoric acid. (Munnecke and Hseih, 1976).

Sethunathan & Yoshida (1973) isolated the first organophosphorus degrading bacterium, *Flavobacterium* sp. that could degrade parathion and diazinon. Siddaramappa et al. (1973) isolated a *Pseudomonas* sp. that was able to hydrolyze parathion and utilize the hydrolysis product *p*-nitrophenol as a carbon or nitrogen source. Later, *P. stutzeri* was isolated, and demonstrated to hydrolyze parathion, although *p*-nitrophenol was metabolized by a separate bacterium (Daughton & Hsieh, 1977). Rosenberg & Alexander (1979) isolated two *Pseudomonas* sp. that were able

to hydrolyze a number of organophosphorus compounds including parathion, and using ionic cleavage products as a sole source of phosphorus. An *Arthrobacter* sp. isolated from parathion-treated soil was found to hydrolyze parathion and uses the pnitrophenol product as sole carbon source (Nelson, 1982). Horne et al. (2002) isolated bacterial strain *Agrobacterium radiobacter* P230 which is capable of degrading a wide variety of OP compounds. A *Pseudomonas* sp. and *Xanthomonas* sp. were isolated from a pesticide disposal site in northern Israel, both degraded parathion in two stages involving initial release of p-nitrophenol by parathion hydrolysis followed by subsequent degradation of p-nitrophenol (Tchelet et al., 1993).

According to available reports, the major degradation products of parathion are *p*-nitrophenol and diethyl thiophosphoric acid (Munnecke and Hsieh, 1976) (Fig.1.5).



Fig.1.5. Proposed pathway of parathion degradation in flooded soils by *Flavobacterium* sp. (Adhya et al, 1981).

The complete mineralization of the hydrolytic products of parathion is well documented by Munnecke and Hsieh, (1974). The hydrolytic product *p*-nitrophenol follows two different pathways for degradation to maleylacetate. Spain and Gibson (1991) proposed the formation of maleylacetate from *p*-nitrophenol via *p*-benzoquinone, hydroquinone, and γ -hydroxymuconic semialdehyde (Fig.1.6).



Fig.1.6. Proposed pathway of *p*-nitrophenol degradation by gram negative bacteria (Spain and Gibson, 1991; Prakash et al, 1996).

In the second pathway, maleylacetate was produced from *p*-nitrophenol via 4nitrocatechol, 1, 2, 4 – benzenetriol shown in an *Arthobacter* sp. and a *Bacillus* sp. (Jain et al., 1994; Kadiyala and Spain, 1998) (Fig.1.7).



Fig.1.7. Proposed pathway of *p*-nitrophenol degradation by gram positive bacteria (Hanne et al, 1993; Jain et al, 1994; Kadiyala and Spain, 1998).

Alternative metabolic pathways have also been reported for parathion. Munnecke and Hsieh (1976) reported a secondary metabolic pathway of parathion, which involved the oxidation of parathion to paraoxon that was further hydrolyzed to *p*-nitrophenol and diethylphosphoric acid. In some other microorganisms, parathion is reduced to aminoparathion (Yasuno et al., 1965; Mick and Dahm, 1970).

Some microbes that are reported to degrade parathion are Chlorella pyrenoidosa, Trichoderma viride, Rhizobium japonicum, Rhizobium meliloti, Penicillium waksmanii, Bacillus subtilis, Pseudomonas sp., Corynebacterium simplex, mixed cultures with at least nine different bacterial isolates (Pseudomonas sp.,

Brevibacterium sp., Azotomonas sp., Xanthomonas sp.), Flavobacterium sp.,
(Zuckerman et al., 1970;Yasuno et al., 1965; Hirakoso, 1969; Sethunathan, 1973; Rao and Sethunathan, 1974; Siddaramappa et al., 1973; Munnecke and Hseih, 1976; Brown, 1980; Adhya et al., 1981; Serdar et al., 1985; Mulbry et al., 1989),
Agrobacterium radiobacter P230 (Horne et al., 2002), Flavobacterium balustinum (Somara and Siddavatam, 1995), Plesiomonas sp. (Zhongli et al., 2001) Pseudomonas diminuta (Serdar et al., 1982), Pseudomonas putida (Rani and Lalitha kumari, 1994).

However, detailed investigations were carried out on the activities of only two bacterial isolates viz., *Flavobacterium* sp. strain ATCC 27551 and *Pseudomonas diminuta* MG. *Flavobacterium* sp. was isolated from the rice fields of International Rice Research Institute (IRRI), Philippines whereas *Pseudomonas diminuta* was isolated from the agricultural fields of Texas, USA through enrichment cultures using parathion as sole source of carbon (Sethunathan et al., 1973; Serdar et al., 1982).

c. Methyl parathion (*O*, *O*-dimethyl-*O*-*p*-nitrophenyl phosphorothioate)

As compared to parathion degradation, reports on methyl parathion degradation by various microbial communities are limited. Methyl and ethyl parathion have identical chemical structures except for the ethyl groups of the P chain of parathion, which are replaced by methyl groups. Miyamoto et al. (1966) observed the degradation of methyl parathion and fenitrothion by a *Bacillus subtilis*. Reports on methyl parathion degradation include isolation of *Flavobacterium balustinum* that utilizes methyl parathion as sole source of carbon (Somara & Siddavattam, 1995). In this bacterium, the organophosphorus degrading (*opd*) gene was found to be linked with a novel gene involved in degradation of *p*-nitrophenol (Siddavattam et al., 2003).

A *Pseudomonas* sp. was isolated that can co-metabolically degrade methyl parathion (Chaudry et al., 1988). A *Bacillus* sp. was reported to degrade methyl parathion by hydrolysis as well as reduction of the nitro group (Sharmila et al., 1989). Ou and Sharma (1989) isolated another Bacillus strain that utilized methyl parathion as a carbon and energy source. Misra et al. (1992) reported the isolation of two bacterial isolates which rapidly hydrolyzed methyl parathion, parathion and fenitrothion. Degradation of methyl parathion and utilization of its degradation product pnitrophenol as a source of energy was reported in *Pseudomonas putida* (Rani and Lalithakumari, 1994). A *Pseudomonas* sp. that degrades methyl parathion in soil and on sodium alginate beads was reported (Ramanathan & Lalithakumari, 1996). Hayatsu et al. (2000) isolated Burkholderia sp. NF100 which utilized both fenitrothion and methyl parathion as carbon sources. In a study, a Burkholderia cepacia was isolated from a methyl parathion treated site which utilized methyl parathion and *p*-nitrophenol as sole sources of carbon (Keprasertsup et al., 2001). Zhongli et al (2001) reported a *Plesiomonas* sp. strain M6 that degrades methyl parathion by means of a novel methyl parathion degrading gene. This isolate also utilizes *p*-nitrophenol and other aromatic compounds as a sole source of carbon (Zhongli et al., 2002). Another strain of Pseudomonas sp. WBC capable of complete degradation of methyl parathion that utilizes it as sole source of carbon and nitrogen was reported (Yali et al., 2002). The hydrolysis product of methyl parathion is also pnitrophenol. The proposed pathway of methyl degradation is presented in Fig.1.8.



Fig.1.8. Proposed pathway of methyl parathion degradation by *Pseudomonas putida* (Rani and Lalithakumari, 1994).

d. The role of bacterial enzymes in detoxification of organophosphates

Over billions of years bacteria have perfected the skills of using various compounds for their survival. To survive and succeed in hostile environments, bacteria have evolved various catalytic mechanisms. These mechanisms serve as a store for the evolution of more efficient enzymes (Butler and Mason 1997; Ellis 2000). Of the various catalytic enzymes that are available to bacteria, the class of hydrolases plays an important role in the degradation of OP pesticides. The OP hydrolyzing enzymes are known variously as organophosphorous acid anhydrases (OPA), phosphotriesterases (PTE), organophosphorous triesterases, parathion hydrolases (PH), paraoxonases, somanases or organophosphate hydrolases (OPH)

depending on the substrate used while assaying the enzyme activity (Brown, 1980; Hoskin et al., 1982, Cheng et al., 1993; DeFrank and Cheng, 1991; Abd-Alla, 1994).

e. Organophosphorus hydrolase (OPH), a remarkable enzyme for detoxification of organophosphorus compounds

Organophosphorus hydrolase (OPH) has been isolated from several bacteria (Serdar et al., 1982; Mulbry & Karns, 1989a; Singh et al., 1999). Among them the organophosphorus hydrolase from *Pseudomonas diminuta* and *Flavobacterium* are well studied. The ability of OPH to hydrolyze various OP pesticides has been described in detail (Efremenko and Sergeeva, 2001; Singh, 2008). This enzyme hydrolyzes the compounds that are structurally related to parathion exhibiting broad temperature range, pH optima and high stability (Brown, 1980; Donarski et al., 1988; Dumas et al., 1989). Several structurally discrete enzymes that hydrolyze OP pesticides have been purified and characterized (De Frank and Cheng, 1991; Mulbry and Karns, 1989). However, only the enzymes from *Flavobacterium* sp. strain ATCC 27551 and *Pseudomonas diminuta* MG are worth mentioning since they are studied in more detail because of their broad substrate range and high K_{cat} values (Dumas et al., 1989; Hong and Raushel, 1996).

The gene that encodes the active OPH from *Pseudomonas* and *Flavobacterium* is *opd*, (*opd*, for organophosphate-degrading) which is localized on large indigenous plasmids in both cases (Serdar et al., 1982; Mulbry et al., 1986). The *opd* gene was first isolated and sequenced from *P. diminuta* and reported to be present on a 66 kb plasmid, pCMS1 (Serdar et al., 1982). The *opd* gene isolated from *Flavobacterium* sp. ATCC25 was also located on a plasmid, pPDL2 (Mulbry et al., 1987). The *opd* gene

sequences obtained from these two sources were found to be identical (Harper et al., 1988).

OPH hydrolyzes wide range of OP compounds, which include parathion, methyl parathion and fensulfothion, among many others (Dumas et al., 1989) and OP chemical warfare agents (CWA) (Dumas et al., 1990). OPH is a homodimer metalloprotein with a molecular weight of ~72 kDa (Bening et al., 1994). It is a member of the amidohydrolase superfamily (Holm and Sander, 1997) and consists of two identical subunits containing 336 amino acids. High-resolution X-ray structure analysis showed that OPH protein folds into an $(\alpha\beta)_8$ - barrel motif with the active site located at the carboxy-terminal end of the central β -sheet core (Bening et al, 2001) (Fig.1.9).



Fig.1.9. Ribbon diagram for the structure of the bacterial phosphotriesterase (Bening et al., 2001).

The active site of OPH contains two zinc ions per subunit. OPH has a wide range of substrate specificities and was demonstrated to catalyze hydrolysis of P–O,

P–F, P–CN and P–S bonds to different extents. It has the highest activity against the P–O linkage (with Kcat/Km value of 5.5 x 10⁻⁷ mol⁻¹L s⁻¹ for paraoxon) and least specificity for the P–S bond (with Kcat/Km value of 6.8 x 10⁻² mol⁻¹L s⁻¹ for VX) (Efremenko and Sergeeva, 2001). OPH requires zinc for its activity and it has been demonstrated that replacement of zinc ions with other divalent metals such as cobalt, cadmium, copper, iron, manganese and nickel had effects on its catalytic activity. Enzymatic activity of Co²⁺ - reconstituted OPH has the greatest activity against paraoxon (Omburo et al., 1992). The hydrolysis of OP compounds proceeds via S_N2 reaction (Lewis et al., 1988). The *opd* gene from *Pseudomonas* has been sub-cloned into a variety of expression vectors, to achieve OPH expression in hosts including *Escherichia coli* (Serdar et al., 1989), *Streptomyces* (Steiert et al., 1989) and insect cells (Dumas et al., 1990), among others.

The OP hydrolyzing *Agrobacterium radiobacter* P230, isolated in Australia (Horne et al., 2002a) has been subject of intense research in recent times. Studies pertaining to the genetics and biochemistry of OP degradation have led to the identification of novel organophosphate degrading gene designated as *opdA*. Though similarities between *opd* and *opdA* are noticeable, there exist critical differences in the primer sequence of the gene which justify its nomenclature as *opdA*. The product of *opdA*, despite of showing similar mechanism of catalysis like that of OPH, due to minor differences in sequence, the OPDA effectively degraded fenthion and phosmet for which OPH, the product of *opd* gene has no activity (Horne et al., 2002a) Based on obvious sequence similarities and overlapping catalytic principles between *opd* and *opdA*, and the *opdA* has been shown to be evolved more recently than *opd* (Horne et al., 2003).

24

1.3. Engineering of microorganisms for detoxification of toxic environmental pollutants

Metabolic engineering can be defined as purposeful modification of cellular metabolism using recombinant DNA technology and other molecular biological techniques (Bailey, 1991). Advances in genetic and protein engineering techniques have opened up new avenues to move towards the goal of genetically engineered microorganisms (GEMs) to function as biocatalysts in which certain desirable biodegradation pathways or enzymes from different organisms are brought together in a single host with the aim of performing specific reactions. The development of novel organisms for use in biodegradation has been a key challenge throughout this period. In particular, the growing understanding of the genetic and biochemical basis of the metabolism of xenobiotic compounds holds considerable potential for the development of recombinant microorganisms useful for the bioremediation of environmental pollution caused by urban and industrial activities (van der Meer et al., 1992; Timmis et al., 1994; Knackmuss, 1996; Reineke, 1998).

Many scientific groups have developed genetically engineered microorganisms by introducing novel genes responsible for degradation of many organophosphates. For example Zhi Liu et al., (2006) constructed a genetically engineered microorganism that degrades both organophosphates and carbamates. Methyl parathion degrading (*mpd*) gene from *Pseudomonas putida* DLL-1was cloned into a broad host vector pBBR1MCS-2 to produce a recombinant plasmid pBBR-*mpd* that was later transformed into carbofuran degrading *Sphingomonas* sp. CDS-1. This genetically engineered microorganism (GEM) has shown degradation of both methyl

25

parathion and carbofuran and thus appears to be a promising GEM candidate for environmental bioremediation. In a similar manner, a number of attempts have been made to manipulate natural isolates to impart genetic ability needed to degrade simultaneously on wide range of pesticides and herbicides (Shao et al., 1995b, Lan et al., 2006) and to completely mineralize parathion (Walker and Keasling, 2002, Mattozzi et al., 2006).

1.4. Catalytic properties of OPH

As stated before organophosphorus hydrolase (OPH) hydrolyzes triester linkage found in wide range of op compounds. For example OPH can successfully hydrolyze P-O, P-F, P-C and P-S bonds that are found in prominent op compounds like paraoxon, parathion, methyl parathion, coumaphos, diazinon, acephate demeton-S, phosalone and fensulfothion (Dumas et al., 1989; Efremenko and Sergeeva, 2001). In addition to the aforementioned insecticides, OPH also possess the ability to hydrolyze the nerve agents DFP, sarin, soman, and VX (Dumas et al., 1990b; Kolakowski et al., 1997; Efremenko and Sergeeva, 2001). Though natural substrate for OPH remains unknown, the purified enzyme hydrolyzes the insecticide paraoxon, at rate that approaches the diffusion-controlled limit (Efremenko and Sergeeva, 2001). However the catalytic efficiency of OPH goes down when other class of organophosphates are used as assay substrates. The kinetic properties of OPH with various op compounds are presented in table 1.0. It the table is examined acephate, the predominant insecticide serves as poor substrate. High Km value and poor turnover number (shown in **bold** case in table 1.0) indicates acephate as one of the most resistant organophosphate for OPH hydrolysis.
Substrate	Bond Type	k_{cat} (s ⁻¹)	K_m (mM)	$k_{cat}/K_m \ (M^{-1} \ s^{-1})$
Paraoxon	P-O	3170	0.058	5.5 X 10 ⁷
Parathion	P-O	630	0.24	2.6×10^6
Methyl parathion	P-O	189	0.08	2.4×10^{6}
Coumaphos	P-O	610	0.39	1.6×10^{6}
Diazinon	P-O	176	0.45	3.9 X 10 ⁵
Fensulfothion	P-O	67	0.46	1.5 X 10 ⁵
DFP	P-F	465	0.048	9.7 X 10 ⁶
Sarin	P-F	56	0.7	80×10^3
Soman	P-F	5	0.5	10×10^{3}
Acephate	P-S	2.8	160	18
Demeton – S	P-S	1.3	0.78	1.6×10^3
Phosalone	P-S	0.63	0.26	2.4×10^3

Table 1.1 Kinetic constants for the hydrolysis of organophosphorus insecticides.

(Dumas et al., 1989; Lai et al., 1995; Efremenko and Sergeeva, 2001).

1.5. Hypothesis

Perusal of available literature on biodegradation of op compounds highlights the necessity of isolating acephate mineralizing bacterial strain. If such isolate doesn't possess innate ability to degrade op compounds other than acephate, its manipulation by expressing OPH is expected to generate a "super bug", which would be capable of degrading wide range of op compounds, besides thriving on acephate.

a. Definition of the problem

Isolation and characterization of acephate degrading bacterium from activated sludge and its genetic manipulation to improve degradation range and efficiency.

1.6. Brief description of work done in the study

The present study describes isolation, taxonomic characterization of acephate mineralizing bacterium isolated from activated sludge collected from pesticide manufacturing unit. This strain identified as *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* hydrolyzed the amide linkage found in acephate generating acetic acid and methamidophos. Methamidophos is further metabolized to serve as source of carbon and nitrogen. A tentative pathway followed in mineralization of acephate is elucidated based on the identification of metabolites using mass spectrometry. Further, OPH is expressed in *P. jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* to target inner membrane and cytoplasm. This manipulated strain when tested successfully degraded wide range of op compounds.

Materials & Methods

2.1. Materials

2.1.1. Antibiotics

Name of the antibiotic	Name of the Supplier
Ampicillin sodium salt	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, UK
Kanamycin Sulfate	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, UK
Tetracycline hydrochloride	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, UK
Chloramphenicol	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, UK
Streptomycin	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, UK
Gentamycin	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, UK
Spectinomycin	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, UK

2.1.2 Biochemicals

Name of the Chemical	Name of the Supplier
Acrylamide	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech,UK
Acephate	Rallis India Limited, Hyderabad
Ammonium persulphate	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech,UK
Ammonium nitrate	Qualigens
Bovine serum albumin	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, UK
Bromophenol blue	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech,UK
Butanol	Qualigens
Calcium chloride	Qualigens

Calcium nitrate	Qualigens
Chloroform	Qualigens
Coomassie Brilliant blue R	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech,UK
Cobalt chloride	SRL
α-cyano-4-hydroxycinnamic acid	Sigma Aldrich
Deoxynucleotide triphosphates	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech,UK
Dipotassium hydrogen orthophosphate	Merck
N,N□-Dimethylformamide	SRL
Ethidium bromide	SRL
Ethylenediaminotetraacetic acid disodium salt (EDTA)	SRL
Ethyl acetate	SRL
Ferrous Sulphate	Qualigens
Glucose	Qualigens
Glycerol	Qualigens
Glycine	SRL
Hydrochloric acid	Qualigens
Isopropanol	SRL
Isopropyl thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG)	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, UK
Lysozyme	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, UK
Magnesium chloride	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, UK
Magnesium sulphate	SRL

Methanol	SRL
N,N'-Methylene bis acrylamide	SRL
β-mercaptoethanol	Sigma Aldrich
α-napthylamine	SRL
Phenol Saturated	Bangalore GeneI
Phosphoric acid	Merck
Potassium chloride	Qualigens
Potassium dihydrogen ortho phosphate	Merck
Sodium citrate	SRL
Sodium chloride	SRL
Sodium dodecyl sulfate	SRL
Sodium hydroxide	SRL
Sodium Sulphate	Merck
Sulphanilamide	Merck
Sucrose	SRL
RNase A	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, UK
Tetra ethyl methylene diamine (TEMED)	Sigma
Tris	SRL
Tryptone	Himedia
X-gal	Amersham Pharmacia
Xylene cyanol	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, UK

Yeast extract	Himedia
Zinc chloride	SRL
Trifluoroacetic acid	Sigma Aldrich
Monocrotophos	Rallis India Limited, Hyderabad
Phosalone	Rallis India Limited, Hyderabad
Ethion	Rallis India Limited, Hyderabad
Methyl parathion	Rallis India Limited, Hyderabad
Methamidophos	Sigma Aldrich

2.1.3. Restriction and other enzymes

Name of the enzyme	Name of the Supplier
BamHI	MBI, Fermentas
DraI	MBI, Fermentas
EcoRI	MBI, Fermentas
SmaI	MBI, Fermentas
T ₄ DNA Ligase	MBI, Fermentas
Taq DNA polymerase	MBI, Fermentas

2.2. Bacterial strains

Name of the strain	Genotype / phenotype	Source
<i>E. coli</i> DH5α	supE44 🖾 acU169 (🖾 80 lacZ 🖾 M15) hsdR17 recA1 endA1 gyrA96 thi1 relA1	Hanahan, 1983.
<i>E. coli</i> S17-1	thi pro hsdR hsdM recA RP4 2-Tc::Mu- Km ^r ::Tn7 (Tp ^r , Sp ^r , Sm ^r)	Simon et al., 1983.
<i>Pseudomonas jinjuensis</i> biotype acephalyticus	Cm ^r , Amp ^r , Km ^s	This work

2.3. Plasmids

Plasmid	Relevant Genotype	Reference	
pSS15	Amp ^r , 1.5 kb DNA fragment containing complete <i>opd</i> gene of <i>Flavobacterium balustinum</i> cloned in pUC18 vector	Siddavattam et al., 2006.	
pHYS400	Amp ^r , complete <i>opd</i> gene encoding preOPH cloned in pET23b as <i>Nde</i> I - <i>Xho</i> I fragment	Siddavattam et al., 2006.	
pHNS400	Amp ^r , <i>opd</i> sequence encoding mature OPH cloned in pET23b as <i>Nde</i> I - <i>Xho</i> I fragment	Pandey et al., 2009.	
pMMB206	Cm ^r , broad-host-range low-copy- number mobilizable expression vector	Morales et al., 1991.	
рММВКМ	Km ^r , Kanamycin cassette cloned into pMMB206 vector by replacing the chloramphenicol resistance gene.	This work	

pMMBKMOPD	Km ^r , <i>opd</i> gene cloned with its native promoter as <i>Bam</i> HI fragment into pMMBKM expression vector	This work
pHLCKMOPD	Km ^r , <i>opd</i> gene cloned with signal sequence as <i>Eco</i> RI and <i>Bam</i> HI fragment into pMMBKM expression vector	This work
pHNSKMOPD	Km ^r , <i>opd</i> gene cloned without signal sequence as <i>Eco</i> RI and <i>Bam</i> HI fragment into pMMBKM expression vector	This work

2.4. Preparation of stock, working solutions and buffers

Acephate (*O*, *S* – dimethyl acetyl phosphoramidothioicacid)

Technical grade acephate (97% pure), procured from pesticide manufacturing company, Rallis India Limited, Patancheru, Hyderabad, and kept in a specially designed container before storing in a refrigerator. When necessary the container having acephate was taken to a fume cupboard to make 1M acephate stock solution. Initially acephate taken in a clean screw cap tube was weighed and dissolved in adequate amounts of milli Q water to get 1M solution. The contents were filter sterilized before storing them in aliquots of 500 μ l. When necessary 500 μ l of 1M acephate is used to supplement 50 ml of mineral salts medium to get 10 mM of acephate as carbon/nitrogen/sulfur supplement.

Methamidophos (O, S – dimethyl phosphoramidothioicacid)

Methamidophos was procured from Sigma – Aldrich. 1M stock solution of methamidophos was prepared by dissolving 141.12 mg in 1 ml milli Q water. The filter sterilized stock solution was distributed in to 500 μ l aliquots and stored at 4^oC. When necessary an aliquot of 500 μ l is used as carbon supplement in 50ml of minimal salts medium.

Methylparathion (**MP**) (*O*, *O*-dimethyl-*O*-paranitrophenyl phosphorothioate)

Methyl parathion was procured from Sigma Aldrich in a powder form and stored in a refrigerator. A 100 mM stock solution of methyl parathion was prepared by dissolving 26.32 mg in 1 ml of methanol and stored at 4° C until further use. Whenever necessary 1 µl of stock of methyl parathion was added to 1ml of assay buffer while assaying OPH activity.

Monocrotophos

Monocrotophos (97% pure, technical grade) was procured from pesticide manufacturing company, Rallis India Limited, Patancheru, Hyderabad, and kept in a specially designed container before storing in a refrigerator. When necessary the container having monocrotophos was taken to a fume cupboard to make 1M monocrotophos stock solution. Initially monocrotophos taken in a clean screw cap tube was weighed and dissolved in adequate amounts of milli Q water to get 1M solution. The contents were filter sterilized before storing them in aliquots of 1 ml. When necessary 500 µl of 1M monocrotophos is used to supplement 50 ml of mineral salts medium to get 10 mM of monocrotophos as carbon supplement.

Ethion

Ethion (90% pure, technical grade) was procured from pesticide manufacturing company, Rallis India Limited, Patancheru, Hyderabad, and kept in a specially designed container before storing in a refrigerator. When necessary the container having ethion was taken to a fume cupboard to make 1M ethion stock solution. Initially ethion taken in a clean screw cap tube was weighed and dissolved in adequate amounts of methanol to get 1M solution. The contents were filter sterilized before storing them in aliquots of 1 ml. When necessary 500 μ l of 1M ethion is used to supplement 50 ml of mineral salts medium to get 10 mM of ethion as carbon supplement.

Phosalone

Technical grade phosalone (94%) pesticide pure), procured from manufacturing company, Rallis India Limited, Patancheru, Hyderabad, and kept in a specially designed container before storing in a refrigerator. When necessary the container having phosalone was taken to a fume cupboard to make 1M phosalone stock solution. Initially phosalone taken in a clean screw cap tube was weighed and dissolved in adequate amounts of methanol to get 1M solution. The contents were filter sterilized before storing them in aliquots of 1 ml. When necessary 500 µl of 1M phosalone is used to supplement 50 ml of mineral salts medium to get 10 mM of phosalone as carbon supplement.

Ampicillin

Ampicillin stock solution was prepared by dissolving 500 mg of ampicillin in 5 ml of milli Q water and sterilized by filtration. The sterilized solution was stored in 1 ml aliquots at -20°C. When required 1 μ l of ampicillin stock solution is added to 1 ml of medium after cooling it to 45°C to get the working concentration of 100 μ g/ml.

Chloramphenicol

Chloramphenicol stock solution was prepared by dissolving 250 mg of chloramphenicol in 10 ml of 100% ethanol and sterilized by filtration. The stock solution was stored in 1 ml aliquots at -20°C. When required 1 μ l of chloramphenicol stock solution was added to 1 ml of medium after cooling it to 45°C to get the working concentration of 30 μ g/ml.

Tetracycline

Tetracycline stock solution was prepared by dissolving 250 mg of tetracycline hydrochloride in 10 ml of 70% ethanol/water and sterilized by filtration. The stock solution was stored in 1ml aliquots at -20°C. When required 1 μ l of tetracycline stock solution was added to 1 ml of medium after cooling it to 45°C to get the working concentration of 25 μ g/ml.

Kanamycin

Stock solution of kanamycin was prepared by dissolving 250 mg of kanamycin sulfate in 10 ml of milli Q water and sterilized by filtration. The stock solution was stored in 1 ml aliquots at -20°C. When required 1 µl of kanamycin stock

solution is added to 1 ml of medium after cooling it to 45° C to get the working concentration of $25 \,\mu$ g/ml.

Gentamycin

Stock solution of gentamycin was prepared by dissolving 200 mg of gentamycin in 10 ml of milli Q water and sterilized by filtration. The stock solution was stored in 1 ml aliquots at -20°C after filter sterilization. When required 1 μ l of gentamycin stock solution is added to 1 ml of medium after cooling it to 45°C to get the working concentration of 20 μ g/ml.

Streptomycin

Stock solution of streptomycin was prepared by dissolving 200 mg of streptomycin in 10 ml of milli Q water. The stock solution was stored in 1 ml aliquots at -20°C after filter sterilization. When required 1 μ l of streptomycin stock solution was added to 1 ml of medium after cooling it to 45°C to get the working concentration of 20 μ g/ml.

Spectinomycin

Stock solution of spectinomycin was prepared by dissolving 200 mg of spectinomycin in 10 ml of milli Q water. The stock solution was stored in 1 ml aliquots at -20°C after filter sterilization. When required 1 μ l of spectinomycin stock solution is added to 1 ml of medium after cooling it to 45°C to get the working concentration of 20 μ g/ml.

IPTG

1M IPTG stock solution was prepared by dissolving 236.8 mg IPTG in 1 ml of autoclaved milli Q water and filter sterilized using 0.2 mµ Sartorius filter. The stock solution was stored in 1 ml aliquots at -20° C. When required the stock solution was thawed on ice bath and adequate amount is added to the cooled medium (45°C) to get 1-2 mM working concentrations of IPTG.

X-Gal

2% of X-gal stock solution was prepared by dissolving 20 mg of X-gal in 1 ml of N,N'-dimethyl formamide. When required $2\Box I$ of stock solution is added to each 1 ml of medium after cooling it to 45° C.

2.5. Preparation of buffers and solutions for SDS-PAGE

Acrylamide solution (30%)

100 ml acrylamide solution was prepared by dissolving 30 g acrylamide, 0.8 g N, N-methylene-bis-acrylamide in 70 ml of distilled water. The contents were then filtered and the solution was finally adjusted to 100 ml. The stock solution prepared in this manner is stored at 4°C until further use.

Staking gel buffer for SDS-PAGE

3.93 g of Tris was dissolved in 50 ml of double distilled water and the pH of the solution was adjusted to 6.8 using 1N HCl and finally the volume of the buffer was made up to 100 ml with distilled water.

Running gel buffer for SDS-PAGE

59.93gm of Tris was dissolved in 400ml of distilled water and pH of the solution was adjusted to 8.8 using 1N HCl. Finally the volume of the buffer solution was made up to 500 ml using distilled water.

Tank buffer (pH 8.5) for SDS-PAGE

3.03 g of Tris, 14.4 g of glycine and 1 g of SDS was dissolved in 500 ml of distilled water and pH of the solution was adjusted to 8.5 with 2N HCl. Finally the volume of the buffer was made up to 1000 ml. The buffer at 1X concentration contains 0.025M Tris, 0.192M glycine and 0.1% SDS.

Protein Markers

Low molecular weight markers supplied by MBI Fermentas were used. Size of the protein markers include, 116.0, 66.2, 45.0, 35.0, 25.0, 18.4 and 14.4 kDa.

Sample loading buffer for SDS-PAGE

1.2 ml of 0.5 M Tris (pH 8.0), 2 ml of 10% SDS, 1 ml of 10% glycerol, 0.5 ml of β -mercaptoethanol, 0.001 g of bromophenol blue were taken in a 10 ml reagent bottle. The contents were mixed well before the volume was made up to 10 ml and solution was stored at 4°C until further use. When necessary adequate amounts of loading buffer was used to prepare protein samples.

Staining solution

0.2 gm of coomassie brilliant blue was dissolved in 30 ml of methanol. To this 10 ml of acetic acid was added and finally the volume was made up to 100 ml

using distilled water. The contents were stored at room temperature in amber color bottle until further use.

Destaining solution

30 ml of methanol is mixed with 10 ml of glacial acetic acid before making up the volume to 100 ml using distilled water. The contents were freshly made and used once to destain the SDS-PAGE gels.

2.6. SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

The protein samples were separated for SDS-Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis following the procedures of Laemmli (1970). 12.5% running acrylamide gel solution was prepared by mixing 3.6 ml 30 % acrylamide solution, 4.5 ml running buffer (0.98 M Tris-Cl, pH, 8.8), 0.9 ml distilled water, 90 µl of 10% SDS, 4.5 µl of TEMED and 45µl of freshly prepared 10% ammonium persulphate. The solution was mixed well and degassed before adding ammonium persulphate. The contents were then poured in between two sealed glass plates containing 1.5 mm spacers to form a slab. These contents were over-layered with 0.1 ml water saturated n-butanol and allowed to polymerize for 40 minutes at room temperature. After polymerization of running gel, butanol was removed by repeated washing and the traces of water were removed by wiping with filter paper strips. The 7.5 % stacking acrylamide gel solution was prepared by taking 1.25ml of 30 % acrylamide solution, 2.5 ml of stacking gel buffer (0.325 M Tris-Cl, pH, 6.8), 1.25ml of water, 50 µl of 10% SDS, 5 µl of TEMED and 50 µl ammonium persulphate. The stacking gel solution was carefully over layered on the running gel. Immediately a comb of required size was placed to form the wells. The stacking gel was allowed to

polymerize for 30 minutes. After 30 minutes the comb was removed and the wells were washed with tank buffer (50 mM Tris-Cl, 0.384 M glycine, 0.1% SDS, pH 8.5). Protein samples were mixed with equal volumes of sample loading buffer (50 mM Tris HCl, pH 6.8, 2% SDS, 0.1% bromophenol blue, 10% glycerol, 100 mM 2-mercaptoethanol) and kept in a boiling water bath for 5 minutes. The contents were then briefly centrifuged before loading the sample into the wells. The electrophoresis was carried at 100 volts till the tracking dye reached the anode end of the gel. The gel was removed from the glass plates and the protein bands were stained with staining solution containing 0.2% W/V coomassie brilliant blue in methanol:water:acetic acid (30:60:10) for 6-8 hrs. The gel was then destained in the destaining solution containing methanol:water:aceticacid (30:60:10) for another 6-8 hrs.

2.7. Preparation of buffers for Western blotting

Protein transfer buffer

3.03 gm of Trizma-base and 14.4 gm of glycine was dissolved in 650 ml of distilled water. To this 200 ml of methanol was added and final volume was made up to 1000 ml with distilled water. The buffer was stored at 4°C until further use.

TBS-T Buffer

2.42 gm of Tris and 8 gm of sodium chloride were dissolved in 500ml of distilled water. The pH of the solution was adjusted to 7.6 using 1N HCl before adding 1ml of 0.1% Tween-20. Finally the volume of the buffer solution was made up to 1000 ml with milli Q water.

Blocking Buffer

Blocking buffer was prepared by adding 10 gm of skimmed milk powder to 10 ml of 1X Tris buffered saline with 0.1% Tween-20 and the contents were stirred well. The solution was prepared fresh before blocking the membrane.

2.8. Western blotting

Western blotting was performed using ECL+Plus western blotting detection system supplied by Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, UK. After performing SDS-PAGE, the unwanted and unused areas of the gel was removed to keep the size of the gel as minimum as possible. Left-hand corner on the top of the gel was cut to mark the orientation of the gel. Four pieces of Whatman filter paper soaked in towbin buffer (0.3M Tris-Cl pH 10.4; 20% methanol) were placed on anode graphite plate. On top of these filter papers, 2 pieces of Whatman filter paper soaked in towbin buffer were placed. The polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane (Highbond-P) was kept in methanol for 5 seconds to prewet the membrane and immediately rinsed with towbin buffer was placed on top of the membrane. On top of the gel, 2 pieces of filter papers soaked in towbin buffer were placed. Transfer of proteins onto PVDF membrane was carried out at (15 volts) constant voltage at room temperature. The process of protein transfer was continued for 45 min.

Once the transfer process was finished, membrane was stained with ponceau reagent to check the rate of proteins transfer on to PVDF membrane followed by removing the ponceau reagent by rinsing with 1X TBS-T buffer. Then the membrane was blocked with blocking reagent such as 10% skimmed milk powder in 1X TBS-T

buffer (20 mM Tris-base; 137 mM NaCl; pH 7.6). Blocking was continued for 1 hr at room temperature with constant shaking. Then the membrane was washed three times for 15 min in large volumes of 1X TBS-T buffer. Primary antibody (mouse IgG) raised against OPH or commercially procured anti-His antibodies were diluted in a ratio of 1:5000 in 1X TBS-T buffer containing 10% blocking agent and the membrane was incubated at room temperature with constant shaking for 3 hrs. After incubation the membrane was washed with 1X TBS-T three times for 15 min each wash to remove excess / unbound primary antibody. After primary antibody incubation, the membrane was incubated for 45 min at room temperature with a secondary antibody (anti-mouse IgG supplied by ECL+Plus kit, Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, UK) diluted in a ratio of 1:5000 in 1X TBS-T buffer containing 10% blocking reagent. Then the membrane was washed three times with 1X TBS-T as mentioned above and protein signals were detected by following the manufacturer's instructions.

2.9. Detection

Detection was performed using ECL+Plus kit procured from Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, UK by taking Solution A and B in a ratio of 1:40 respectively and mixed them gently in dark room. Membrane was then incubated in the reagent mix for exactly one min and dried with tissue papers to remove excess detection reagent before wrapping in a clean cling film. Then the membrane was exposed to Biomax X-ray film for 30 seconds. The film was developed by immersing it in a Kodak developer solution and fixed by transferring it to Kodak - fixer solution for 5 min. The film was then washed in water and dried before analyzing the results.

2.10. Preparation of solutions for Agarose gel electrophoresis

Tris Borate EDTA (TBE) buffer

A stock solution of 10 X TBE buffer was prepared by adding 108 g of Tris, 55 g of boric acid and 40 ml of 0.5 M EDTA (pH 8.0) to 900 ml of distilled water and dissolved properly before adjusting the volume of the contents to1000 ml with distilled water. The buffer was then stored in a container fixed with a tap. When necessary adequate volume of the stock buffer was diluted to get 1X TBE with distilled water and used for preparing agarose gels.

TE buffer

TE buffer was prepared by dissolving 121 mg of Tris and 37.2 mg of EDTA (pH 8.0) in 80 ml of distilled water. The pH of the buffer was adjusted to 8.0. Finally the volume was made up to 100 ml with distilled water to get the concentration of 10 mM Tris and 1 mM EDTA.

Sample Loading buffer (6X) for Agarose gel electrophoresis

5 mg of bromophenol blue, 25 mg of xylene cyanol and 4 g of sucrose was dissolved in few ml of distilled water and finally volume was made up to 10 ml and stored at 4°C.

2.11. Agarose gel electrophoresis

Agarose gel electrophoresis was performed by the following standard procedures described by Sambrook *et al.*, 1989. Required amount of agarose was dissolved in TBE by heating in micro oven. The solution was then cooled to 50 -

55°C and poured on a clean sterile gel tray fitted with combs. The gel was allowed to solidify at room temperature. After solidification the gel along with the gel tray was immersed in the TBE buffer poured in the electrophoretic tank. Buffer level was adjusted to cover the gel to a depth of about 1 mm. Appropriate amount of DNA samples were mixed with 4 μ l of 10 X loading buffer (0.25% bromophenol blue, 0.25% xylene cyanol, 40% sucrose) and loaded into the wells of submerged gel. Electrophoresis was carried out at 100 volts till the bromophenol blue reaches the end of the gel. The gel was then stained in staining solution (0.5 μ g/ml ethidium bromide in water) for 15 minutes and was put in destaining solution (distilled water) for 15 minutes. Then the gel was visualized under UV transilluminator and the electrophoretic mobility of DNA was recorded by taking the photograph of the gel using gel documentation system.

2.12. DNA ligation

Before ligation reaction was set, the concentration of vector and insert was measured and were then taken in a sterile eppendorf tube in 1:3 (vector : insert) reaction. One unit of T_4 DNA ligase and 2µl of 10X ligation buffer was added to the reaction tube. Finally the reaction volume was adjusted to 20µl and ligation reaction was performed at 16^oC for 18 hours. A portion of ligation mixture was taken to transform *E. coli* competent cells. The colonies obtained on selective plates were used to isolate recombinant plasmid. Presence of insert was established by restriction digestion and subsequence analysis of the generated fragments on 0.8% agarose gel.

2.13. Transformation

Preparation of competent cells

Competent cells were prepared following the procedures of Mandel and Higa, (1970) with slight modifications. *E. coli* cells required to make competent were grown in LB broth of 100 ml at 37°C with an initial inoculum of 1%. The cultures were allowed to grow till the cell density reached to 0.3-0.4 OD at 600 nm. The culture was chilled on ice for 30 minutes and centrifuged at 6000 rpm for 10 minutes to harvest the cells. The cell pellet was then suspended in 50 ml of ice cold 0.1M CaCl₂ and incubated on ice for 30 minutes. After incubation the cells were sedimented and gently resuspended in 10 ml of ice cold 100mM CaCl₂ containing 15% glycerol and stored in aliquots of 200 µl at -70°C.

Transformation

The frozen competent cells were thawed by placing them on ice bath. The ligation mixture/plasmid of interest was added and incubated on ice for 30 minutes. After 30 minutes, the cells were subjected to heat shock at 42°C for exactly 90 seconds and immediately chilled on ice for 2 min. Further, 800 μ l of LB broth was added and incubated at 37°C for 45 minutes. The cells were collected by centrifugation and resuspended in 200 μ l of LB broth before plating. When needed 60 μ l of 2% X-gal or 60 μ l of 2% IPTG was added and plated on LB agar plates containing appropriate antibiotic. The plates were then incubated at 37°C for 12 hr for colonies to appear.

Conjugation

All the three expression plasmids were mobilized into *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* by non-quantitative biparental plate mating method (Simon et al., 1983). All the *E coli* S17-1 strains carrying expression plasmids were taken as donors and *Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus* as recipient strains. Donor and recipient strains grown to mid log phase were taken in the ratio of 1:3 and plated on LB plate. The cells were allowed to grow at 30° C for 72hrs. After incubation the mating mixture was scraped into an eppendorff tube containing 1 ml of 0.9% steriled NaCl solution and suspended gently. The cell suspension was then serially diluted and the exconjugants were selected on LB agar plates containing kanamycin (25 µg/ml) and chloramphenicol (30 µg/ml) depending on the resistance marker available on plasmid. Selection on chloramphenicol and kanamycin eliminates *E. coli* donor strain and allows to grow only exconjugants of *Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus*. Presence of expression plasmid was again confirmed by performing PCR using gene specific primers.

2.14. Media and Growth Conditions

The following media were used to propagate the bacteria. All media were sterilized by autoclaving for 20 min at 15 lb/Sq. When required appropriate amounts of antibiotics of Ampicillin (100 μ g/ml), Tetracycline (25 μ g/ ml), Chloramphenicol (30 μ g/ ml), Streptomycin (20 μ g/ml), Spectinomycin (20 μ g/ml) Gentamycin (20 μ g/ml) and Kanamycin (25 μ g/ml) were added after cooling the media to 45°C.

Luria Bertani (LB) broth

The LB medium was prepared by dissolving 10 g of peptone, 5 g of yeast extract and 10 g of NaCl in 500 ml of milli Q water. The contents were stirred and finally made up to 1 liter with milli Q water. The pH of the medium was adjusted to 7.0 with 1N NaOH and then sterilized it by autoclaving. The LB agar plates were prepared by adding 2% agar to LB broth.

Minimal Medium

The minimal medium was prepared by dissolving 4.8 g of K₂HPO₄, 1.2 g of KH₂PO₄ and 1 g of NH₄NO₃ in a few ml of milli Q water and finally the volume was made up to 997.85 ml. Then the salt solution was sterilized by autoclaving for 15 minutes at 15 lb pressure. MgSO₄.7H₂O (1 g/10 ml), Fe₂(SO4)₃ (1 gm/100 ml) and Ca(NO₃)₂.4H₂O (4 gm/20 ml) were prepared separately and sterilized by autoclaving as described above. About 2 ml of MgSO₄.7H₂O, 100 µl of Ca (NO₃)₂.4H₂O and 50 µl of Fe₂ (SO4)₃ were added to sterile 1 litre of minimal medium under aseptic conditions.

Preparation of acephate plates

The acephate plates were prepared in minimal medium supplemented with 10 mM acephate. Initially the minimal medium was prepared by dissolving 2.4 g of K_2HPO_4 , 0.6 g of KH_2PO_4 and 0.5 g of NH_4NO_3 in few ml of milli Q water and agar was added at 2% concentration. The volume was finally made up to 498.925 ml. Then this solution was sterilized by autoclaving for 15 minutes at 15 lb pressure. MgSO₄.7H₂O (1 g/10 ml), Fe₂ (SO4)₃ (1 gm/100 ml) and Ca (NO₃)₂.4H₂O (4 gm/20

ml) were prepared separately and sterilized by autoclaving as described above. After cooling to 45° C 1 ml of MgSO₄.7H₂O, 50 µl of Ca (NO₃)₂.4H₂O and 25 µl of Fe₂ (SO4)₃ were added to the sterile minimal medium under aseptic conditions. The contents were mixed properly after adding 5 ml of 1M acephate solution. These plates after solidification were stored at 4° C by keeping them in a special container.

2.15. Enrichment culture technique to isolate acephate (O, S – dimethyl acetyl phosphoramidothioicacid) degrading bacterium

Enrichment culture technique used by Chaudhry et al, (1988) for isolating methylparathion degrading soil microbes was used with slight modifications. Activated sludge brought from pesticide manufacturing unit located at Patancheru, Hyderabad, India was used as source of inoculum to isolate acephate degrading bacterium by enrichment culture technique. About, 10 gm of effluent treated sludge was added to a 250 ml flask containing 50 ml of minimal medium supplemented with 10 mM acephate as sole source of carbon. The contents were then incubated at 30°C in incubator shaker for a period of 7 days. After incubation the flask was left on a bench top for few minutes to allow the sludge particles to settle. The clear suspension (1ml), containing microorganisms was used to inoculate a fresh 50 ml minimal medium supplemented with 10 mM acephate. In similar way four such transfers were made and every time the enriched population was spreaded both on LB and minimal medium plates containing 10 mM acephate. After the fourth transfer bacterial colonies that were observed on acephate plates were independently inoculated in the minimal salts medium supplemented with acephate as carbon source.

2.16. Growth of *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* using acephate as source of carbon, nitrogen and sulfur source

As the pure culture can grow on acephate by utilizing it as carbon and energy source an attempt was made to check whether acephate also serves as source of nitrogen, phosphorus and sulphur. Strain DS004 was inoculated into four different flasks containing the 50 ml of minimal medium (K₂HPO₄, 4.8 g, KH₂PO₄, 1.2 g and NH₄NO₃, 1 g, MgSO₄.7H₂O, 0.2 g, Ca (NO₃)₂.4H₂O, 0.04 g and Fe₂ (SO4)₃, 0.001 g in 1000 ml of water). When acephate was used as sole source of carbon minimal medium containing all salts was used as growth medium. However when acephate was used as source of nitrogen usage of Ca $(NO_3)_2.4H_2O$ and NH_4NO_3 was avoided in the medium. The sulfur containing salts were avoided when acephate is used as source of sulfur. In places of these salts sterile acephate solution (10 mM) was supplemented to the minimal medium. After preparing the nitrogen and sulfur source media a single colony that was propagated on acephate plate was used to inoculate these media. The flasks were then incubated at 30°C in an incubator shaker with 200 rpm. The growth of the cultures was monitored by measuring the culture O.D. at 600 nm. A typical growth curve was generated by plotting a graph taking OD values on Y axis and time on X axis.

2.17. Identification of the bacteria

After obtaining the pure bacterial culture capable of growing on acephate, the bacteria was first characterized by using conventional microbiological techniques. Primarily the bacterial morphology was studied by using phase contrast, scanning electron and transmission electron microscopy.

Sample preparation for Phase contrast microscopy

In the preparation of samples for microscopic examination, the cells of strain DS004 were grown in minimal medium containing 10 mM acephate. After growing the culture to mid log phase, the cells were harvested and extensively washed with citrate saline buffer. Further, appropriate dilutions of cells were layered on microscopic slides before observing them under Phase contrast microscope.

Sample preparation for Scanning electron microscopy

To observe under Scanning electron microscope the cells were placed on a small piece of cover slip (0.5 cm), which is washed with acetone. About 5 μ l of bacterial suspension was placed on the cover slip and air dried for 5 min. Then the cover slip was placed in Gold coating chamber and the gold coating was done under vacuum for 5 min. Then the cover slip was removed and observed under the scanning electron microscope.

Staining methods

Gram staining

A loopful of logarithmically growing culture was taken on a clean slide, to prepare a bacterial smear. The slide was then flooded with crystal violet (1 g of crystal violet is dissolved in 10 ml of absolute ethanol, filter sterilized and the volume made to 100 ml with double distilled water), and stained for a minute. Then the cells were washed extensively by keeping the slides under running tap water. In the next step Gram's Iodine solution (Iodine 1 g, potassium iodide 2 g, dissolved in 300 ml double distilled water.) a mordant was added to the slide for a minute. After washing with water, the decolorization of dye was done with acetone. In the final step safranin is applied as a counter stain, washed with running water, and the air dried slide was observed under microscope (Olympus B201) at 100 X magnification.

Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) for negative staining of flagella

About 5 ml of well grown culture was centrifuged at 8000 rpm for 5 minutes and the pellet was suspended in 0.1 M phosphate buffer. The cells were again collected by centrifugation before dissolving in 1 ml of fresh phosphate buffer. A small drop of this sample was placed on a piece of Para-film and a carbon coated EM grid was placed on that drop. After 20 minutes the grid was removed and the excess sample was drained with filter paper. The grid was washed with distilled water and stained with 2% uranyl acetate. The grid was washed and allowed for air drying. The grid with sample was observed under transmission electron microscope (Model: Hitachi, H-7500).

Physiological and Biochemical Characterization

Utilization of organic/inorganic compounds as electron donor and/or carbon source

Over night culture was used as one percent inoculum to inoculate minimal salts medium containing organic or inorganic compounds shown in table (Table.1) to test if they can serve as electron donor and/or carbon source. Growth was monitored turbidometrically at O.D 600 nm. The tested organic compounds were used at a concentration of 0.3%, w/v.

Organic/Inorganic compounds tested for carbon source/electron donor
Glucose
L-glutamic acid
Sodium citrate
Potassium sodium tartrate
Potassium gluconate
DL-Malate
Succinic acid
Salicylic acid
Anthranilate
Benzoic acid
<i>p</i> -Aminobenzoic acid
Acephate
Acetamide
Methanol

Gelatin liquefaction

Ability of the strain to liquefy gelatin was tested by inoculating 10% of culture in to fully filled screw cap test tubes containing modified Biebl and Pfennig's (1981) medium supplemented with pyruvate (0.3%, w/v) as carbon source, ammonium chloride (0.068%, w/v) as nitrogen source and gelatin (12%, w/v). Uninoculated test tube served as control. The test tubes were incubated at 30° C. After growth of the culture tubes along with controls were refrigerated at 4°C for 10 minutes and the liquefaction of the gelatin is tested by comparing with the control.

Nitrate Reduction Test

To determine the strains ability to reduce nitrate 10 ml of a sterile nitrate reduction broth, (heart infusion broth (25 gm), potassium nitrate (2 gm) in distilled water 1000 ml) was inoculated with fresh over night culture of strain DS004. After incubation, alpha-napthylamine and sulfanilic acid are added. These two compounds react with nitrite if available in the medium and turn red in color.

2.18. Surface peptide analysis by MALDI-TOF/TOF

Three layer sample deposition method was used in the analysis of cell surface peptides by following the procedures described elsewhere (Ruelle et al., 2004). About 1 μ l of bacterial preparation from mid log phase culture was applied to the MALDI-TOF sample plate. The air dried sample was considered as first layer. This first layer was then overlaid with 1 μ l of ethanol and the contents were carefully dried by placing the plate under cool and dry place. After the contents are dried, 1 μ l of matrix solution (1% α -cyano-4-hydroxycinnamic acid dissolved in 50% acetonitrile and 1% trifluoroacetic acid) was placed on top of the second layer. The contents were dried at room temperature before analyzing the sample in MALDI-TOF/TOF Autoflex (Bruker Daltonics) in reflectron mode.

2.19. 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis

Isolation of genomic DNA from acephate degrading bacterium

Genomic DNA from the bacterial cells was isolated by using QIAGEN DNeasy tissue kit by following manufacturer's protocols. Cells were collected from 5 ml of the overnight culture by centrifuging for 10 minutes at 7500 rpm. Cell pellet was then resuspended in 180 µl of ATL buffer (tissue lysis buffer). Further the cells were mixed with 20 µl of Proteinase K (100 mg/ml) before incubating the contents at 55°C for 1 hour. The incubation was continued till a clear cell suspension is seen in the tubes ensuring the complete lysis. After complete lysis, 4 µl of DNase free RNase $(100 \,\mu\text{g/ml})$ was added and incubated at room temperature for 2 minutes. To this, 200 μ l of buffer AL (lysis buffer) was added and incubated at 70°C for a further period of 10 minutes. After incubation the contents were brought to the room temperature and 200 µl of 95% ethanol was added before mixing the contents thoroughly. The contents were loaded on to a DNeasy mini column and centrifuged at 8000 rpm for 1 minute to facilitate passing of contents through matrix. The flow through was discarded and washed with 500 µl of buffer AW1 (wash buffer 1) followed by 500 µl of buffer AW2 (wash buffer 2). After washing the DNeasy mini column was kept in a clean 1.5 ml eppendorf tube and the genomic DNA was eluted with 200 µl of buffer AE (elution buffer).

PCR amplification of 16S rRNA gene of acephate degrading bacterium

A number of studies are available on amplification of 16S rRNA gene (Hayatsu et al., 2000; Horne et al., 2002; Foster et al., 2004). The universal forward (5'-CGggatccAGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAGAACGAACGCT-3') and reverse (5'-

CGggatccTACGGCTACCTTGTTACGACTTCACCCC-3') primers designed by Chen et al., (1997) were adapted in the study to amplify 16S rRNA gene from acephate mineralizing bacterium. The 50 µl typical reaction contained 1 unit of Taq polymerase, 2. 5 mM dNTPs, Taq polymerase buffer besides 10 pmoles of chromosomal DNA and 5 pmoles of universal forward and reverse primers. A typical three stage PCR programme containing the following steps was used for amplifying 16S rRNA gene from strain DS004.

Stage 1

97° C - 1.	30	minutes
------------	----	---------

Stage 2

94° C	-	1 minute

60°C - 1 minute

72°C - 1 minute

Repeated 29 cycles.

Stage 3

72° C - 10 minutes

Hold step - 4°C

The same PCR conditions were used for amplification of *opd* gene, except that the primers described elsewhere were used in PCR reaction mixture.

Purification of PCR product

After performing the polymerase chain reaction (PCR), the total PCR reaction mixture (100 μ l) was taken into an eppendorff tube and the PCR product was purified following the manufactures protocol using QIAgen PCR purification kit. The 100 μ l PCR mixture was mixed with 500 μ l of buffer PB (Binding buffer) and passed through Qia quick spin column fitted in a collecting tube. The flow through was discarded and the Qia quick spin column was washed with 0.75 ml of wash buffer PE (Wash buffer). The column was then placed in a new eppendorff tube and subjected for brief centrifugation to remove the traces of ethanol. Then the column was placed in a 1.5 ml eppendorff tube and the DNA was eluted by adding 50 μ l of buffer EB (10 μ l Tris-Cl, pH 8.5). DNA sample was collected by centrifuging the tube for 1min and stored at -20^oC until further use.

Cloning of PCR product in to pGEM-T easy vector

In order to clone the PCR product into pGEM-T easy vector, 200 ng of PCR product was taken in clean eppendorff tube and 50 ng of pGEM-T easy vector was added (Purchased from Promega, USA) before keeping it for ligation by adding appropriate amounts of 10X T4 ligase buffer and 0.1 U T4 DNA ligase. The ligation was performed for 16 hours at 16°C. After completion of ligation, the ligation mixture was transformed into *E. coli* DH5 α competent cells as described elsewhere and the transformants were selected by plating the cells on LB plate containing 100 µg/ ml of Ampicillin, IPTG (1mM) and X-gal. The colonies containing recombinant plasmids were selected based on blue white screening.

Purification of plasmids using QIAgen Mini preparation kit method

Plasmid vectors were purified using QIAgen mini preparation kit especially when used for cloning. A single bacterial colony carrying plasmid was inoculated into a 5 ml of LB medium containing appropriate antibiotic and was incubated overnight at 37°C with vigorous shaking (~150 rpm). The overnight culture was centrifuged at 8000 rpm for 10 minutes and supernatant was discarded.. The bacterial cell pellet was resuspended in 250 µl of buffer TE containing RNase (2 µg/ml). To lyse the cells, 250 µl of buffer P2 (0.2N NaOH and 1% SDS) was added and immediately the tube was gently inverted 4-6 times to mix up the contents. After lysis of the cells 350 µl of buffer N3 (3M Sodium acetate, pH 4.8) was added and the tube was inverted immediately for 4-6 times. Then tube was centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 10 minutes to pellet down the cell debris. After centrifugation the supernatant was directly transferred to a QIA preparation column placed in a collecting tube and centrifuged for 1 minute at 10000 rpm. The column was then washed with 0.75 ml of buffer PE (70% alcohol). To remove the residual wash buffer PE, column fitted with the collection tube was centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 1 minute. Finally plasmid DNA was eluted from the column by adding 50 µl buffer EB (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.5) or H₂O to the center of QIA preparation column followed by brief centrifugation at 12000 rpm. The plasmid DNA was stored at -20° C until further use.

Isolation of plasmid DNA by Alkaline Lysis method

Mini preparations of plasmid DNA was carried out by the following procedures of Birnboim and Doly (1979), and Ish-Horowicz and Buker (1981) with slight modifications. A single bacterial colony carrying plasmid to be isolated was inoculated into 3 ml of LB medium containing appropriate antibiotic and was incubated overnight at 37°C with vigorous shaking (150 rpm). 1 ml of overnight culture was centrifuged at 6000 rpm for 10 minutes and supernatant was discarded. Bacterial pellet was resuspended in 100 µl of ice-cold solution I (50mM glucose, 25mM Tris -Cl, pH 8.0; 10mM EDTA, pH 8.0) by vigorous vortexing. To the above bacterial suspension a 200 µl of freshly prepared solution II (0.2N NaOH, 1% SDS) was added and the contents were mixed by inverting the tube 5-6 times. Then 150 µl of ice-cold solution III (3M potassium acetate, pH 4.8) was added to the above bacterial lysate and mixed by inverting the tube 4-5 times. Then tube was kept on ice for 3-5 minutes. A white precipitate formed in the above mixture was removed by spinning the contents at 12000 rpm for 10 minutes. Then the supernatant was transferred into a fresh tube and extracted with equal volumes of phenol: chloroform mixture. The contents briefly mixed by vortexing were centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 10 minutes, to separate aqueous and organic layers. The volume of the aqueous phase was measured before transferring to a fresh tube. A 1/10th volume of 3 M sodium acetate and 2 volumes of absolute alcohol were added to the aqueous phase and the tubes were kept at -20°C for 30 minutes to facilitate precipitation of plasmid DNA. Then the tubes were centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C to pellet down the plasmid DNA. The DNA pellet was further washed with 70% ethanol to remove traces of salts associated with plasmid. Subsequently the plasmid DNA was dried before redissolving it in 50 \Box I of TE (pH 8.0) and stored at -20°C until further use.

Purification of DNA fragments from agarose gel

After performing agarose gel electrophoresis, appropriate portion of the gel containing desired DNA fragment was sliced, weighed and carefully taken into a micro centrifuge tube. Then 3 volumes (W/V) of buffer QG was added and incubated at 50°C for 10 min to dissolve the gel. After the gel slice is completely dissolved 1 volume (w/v) of isopropanol was added. Meanwhile the QIA quick column was placed in a collection tube and the contents were carefully transferred into the column. Immediately the column fitted in collection tube was placed in a microfuge and the contents were centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 1 minute. The flow-through was discarded and 0.75 ml of buffer PE (70% alcohol) was added to QIA quick column. The column was subjected to one more spinning to remove residual ethanol from buffer PE. The QIA quick column was then placed in a 1.5 ml eppendorff tube and the DNA was eluted in 50 µl of buffer EB (10µM Tris-Cl, pH 8.5) or H₂O. DNA sample was collected by centrifuging the tube for one minute and stored at -20° C until further use.

Sequencing of 16S rRNA gene

16S rRNA gene was sequenced by following Sanger's method (Sanger et al., 1977). When necessary internal primers were designed and used for getting complete 16S rRNA gene sequence.

Sequence analysis and construction of phylogenetic tree

The 16S rRNA gene sequence of length 1514 bp was submitted to the NCBI-BLAST search in order to know the nearest phylogenetic relatives to strain DS004.
EzTaxon server (Chun et al., 2007) is more useful for comparing unknown of 16S rRNA gene sequences with type strain 16S rRNA gene sequences. Based on the blast search results, type strain sequences of the closely related members and an out group sequence were obtained in fasta format from National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) – Nucleotide search or from Ribosomal Database Project-II (RDP-II) Release 9.56 (Cole et al., 2009; www.rdp.cme.msu.edu/). The type strain numbers were either obtained from Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology (2005) or from List of prokaryotic names with standing in nomenclature (LPSN – http://www.bacterio.cict.fr/index.html). All the closely related type strain sequences along with an out-group sequence and the 16SrRNA gene sequence of strain DS004 were aligned using the CLUSTAL X program (Thompson *et al.*, 1997). The alignment file was opened with Bio Edit software and the alignment was corrected manually and the file was saved with ".phy" as extension which served as an input file for the programs used for phylogenetic analysis.

Methods for phylogenetic tree construction

Distance and character based methods were used for phylogenetic analysis.

Distance based methods

Two distance based methods were used for phylogenetic tree construction; one is with neighbor joining and the other with Fitch.

Neighbor joining method

The evolutionary distance matrix was calculated using the distance model of Jukes and Cantor (1969). The evolutionary tree was constructed using the neighbor-

joining method (Saitou and Nei, 1987) and the resultant tree topologies were evaluated by bootstrap analysis based on 100-1000 resamplings, using the SEQBOOT and CONSENSE programs in the PHYLIP package.

Fitch method

The evolutionary distance matrix was calculated using the distance model of Jukes and Cantor (1969). The evolutionary tree was constructed using the Fitch-Margoliash Program (Fitch and Margoliash, 1967) and the resultant tree topologies were evaluated by bootstrap analysis based on 100 resamplings, using the SEQBOOT and CONSENSE programs in the PHYLIP package.

Character based methods

Maximum likelihood method in both phylip package and PhyMl were used for phylogenetic dendrogram construction.

Maximum likelihood method in Phylip package

The CLUSTAL X alignment file with ".phy" extension was used as the input file to the program SEQBOOT in the PHYLIP package (Felsenstein, 1993) and the output file of SEQBOOT was used as the input file for maximum likelihood (Felsenstein, 1981) analysis with 100 datasets and 5 times jumbling. One single tree was produced using 100 trees generated during maximum likelihood analysis using the program CONSENSE. A final dendrogram with evolutionary distances was constructed by taking the alignment file with ".phy" extension as the infile and the consensus tree as the intree in the maximum likelihood program of the PHYLIP package.

Maximum likelihood method in PhyML program

The dendrogram was constructed using PhyML (Guindon and Gascuel, 2003) program using 100 replicates of non parametric bootstrap analysis, GTR model of nucleotide substitution and 4 substitution rate categories.

2.20. DNA-DNA hybridization

DNA-DNA hybridization was performed by the membrane filter method (Tourova and Antonov, 1987) which essentially involves three steps

- i. Immobilization of the DNA
- ii. Radioactive labeling of DNA to be used as a probe
- iii. Hybridization between the immobilized DNA and the radioactive DNA

Immobilization of DNA

DNA samples were prepared from the type strains and from DS004 by following the procedures described in the earlier sections of this chapter. After quantifying the DNA samples about 10 μ g of DNA was taken in a microfuge tube and adequate amount of 20X SSC (3M Sodium chloride and 0.3 M Sodium citrate) was added to get a final concentration of 6X SSC. The contents were then boiled for 10 min and immediately chilled by placing the tube on ice. The sample was then immobilized on to a Hybond N⁺ membrane using a dot blot apparatus. The wells were then washed with 100 μ l of 0.5N NaOH after which the filter was removed, dried and the DNA sample absorbed on the membrane was cross linked with the help of UV cross linker.

Radioactive labeling of the DNA to be used as a probe

Labeling of the DNA was carried out using nick translation kit procured from M/s Fermentas, USA, following manufacturer's protocols. In a microfuge tube in a 100 µl reaction mix consisting 1 unit of klenow fragment, dNTP mix, 200 ng of DNA sample and 5 µl (50 µCi) α -³²P-dATP was taken in a microfuge tube and incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes. After incubation the reaction was stopped with the addition of 8 µl of 0.25 M EDTA. Subsequently the labeled DNA was precipitated by adding 56 µl of 5M ammonium acetate, 50 µl of carrier DNA and 500µl of ice cold alcohol. The contents were then incubated at -70°C for 1 h or over night at -20°C and spun at 15000 rpm for 20 min at 4°C. The DNA pellet was then washed with 70% alcohol and briefly dried under vacuum before dissolving in 6X SSC. The labeled DNA was then denatured for 10 min by placing in boiling water bath and immediately chilled on ice and used for hybridization.

Hybridization

The filters containing DNA was soaked in the prehybridization buffer (0.5 M Phosphate buffer pH 7.2 and 0.1% SDS) for 1 h at a 62°C. Subsequently, the prehybridization buffer was discarded and the probe dissolved in the prehybridization buffer was added to the filter and hybridization was done for 16 h at the same temperature. The filter was then washed with 0.5 X SSC containing 0.1% SDS for 10 min at room temperature and then with 0.1X SSC containing 0.5% SDS for 20 min at 50°C. Subsequently, the filters were dried and radioactivity found on each filter was determined using Tri-carb liquid scintillation counter (Model No. B1500, Zurich, Switzerland). The percent hybridization was calculated as follows:

Counts obtained from heterologous hybridization

```
% Hybridization = ----- X 100.
```

Counts obtained from homologous hybridization

2.21. Extraction and characterization of catabolic intermediates of acephate

Preparation of samples for analysis in GC-MS

Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype *acephalyticus* was grown to log phase in the minimal medium supplemented with acephate as sole source of carbon. Then the cells were removed from the medium by performing centrifugation at 8000 rpm for 10 minutes. The spent medium was taken in a clean conical flask before acidifying the medium by adding 1.5 ml of 6N HCl per 100 ml. After acidification the spent medium was extracted thrice with ethyl acetate. All the solvent fractions were pooled and dehydrated by the addition of solid sodium sulphate. After dehydration the solvent fractions were taken to a fume cup board and evaporated to dryness at room temperature. Finally the residue was dissolved in methanol and stored in -20°C until further use. The minimal medium having acephate without cells served as the control.

GC-MS analysis

The isolated sample was then analysed in GCMS- QP 5050A (Shimadzu) chromatograph. The column (25 m x 0.2mm ID x 0. 33μ) used was packed with 100% SPB1, Supelco (Sigma). The column, injector port and detector temperatures were maintained at 210, 230 and 250°C respectively. Helium gas was used as the carrier gas and the flow rate was maintained at 1ml/min. Initially the compounds extracted from the controls were analyzed. The data obtained on GCMS was taken as reference

for the identification of any new peaks found in the extracts prepared from the spent medium of acephate grown cultures.

Preparation of samples for analysis in LC-MS

Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype *acephalyticus* was grown to log phase in the minimal medium supplemented with acephate (10 mM) as sole source of carbon. Then the cells were removed from the medium by performing centrifugation at 12, 000 rpm for 10 minutes. The cell pellet collected was thoroughly washed with citrate saline buffer and then resuspended in 1ml of milli Q water. The cell suspension was then used to make dilutions to get cell suspensions with different OD's of 0.1, 0.2, 0.5, 1.0 and 2.0. Filter sterilized acephate (10 mM) was added to each of these cell suspension before incubating at 30°C for 15 minutes. After incubation about 100 μ l of the sample was withdrawn from the tube and cells were removed by a brief centrifugation at 13000 rpm. The clear supernatant was directly loaded on LC-MS.

LC-MS analysis

The above prepared samples were injected by autosampler into Eclipse XDB-C18 column (5 X 4.6 X 150 mm) using a binary pump HPLC (Agilent 1200 series). An isocratic buffer system of 95% (v/v) water having 5% (v/v) acetonitrile was used at a flow rate of 1.0 ml min⁻¹ for 20 min. The spectrum was recorded for 10 min at 220 nm in the UV range and part of the elute was diverted to ESI source of Q-TOF (Bruker Daltonics). Mass spectra were acquired in positive mode with collision energy 5 eV, capillary temperature 200°C and a source voltage of 3.8 kV. Mass was acquired in the t range of 50 -1000. The data was averaged for each peak and smoothed using Gaussian algorithm. Calibration of the instrument was done using ES

Materials and Methods

Tunning mix (Agilent technologies). MSMS of the base peaks obtained at at 6.0, 4.2 and 2.7 min were done in MRM mode with 10–15 eV collision energy

2.22. Construction of expression plasmids

Expression vector pMMB206 (Morales et al., 1991) is used as source plasmid to construct expression plasmid pMMBKM used for expressing *opd* gene in *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*. The chloramphenicol resistance gene is replaced with Km gene to facilitate its selection in Chloramphenicol resistant *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*. The *opd* gene and its variants coding preOPH and mOPH were taken from the expression plasmids described elsewhere (Siddavattam et al., 2006; Pandey et al., 2009) through PCR amplification and cloned in pMMBKM as *Eco*RI and *Bam*HI fragments.

2.23. Expression of OPH in *P.jinjuensis* biotype acephalyticus

Single colonies of *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* containing expression plasmids (pHLCKMOPD and pHNSKMOPD) were inoculated in 3 ml of LB medium and grown for overnight with appropriate antibiotics. The overnight culture (1%) was used as inoculum to get 10ml (LB medium) of mid log phase culture. The culture was then allowed to grow until the cell density reached to 0.5 OD units at 600 nm. The log phase culture was then induced with 1mM IPTG and the culture was allowed to grow for a further period of 3 hrs to achieve maximum expression of OPH. The control cultures having expression vector pMMB206 was maintained under identical conditions and used them as negative controls. After induction, the cells were pelleted and the pellet was suspended in sample buffer (62 mM Tris-Cl (pH 6.8); 2% SDS; 10% glycerol; 5% β-mercaptoethanol; 0.01% bromophenol blue). Protein extracts

were boiled in water bath for 5 minutes and samples were briefly centrifuged. Then the proteins obtained in clear supernatant were analyzed on 12.5% SDS-PAGE.

2.24. Sub-cellular localization of OPH in *P. jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* DS004

Samples from 10 ml cultures were withdrawn at different time points and the OPH activity was assayed with Methyl Parathion as substrate, following standard procedures (Chaudhry et al, 1988). The cultures that demonstrated good OPH activity were used for preparing sub-cellular fractions. In the preparation of sub-cellular fractions initially the cells were harvested at 6500 rpm for 10 min. These cells were resuspended in adequate amount of phosphate buffer pH 7.2. The cell suspensions thus prepared were sonicated (35 amplitude, pulse on for 15 sec and off for 45 sec (one cycle), total no. of cycles 10, temperature 4°C). After sonication the sample centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 30 min. The unbroken cells and cell debris was removed as pellet fraction where as the supernatant was collected for preparing subcellular fractions. Then supernatant fraction was centrifuged in a ultracentrifuge at 45,000 rpm for 1 h. After centrifugation the supernatant was collected in a clean tube and named it as cytosolic fraction. The pellet collected at the bottom of the tube was treated as membrane fraction. These sub-cellular fractions were used for assaying OPH activity and to perform western blots analysis for detection of OPH (Gorla et al, 2009).

2.25. Protein estimation

Protein content of the bacterial lysate as well as various sub-cellular fractions was estimated by the following procedure described by Lowry *et al.*,

(1951). In a clean test tube 100 μ l of sample was taken and mixed with 900 μ l of water and 5 ml of alkaline solution (2% Na₂CO₃ and 0.5 g copper sulphate in 50:1 ratio). Then the contents were thoroughly mixed before allowing to stand at room temperature for 10 min. Immediately after incubation 0.5 ml of Folin-Ciocalteau reagent (diluted with distilled water in 1:1 ratio before use) was added and thoroughly mixed before allowing them to stand for 30 min at room temperature. After incubation blue color developed was measured at 750 nm. A solution containing 5 ml of alkaline solution and 0.5 ml of Folin-Ciocalteau reagent served as blank. Known concentrations of bovine serum albumin was used for preparation of protein standards.

2.26. Parathion Hydrolase Assay

A spectrophotometric assay described elsewhere was adapted to determine organophosphate hydrolase (OPH) activity (Chaudhry et al., 1988). The reaction was carried out in the test tubes containing 100 μ mol of methyl parathion in 1 ml of 50 mM Tris glycine buffer (pH 9.0). The reaction was started by adding one of the components such as crude extract, cytoplasmic and membrane fractions as source of OPH. The tubes were incubated at 37°C for 60 minutes. An increase in the absorbance at A₄₁₀nm due to formation of *p*-nitrophenol was determined (Chaudhry et al, 1988). The concentration of *p*-nitrophenol formed in the reaction was determined using the extinction coefficient of PNP (16500 M⁻¹ Cm⁻¹). The specific activity of the enzyme was expressed as micromoles of PNP produced per milligram of protein per minute. The specific activity of the enzyme was calculated using the formula given below. AleemBasha, Ph.D. Thesis, 2010

Materials and Methods

Absorbance at 410nm

Enzyme activity = -----

16,500 (Extinction coefficient of PNP at 410nm)

Specific activity = Enzyme activity / mg of protein / min

Results and Discussion



In the introductory chapter the reasons for persistence of acephate in the environment and need to study biodegradation of acephate has been highlighted. The present chapter is entirely devoted on isolation and characterization of acephate mineralizing bacteria from the activated sludge collected from a pesticide manufacturing unit, Rallis India Ltd., Hyderabad. Acephate (*O*, *S*-dimethyl acetyl phosphoramidothioic acid), like other organophosphates is extensively used to control various insect pests (Marquis, 1986; Aspelin, 1994).

After reporting isolation of methyl parathion degrading *Flavobacterium* sp. from rice fields of IRRI a number of attempts have been made to isolate bacterial strains capable of degrading organophosphorus compounds from diversified environments (Graetz et al., 1970; Sethunathan and Yoshida, 1973; Rao and Sethunathan, 1974; Daughton and Hsieh, 1977; Barles et al., 1979; Somara and Siddavattam, 1995; Zhongli et al., 2001; Horne et al., 2002; Pakala et al., 2007; Aleem et al., 2010 (manuscript submitted)). While isolating the bacterial strains capable of degrading structurally diverse group of op compounds the investigators have essentially used enrichment culture techniques using environmental samples as source of microorganisms. In this study activated sludge is used as microbial source to isolate a bacterium capable of mineralizing acephate.

3.1 Isolation of acephate mineralizing bacterium from activated sludge

The activated charcoal is mainly used to trap residues of insecticides while treating effluents generated from the pesticide manufacturing units. Once activated charcoal is saturated with the residues of insecticides and other chemicals used while manufacturing insecticides, it is collected and stored for prolonged periods before disposal. This material, otherwise known as activated sludge, due to existence of organic waste is a rich source for microbes contributing for biodegradation of toxic and recalcitrant compounds. The present study has exploited activated sludge for isolation of bacterial strains capable of mineralizing acephate residues. Initially the minimal salts medium (M9 medium) supplemented with acephate as carbon source was added with one gram of activated sludge and enrichment of acephate mineralizing bacteria was performed as described in materials and methods. While performing enrichment culture technique every alternative day about one ml of clear culture media was collected and an appropriate dilution of the medium was plated both on LB and M9 plates containing acephate as carbon source. A portion of the clear culture medium was also used to reinoculate fresh M9 medium having acephate as carbon source. The process was repeated for at least 30 days.

In the first transfer a very few colonies were seen on acephate plates and all of them have shown uniform colony morphology. However, the colonies appeared on LB plates have shown variations in colonies size and morphology. In subsequent transfers the colony count on acephate plate has gone up. Even the morphological diversity of colonies noticed on LB plates during first transfer has disappeared in subsequent transfers. In the final transfer most of the non-specific colonies have disappeared and pure colonies with identical morphology and color were found both on acephate and LB plates. The bacteria that failed to use acephate as source of carbon slowly disappeared during the process of enrichment and pure white bulky colonies got enriched on acephate and LB plates. These pure colonies were further propagated on acephate plates to ensure the purity of acephate utilizing bacterium. This bacterium thus obtained was designated as strain DS004.

3.2 Substrate tolerance

After obtaining pure culture through enrichment culture technique, the strains ability to tolerate high concentrations of acephate was tested. While assessing its tolerance to various concentrations of acephate, minimal salts medium was supplemented with different concentrations of acephate i.e. 0.5 mM, 1 mM, 10 mM, 20 mM, 50 mM, 60 mM, 80 mM and 100 mM and an appropriate amounts of overnight cultures of the strain was inoculated. The growth of strain DS004 was frequently monitored by recording the culture turbidity at OD600. As shown in Fig. 3. 1, the culture has grown without any hindrance in all flasks that contain either 50 mM or less than 50 mM acephate.



Fig. 3.1 Growth of strain DS004 at different concentrations of acephate.

However, when acephate concentration is increased beyond 50 mM growth got steadily decreased and finally at 100 mM concentration no growth was recorded even after incubating the culture for 48 hours (Fig.3.1).

As optimal growth of strain DS004 was observed in 10 mM acephate all further studies pertaining to establishment of growth behavior of the strain were carried out in minimal medium containing 10 mM acephate. The strain DS004 reached to late log phase after 12 hours of incubation and no further growth was observed even after incubating the culture for 24 hours and thus indicating the existence of cells in stationery phase. Due to existence of characteristic amide bond, acephate shows maximum absorption at 220nm. Therefore, while recording the growth of the culture, the acephate concentration was also recorded in the culture medium by monitoring the absorbance at 220. As shown in Fig. 3. 2, with the increase in culture OD, a concomitant decrease of acephate concentration is seen in culture medium suggesting that strain DS004 is using acephate for its growth (Fig.3.2).



Fig. 3.2 Graph showing inverse relationship between growth of the strain DS004 and disappearance of acephate.

3.3 Usage of acephate as source of nitrogen and sulfur

Acephate having molecular formula ($C_4H_{10}NO_3PS$) can also serve as source of nitrogen and sulfur. As its ability to use acephate as source of carbon is established further studies were conducted to test if acephate can serve as source of nitrogen and sulfur. As described in materials and methods sections nitrogen and sulfur free minimal salts medium was prepared and strain DS004 was inoculated in nitrogen and sulfur free media. Interestingly in both nitrogen and sulfur free minimal medium the strain DS004 has grown and culture has reached to late log phase after 12 hours of incubation. Further incubation has recorded no growth indicating the existence of cells in stationery phase. This clearly shows the ability of the strain DS004 in using acephate as nitrogen and sulfur source (Fig.3.3)



Fig. 3.3 Growth curves of strain DS004 by utilizing acephate as carbon, nitrogen and sulfur source.

3.4. Taxonomic characterization of strain DS004

A number of biochemical and microbiological tools are available for establishing the taxonomy of new microbial isolates. In the present study the taxonomic identity of strain DS004 is established by using both conventional, biochemical and modern molecular biological tools. Here results obtained from all the sources are presented in a sequential manner to establish a clear view on the taxonomic status of DS004.

3.41 Morphological Characterization

The microscopic examination of acephate degrading bacterium was done using Phase contrast, Scanning and Transmission electron microscopy. Under phase contrast microscope, the acephate degrading bacterium appeared as rod shaped, motile bacterium (Fig.3.41 A). However, under scanning electron microscopy, strain DS004 appeared as a rod shaped bacterium with 1.3 µm long and 0.47 µm width (Fig. 3.41 B). A number of cells were found to be doublets suggesting that cells are dividing via binary fission. After gaining preliminary insights on the morphology of DS004, a single cell was taken for a detailed examination under transmission electron microscopy. As shown in Fig. 3.41 C strain DS004 is seen as a rod shaped bacterium with a single polar flagellum (Fig.3.41 C). Such observation is supportive of observing motile bacteria under scanning electron microscope.



Fig. 3.41 A Phase contrast micrograph of strain DS004.



Fig. 3.41 B Scanning electron micrograph of strain DS004.



Fig. 3.41 C Transmission electron micrograph of strain DS004.

The characteristic features of DS004 obtained by using various microscopic techniques are shown in table 3. 1.

Table 3.1: Morphological characteristics of strain DS004.

Morphology	Result
Size	1.5-2.0 μm long and 0.7-0.9 μm wide
Shape	Round
Arrangement	Single
Motility	Polar flagellum
Gram staining	Gram negative

3.42 Biochemical properties of strain DS004

After studying the morphological properties, the strain DS004 was used to conduct number of biochemical studies as described in materials and methods section. The results obtained in these studies are listed in table 3. 2. These properties of strain DS004 were used to compare with similar biochemical properties of type strains that showed more than 97 % 16S rRNA gene identity to have a better taxonomic understanding.

Table 3.2: Biochemical Properties of strain DS004.

Carbon source	Result
Glucose	+
L-glutamic acid	+
Sodium citrate	+
Potassium sodium tartrate	-
Potassium gluconate	+
DL-Malate	+
Succinic acid	+
Salicylic acid	-
Anthranilate	-
Benzoic acid	+
p-Aminobenzoic acid	+
Acephate	+
Acetamide	+
Methanol	+
Acid production from sugars	

Dextrose	-
Maltose	-
Lactose	-
Galactose	-
Xylose	-
Mannitol	-
Dulcitol	-
Cellobiose	-
Inositol	-
Trehalose	-
Gas production from sugars	
Dextrose	-
Maltose	-
Lactose	+
Galactose	-
Xylose	-
Mannitol	-
Dulcitol	+
Cellobiose	+
Inositol	-
Trehalose	-
Starch hydrolysis	-
Gelatin liquefaction	+
Nitrate Reduction	+
Susceptability to Antibiotics	
Ampicillin	+
Chloramphenicol	+

Kanamycin	-
Tetracycline	+
Gentamycin	+
Streptomycin	+
Spectinomycin	+

3.43 Description of acephate degrading bacterium strain DS004

Based on the morphological and biochemical examination, the cells of strain DS004 can be described as aerobic, gram-negative rods having 1.5-2.0 μ m long and 0.7-0.9 μ m wide. They are motile due to existence of a single polar flagellum. They are propagated through binary fission and occur in pairs. The cells are capable of growing on acephate as sole source of carbon, nitrogen and sulfur at the temperatures ranging 25°C – 37°C and pH between pH 7.0 - 8.0, while showing optimum growth at 30°C and pH 7. 0. It doesn't require any vitamin supplements for growth. The strain DS004 successfully hydrolyzed gelatin and failed to hydrolyze starch. Glucose, citrate, malate, gluconate, L-glutamic acid, succinic acid, benzoate, *p*-aminobenzoic acid served as good carbon/energy sources for strain DS004. However, growth is not supported by salicylate, anthranilate and tartrate. Acid is not produced from sugars like glucose, galactose, xylose, maltose, lactose, mannitol, dulcitol, cellobiose, inositol, and trehalose. Gas production was observed from lactose, dulcitol and trehalose. Nitrate reduction was found.

If the strain DS004 morphological characteristics, such as shape, motility with single polar flagellum and physiological characteristics like recording growth under aerobic conditions at 30° C temperature and pH 7.0 – 8.0, are seen together with biochemical characteristics like absence of gas formation from glucose and using citrate as carbon source, which are considered to be the key characteristics of genus *Pseudomonas*, a place for strain DS004 in genus *Pseudomonads* is justifiable. However, to reinforce the claim a mass spectrometric analysis was done to identify the *Pseudomonas* genus specific surface peptides in strain DS004.

3.5 Analysis of cell surface peptides

Biochemical and morphological tests are to some extent useful for establishing strains genus identity. However, most of the times they provide misleading information creating confusion while establishing taxonomic status of the microbial isolates. Therefore to strengthen our claim on the taxonomic status of the strain DS004, a mass finger print profile was generated for its surface peptides. Mass finger print profiles of cell surface peptides are extensively used in taxonomic characterization of new bacterial isolates (Karas et al., 1987). MALDI-TOFMS (matrix assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry) is a soft ionization method allowing desorption of intact peptides (Dai et al., 1999) and proteins from whole bacterial cells (Holland et al., 1996; Krishnamurthy et al., 1996; Easterling et al., 1998; Wang et al., 1998; Arnold et al., 1999; Holland et al., 1999; Lynn et al., 1999; Evason et al., 2001; Ryzhov and Fenselau, 2001) or cell fractions without extensive separation (Chong et al., 1997; Nilsson 1999). The advantages of MALDI-TOF MS include high sensitivity, speed and reproducibility (Saenz et al.,

1999). Different investigations have shown application of MALDI-TOF/TOF MS for characterizing intact bacterial cells (Saenz et al., 1999), bacterial spores (Ryzhov et al., 2000; Birmingham et al., 1999; Demirev et al., 2001; Elhanany et al., 2001) and other microorganisms such as viruses (Thomas et al., 1998; Birmingham et al., 1999) and fungi (Welham et al., 2000). The identification is based on the existence of a characteristic peaks considered as genus, species, or strain specific biomarkers. For instance, in Escherichia coli, two species specific biomarkers (at m/z 9226±3 and 9537±2) and two strain-specific biomarkers for ATCC11775 (at m/z 9065±2 and 9736±3) were identified (Ruelle et al., 2004). To confirm the genus identity of strain DS004, its cell surface peptides were extracted and analyzed on MALDI-TOFMS as described in materials and methods section. After establishing the mass profile, it was compared with similar profiles generated for Escherichia coli ATCC 11775 and Pseudomonas aeruginosa PAO11610 that were used as reference strains. In accordance with the reported data, in mass fingerprints of reference strain E.coli ATCC 11775 a characteristic mass peaks at m/z value 9067 was obtained (Fig.3.5A), suggesting that the technique used to characterize the strain DS004 is appropriate and is in consistent with earlier reports (Ruelle et al, 2004, Nicolas, 2008). Similarly, the surface peptide finger print profile generated for another reference strain P. aeruginosa has also shown the mass ions corresponding to m/z value 4544, 5212, 6363, 6912, 7546, 8509 and 9090 (Fig.3.5B). The mass spectrum is in total agreement with the reported mass profile generated for the surface peptides of reference strain Pseudomonas aeruginosa PAO11610 (Nicolas, 2008).



Fig. 3.5 A Mass spectrum showing the *E.coli* genus specific peak in reference strain *E.coli* ATCC1775.



Fig. 3.5 B Mass spectrum of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PA011610 surface peptides. *Pseudomonas* genus specific peaks are shown with arrows.

After establishing the validity of the methodology, the surface peptides of strain DS004 were extracted as described in materials and methods section and mass profile was established. As presented in Fig. 3.5 C, the mass profile has indicated existence of mass ions corresponding to m/z values of 4544, 5210, 6633, 7543, 8508,

and 9088 (Fig.3.5C). All of them when compared perfectly match with the mass profile generated to the surface peptides of reference strain *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO11610. This result clearly establishes belongingness of strain DS004 to genus *Pseudomonas*.



Fig. 3.5 C Mass spectrum of strain DS004 surface peptides. The mass peaks that match with reference strain *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PA0116100 are shown with arrow marks.

Genus *Pseudomonas* contains number of species that use rare and recalcitrant carbon compounds as source of carbon and energy (Benzet and Matsumara, 1973; Kilbane et al., 1982; Karns et al., 1982; Lillis et al., 1983; Bachmann et al., 1988; Sahu et al., 1990; Chapalamadugu and Chaudhry, 1993). In fact a number of strains belonging to genus *Pseudomonas* have been shown to degrade op pesticides successfully (Doughton and Hsieh, 1967; Boush and Matsumura, 1967; Gibson and Brown, 1974; Mohapatra and Awasthi, 1977; Serdar et al., 1982; Chapalamadugu and Chaudhry, 1993). Although the aforementioned techniques have helped to establish the genus identity, they failed to provide accurate taxonomic position to strain DS004. In order to overcome this problem, and to establish an authentic taxonomic position to

DS004, an attempt is made to generate phylogenetic tree based on 16S rRNA gene sequence.

3.6 Amplification of 16S rRNA gene from strain DS004

In order to amplify 16S rRNA gene, the genomic DNA from strain DS004 was isolated using the procedures described in materials and methods section. After purification of the genomic DNA, the concentration of the DNA was measured and approximately 100 pmols of DNA was used as template for amplification of 16S rRNA. Taking published results in to consideration an universal forward primer 5'-CGggatccAGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAGAACGAACGCT-3' and a reverse primer 5'-CGggatccTACGGCTACCTTGTTACGACTTCACCCC-3', corresponding to positions 8 to 37 and 1479 to 1506 of *E. coli* 16S RNA gene, were designed and used for amplification of 16S RNA gene of strain DS004 (Chen *et al.*, 1997). These primers are designed with restriction site *BamHI* to facilitate cloning (Chen *et al.*, 1997). The 16S rRNA gene amplified from strain DS004 was found to be1.5 Kb and is well within the limits of standard 16SrRNA gene size and hence was used for further studies (Fig.3.6).



1.5 Kb amplicon

Lane1 represents 1 Kb DNA ladder; Lane2 represents 1.5 Kb amplified 16S rRNA gene

Fig. 3.6. Amplification of 16S rRNA gene from strain DS004.

As size of the PCR product is equal to the size of the 16S rRNA gene reported from number of bacterial strains it was assumed that the PCR amplified product is 16S rRNA gene of strain DS004 and attempted to clone and generate sequence of the PCR product (Rotthauwe et al., 1995; James and Russel, 1996; Khadhair and Evans, 2000; Muraji and Nakahara, 2001).

3.7 Cloning of 16S rRNA gene in pGEM-T Easy vector

The amplicon assumed to be the 16S rRNA of DS004 was cloned in pGEM-T Easy vector (Robles and Doers, 1994). As this vector is having 3'-T overhangs at the 3' end, it facilitates ligation of a PCR product. The ligation was carried out by following the procedures described in materials and methods section. The colonies having recombinant DNA were selected on LB agar plates having Amp + X-gal + IPTG following general blue white selection procedure. In order to identify the clone having 16S rRNA gene, few white colonies were selected to perform colony PCR using universal M13 forward primer 5'-GGAAACAGCTATGACCAT-'3 and reverse primer 5'- GTAAAACGACGGCCAGT-'3. The colonies that gave 1.5 Kb amplicon were selected to isolate plasmid and to reconfirm existence of 16S rRNA gene. (Fig.3.7). The colonies that gave positive results with colony PCR were sub cultured and the recombinant plasmid DNA was isolated by alkaline lysis method. The isolated plasmid was further digested with *Bam*HI and analyzed on 0. 8% agarose gels. The plasmid that gave 1.5 Kb insert (Fig.3.8), which was similar in size with PCR product, was selected and designated as pAS1and used for further sequencing.



Lane 1 represents 1 Kb DNA ladder; lanes 2 to 8 represent colonies screened by colony PCR using M13 forward and reverse primers





Lane1 represents1Kb DNA ladder, lane 2 represents Uncut pAS1 plasmid, lane 3 represents pAS1 plasmid cut with *Bam*HI restriction enzyme

Fig. 3.8 Agarose gel showing the presence of 1. 5 Kb 16SrRNA gene in plasmid pAS1.

3.8 16S rRNA gene sequencing

In order to generate complete sequence of the 1.5 Kb 16S rRNA gene from strain DS004, the plasmid pAS1 was sequenced using M13 universal forward and reverse primers. A 523 base pair long sequence was obtained with forward primer and a 516 base pair long sequence was obtained with reverse primer. As the insert to be sequenced is 1.5 Kb there was obviously no overlap in the sequence. Therefore, a 20

mer internal primer was designed based on the sequence generated with forward primer. Using this internal primer (5' -TCCAGCCATGCCGCGTGTGT- 3'), designated as AS003, an additional 600 base pair long sequence was generated, which overlapped with the sequence generated using the M13 reverse primer. A clear strategy used to sequence entire 1. 5 Kb sequence is shown in (Fig.3.9) and the complete 16S rRNA sequence of strain DS004 shown in Fig.3.10 is deposited in the GenBank/EMBL/DDBJ with an accession number AM 407893.



Fig. 3.9 Strategy used for obtaining complete sequence of 16S rRNA gene of strain DS004. Filled bar indicates 16S rRNA gene. Vector sequences corresponding to the M13 forward and reverse primer binding sites are shown with thick lines. Sequence obtained using various primers are shown with thick arrows.

GAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAGAACGAACGCTGGCGGCGGCGGCCTAACACATGCAAGTCGAGCGGATGAGTGGAGCTTGCTCCATGATTC $\label{eq:construct} A GCGGCGGACGGGTGAGTAATGCCTAGGAATCTGCCTGGTAGTGGGGGGACAACGTTTCGAAAGGAACGCTAATACCGCATACGTCC$ ${\tt TACGGGAGAAAGCAGGGGACCTTCGGGCCTTGCGCTATCAGATGAGCCTAGGTCGGATTAGCTAGTTGGTGGGGGTAAAGGCCTACC}$ ${\tt GGGGAATATTGGACAATGGGCGAAAGCCTGATCCAGCCATGCCGCGTGTGTGAAGAAGGTCTTCGGATTGTAAAGCACTTTAAGTT}$ ${\tt GGGAGGAAGGACAGTAAGTTAATACCTTgGCTGTTTTGACGTTACCAACAGAATAAGCACCGGCTAACTTCGTGCCAGCAGCCGCG$ GGGCTCAACCTGGGAACTGCATCCATAACTGCCTGACTAGAGTACGGTAGAGGGTGGTGGAATTTCCTGTGTAGCGGTGAAATGCG ATTAGATACCCTGGTAGTCCACGCCGTAAACGATGTCGACTAGCCGTTGGGATCCTTGAGATCTTAGTGGCGCGAGCTAACGCGATA ATTCGAAGCAACGCGAAGAACCTTACCTGGCCTTGACATGTCCGGAATCTTGCAGAGATGCGAGAGTGCCTTCGGGAATCGGAACA ${\tt CAGGTGCTGCATGGCTGTCGTCGTCGTGTGTGTGGGTGAGATGTTGGGTTAAGTCCCGTAACGAGCGCAACCCTTGTCCTTAGTTACCA$ GCACGTCATGGTGGGCACTCTAAGGAGACTGCCGGTGACAAACCGGAGGAAGGTGGGGATGACGTCAAGTCATCGTGGCCCTTACG ${\tt GCCAGGGCTACACACGTGCTACAATGGTCGGTACAGAGGGTTGCCAAGCCGCGAGGTGGAGCTAATCCCATAAAACCGATCGTAGT$ ${\tt CCGGATCGCAGTCTGCAACTCGACTGCGTGAAGTCGGAATCGCTAGTAATCGTGAATCAGAATGCCACGGTGAATACGTTCCCGGG$ TGATTCATGACTGGGGTGAAGTCGTAACAAGGTAGCCGTAGGATCCCGAATC

Fig. 3.10 Complete sequence of 16S rRNA gene of strain DS004.

3.9 Construction of Phylogenetic tree

Phylogenetic analysis based on 16S rRNA gene sequence has been recognized as the most important method for inferring relationships of the genus *Pseudomonas* (Moore et al., 1996; Anzai et al., 1997, 2000). Therefore, the 1514 bp long 16S rRNA gene sequence of strain DS004 was compared with corresponding sequences of closely related species and other reference microorganisms retrieved from the EMBL database. Bacterial strains which have showed highest similarity to the 16S rRNA gene sequence of strain DS004 were taken into consideration for further studies. Among these sequences only the sequences of type strains were selected instead of taking the sequences of uncultured bacterial strains and strains approved by the local culture collection centres (Table.3.3).

Isolate	Organism	Identity	Accession No.
Strain DS004	Pseudomonas azelaica DSM 9128 ^T	98.7	AM088475
	Pseudomonas multiresinivorans ATCC 700690 ^T	98.6	X96787
	Pseudomonas nitroreducens DSM 14399 ^T	98.5	AM088474
	Pseudomonas jinjuensis LMG 21316 ^T	98.2	AF468448
	Pseudomonas knackmussii DSM 6978 ^T	97.9	AF039489
	Pseudomonas citranellolis DSM 50332 ^T	97.7	Z76659
	Pseudomonas alcaligenes ATCC 12815 ^T	96.4	AF09472
	Pseudomonas aeruginosa DSM 50071^{T}	96.1	Z76672
	Pseudomonas pseudoalcaligenes DSM 50018 ^T	95.6	Z76675
	Pseudomonas alcaliphila DSM 17744 ^T	95.5	AJ550466
	Pseudomonas oleovorans $DSM 1045^{T}$	94.8	Z76665

Table 3.3: List of type strains that have showed highest similarity with the 16S rRNA gene sequence of strain DS004

Reinforcing the data obtained from biochemical and morphological studies, strain DS004 exhibited highest level of 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity (95 – 99%) to strains of the most closely related valid or invalid *Pseudomonas* species. However, as stated before the type strains, available in authentic culture collection centre's (DSMZ, Germany;) were taken and aligned using CLUSTALW (www.ebi.ac.uk/tools/clustalw2) to obtain percentage Score values. These scores were used as input for MEGA 4 software (www.megasoftware.net) while constructing phylogenetic tree (Fig.3.11). As shown in phylogram the strain DS004 has shown highest relationship to the type strain *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* LMG 21316^T (Fig.3.11).



Fig. 3.11 Phylogenetic tree of strain DS004 constructed using 16S rRNA gene sequence.

The phylogenetic tree is in total agreement with the findings of Anzai and his associates who kept type strains *P. jinjuensis* LMG 21316^T, *P. azelaica* DSM 9128^T, *P. knackmussii* DSM 6978^T, *P. multiresinivorans* ATCC 700690^T, *P. citronellolis* DSM 50332^T, and *P. nitroreducens* IAM 1439^T, as one cluster designating them as '*P. aeruginosa group*' (Anzai et al., 2000) which belong to class *Gammaproteobacteria*.

Though not a critical tool, the level of 97% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity is shown to be a threshold for the species delineation of bacteria (Stack Brandt & Goebel, 1994). However, as an exception *Pseudomonas koorensis* which has 99% 16S rRNA gene similarity with *Pseudomonas pavonaceae* is shown as a novel species (Kwon et al., 2003). Therefore, species delineation within the genus *Pseudomonas* cannot be assessed solely on the basis of 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity (Achouak et al., 2000; Andersen et al., 2000; Sikorski et al., 2001). However, it can certainly be an invaluable tool used to reliably establish phylogenetic relationships within the genus *Pseudomonas*.

3.10 DNA-DNA Hybridization

DNA–DNA hybridization values have been used as a decisive means of demarcating taxonomic positions at the species level (Kwon et al., 2003). The current species concept suggests that only those strains with at least approximately 70% DNA–DNA relatedness and a Δ *Tm* value of 5 °C or less constitute a single species (Wayne et al., 1987). In the present study the total DNA of strain DS004 was hybridized with the closely related type strains (Table 3.3) to ascertain the genome wide homology between the type strains and strain DS004 (Tourova and Antonov,

1987). The results of the study is shown in table 1.4, which indicates that strain DS004 has highest DNA relatedness (95%) with *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* LMG 21316^{T.} If the entire data generated in the present chapter is seen together with the DNA-DNA hybridization studies it justifies assigning the name of *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* DS004 to the acephate mineralizing strain DS004.

Table 3.4: DNA – DNA Hybridization of strain DS004 with type strains of *Pseudomonas* genus showing more than 95% sequence similarity at 16S rRNA gene level.

	Pseudomonas nitroreducens DSM 14399 ^T	Pseudomonas azelaica DSM 9128 ^T	Strain DS004	Pseudomonas citranellolis DSM 50332 ^T	Pseudomonas jinjuensis LMG 21316 ^T	Pseudomonas knackmussii DSM 6978 ^T
Pseudomonas nitroreducens DSM 14399 ^T						
Pseudomonas azelaica DSM 9128 ^T	55%					
Strain DS004	56%	55%				
Pseudomonas citranellolis DSM 50332 ^T	60%	85%	56%			
Pseudomonas jinjuensis LMG 21316 ^T	54%	71%	95%	55%		
Pseudomonas knackmussii DSM 6978 ^T	61%	48%	30%	48%	60%	
Pseudomonas multiresinivorans ATCC 700690 ^T	69%	62%	86%	52%	75%	58%

As shown in table 1.4, *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* DS004 shows high genome wide similarity (95%), with type strain *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* LMG 21316^{T.} Such similarity has prompted to test the type strains ability to grow in acephate containing minimal medium. However, the type strain failed to use acephate as carbon source. On further examination, the type strain *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* LMG 21316^T has differed with *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* DS004 with respect to a number of biochemical characteristics. All of them are indicated in table 3.5. Considering the genome wide similarities and noted differences on certain biochemical properties, *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* DS004 is justified in giving the status of biotype. As acephate utilization is the key and prominent difference it is proposed to give a name of *acephalyticus* for the biotype. Therefore, the acephate mineralizing *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* DS004 is designated as *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*. The culture is deposited in German culture collection centre in the name and accession number of *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* = DSM 19477^T.

Characteristics	Strain DS004	Pseudomonas jinjuensis LMG 21316 ^T
Glucose	+	+
Sodium citrate	+	+
Potassium gluconate	+	+
DL-Malate	+	+
Succinic acid	+	+
Acephate	+	-
Methanol	+	_
<i>p</i> -Aminobenzoic acid	+	-
Gelatin hydrolysis	+	_

Table 3.5: List of similar and differentiating characteristics between strain DS004 and *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* LMG 21316^T.

3.11. Discussion

Microorganisms are identified and classified for more than one reason. Identification and classification of microorganisms involves the study of several characteristics starting from morphological level of characterization to genetic level of characterization. Classification is more complicated and routinely uses more advanced methods than identification.

The first and important characteristic used to classify and identify microbes is analysis of morphological characteristics like basic shape, size, characteristic arrangement, the presence of flagella, presence of a capsule, presence of endospores, etc. Once after identifying the morphological characteristics of microbe, Gram staining was done to differentiate into gram negative or gram positive. As so many bacteria look alike it is necessary to do biochemical tests for identification. These tests mainly look the ability of an organism to produce certain enzymes which can make use of certain nutrients and also look the type of products that are produced in the process. The biochemical tests that are routinely used in the identification of microbes include utilization of different types of carbon / energy sources, acid and gas production from sugars, gelatin liquefaction, starch hydrolysis, catalase, oxidase tests and nitrate reduction. Since characteristics vary with different strains, the more tests that are done the better are the identification. In order to establish a evolutionary relationship, phylogenetic analysis was done using 16S rRNA gene sequence. 16S rRNA gene sequence based phylogenetic tree, while providing a very clear picture on genus identity, fails to give a clear picture on the status of the species of the isolate. As a convention, if new isolates 16S rRNA gene is 98% similar with the similar sequence of type strain, the isolate is given type strains species name. In number of

95

occasions, this convention on naming new isolates is challenged (Kwon et al., 2003). DNA-DNA hybridization is more acceptable while establishing the species identity. This is due to the fact that it provides a clear picture on genome wide similarity of the isolate with the type strains (Kwon et al., 2003).

In addition to the aforementioned techniques, some of the clinical isolates were also require some other biochemical tests for their identification and classification. Those are mainly serology tests and Phage Typing. Serological testing can even distinguish between strains of same species. Strains with different antigens are called serovars or biovars.

The present study has used biochemical and modern techniques to classify strain DS004. Initial morphological and biochemical studies have given a weak identity to strain DS004. Based on these studies the strain is tentatively identified as member of *Pseudomonas*. The claim is further strengthened from the data obtained through mass profile generated for surface peptides. Atleast three genus specific mass peaks were identified to reinforce the claim of DS004 as a member of genus *Pseudomonas* (Fig.3.5C). The phylogenetic tree generated based on 16S rRNA gene sequence has provided convincing data to claim strain DS004 as a member of genus *Pseudomonas* (Fig.3.11).

Though these are independent experiments done taking altogether different approaches, all of them have unequivocally shown strain DS004 as a member of genus *Pseudomonas*. The data generated through independent studies are supportive of each other and gave no ambiguity with respect to the identification of genus of the strain DS004.
The 16S rRNA gene sequence based phylogenetic tree is constructed mainly to have a species identity. The tree has shown more than 98% similarity to the type strain Pseudomonas azelaica DSM 9128^T, Pseudomonas multiresinivorans ATCC 700690^T, Pseudomonas nitroreducens DSM 14399^T and Pseudomonas jinjuensis LMG 21316^T (Table 3.3). As per the established norms if the new isolate's 16S rRNA gene sequence shows more than 98% identity with the type strains 16S rRNA gene sequence, the isolate can be given species name of the type strain. If 16S rRNA gene homology is taken into consideration three type strains showed more than 98% homology. However, when genome wide similarity was tested by performing DNA-DNA hybridization studies only the genome of *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* LMG 21316^T is shown to have 95% genome wide similarity (Table 3.4). Such high degree genome wide similarity rather justify giving the name of species *jinjuensis* to strain DS004. Despite of having such high degree genome wide similarity, the type strain failed to grow on acephate. Further with a number of key biochemical factors, the strain DS004 differed from the type strain (Table 3.5). Such differences have indeed stood as primary supporting factors to claim strain DS004 as a biotype of Pseudomonas jinjuensis. Therefore the acephate mineralizing strain DS004 is given the name of Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus.

Before the emergence of modern techniques like 16S rRNA gene analysis and DNA-DNA hybridization experiments only morphology, differential staining, and biochemical tests were the identification tools available to microbiologists. The novel methods now available are accurate in classifying the organisms and even they have changed some previous classifications (Anzai et al., 2000). Isolation of organophosphate degrading bacterial strains is not uncommon in literature. A number of soil bacteria that degrade op compounds found their way into literature through extensive research activities. An elegant reviews has recently appeared highlighting the physiology and biochemistry of the organism (Singh and Walker, 2006; Singh, 2008). If detailed degradation pathways and organisms ability to use them as source of carbon are taken into consideration they can be grouped two categories. The first category soil microbes are those that hydrolyze op compounds due to existence of a novel esterase. They hydrolyze op compounds and thus make them incapable of inhibiting acetyl cholinesterase. These microbes may not use degradation products as source of carbon (Sethunathan and Yoshida, 1973; Munnecke and Hsieh, 1974; Serdar et al., 1982; Tchelet et al., 1993; Zhongli et al., 2001). This is rather passive degradation process and is mainly due to existence on endogenous substrate that has considerable structural similarities with op compounds.

The second category of biodegradation is rather a dynamic process. They thrive on these toxic op residues and use them as source of carbon, nitrogen, sulfur and phosphorus (Siddaramappa et al., 1973; Daughton and Hsieh, 1977; Rosenberg and Alexander, 1979; Nelson, 1982; Pakala et al., 2007). They have acquired genetic machinery to code for enzymes that convert these toxic and recalcitrant compounds into TCA cycle intermediates. These are real nature's gift to mankind and they are the preferential candidates which can be used for developing bioremediation strategies.

If biochemistry of op compound degradation is clearly examined, existence of a metal dependent triesterase which hydrolyzes the characteristic triester bond found in organophosphates is evident in most of the organisms (Mulbry et al., 1986; Chaudhry et al., 1988; Serdar et al., 1989; Somara and Siddavattam, 1995). Most of the times as stated before, the hydrolytic products are not used as source of carbon. They either accumulate causing disruption to the soil ecosystem or form carbon source for other soil microbes living in the habitat. Finally elimination of op compounds from the environments is rather an effort of a microbial consortium.

In very few cases scientists have successfully isolated microbes that mineralize op compounds including the byproduct generated due to hydrolytic cleavage of triester linkage of op compounds. Though such reports are rare, microbiologists have succeeded in isolating such novel strains ((Munnecke and Hsieh, 1976; Rosenberg and Alexander, 1979; Rani and Lalithakumari, 1994; Pakala et al., 2007). In any case if degradation pathways are examined, most of them essentially start with the hydrolysis of triester linkage, due to existence of existence of triesterase popularly known as OPH. Infact for OPH, organophosphates with P-O linkage serve as preferred substrate. The phosphonates, phosphoramidothioates which contain P-C or P-S bonds with central phosphorus atom serve as poor substrates to OPH (Efremenko and Sergeeva, 2001). Precisely due this to reasons phosphoramidothioates are more persistent in nature. Their residues are found in environments for long time. Acephate, a phosphoramidothioate is one of the most prominent insecticides used all over the world. Its recalcitrance became rather evident through the work of Antonius and his coworkers (Antonius and Snyder., 1994; Antonius, 1995). Despite of having such published evidences there exists no report in literature on isolation of acephate mineralizing/degrading strains. This is rather first isolate that thrive on acephate using it as carbon, nitrogen and sulfur source.

3.12. Conclusions

- A bacterium capable of using acephate as source of carbon, nitrogen and sulfur is isolated from the activated sludge collected from a pesticide manufacturing unit.
- 2. Based on the morphological, biochemical and molecular biological tools, the bacterium is identified as *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*.

Results and Discussion Chapter II

In the previous chapter we have described isolation and characterization of acephate degrading bacterium isolated from activated sludge collected from a pesticide manufacturing unit. Employing both modern molecular biology tools and microbiological studies, the isolate which uses acephate as source of carbon, nitrogen and sulfur is designated as *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*. It's in fact the first report on isolation of acephate mineralizing bacteria. The potential of such novel isolate can only be exploited for bioremediation of acephate, only when its catabolic pathway and mechanisms that contribute for its regulation are known. This chapter is mainly devoted for understanding the acephate degradation pathway in *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*. While understanding the catabolic pathway of acephate, a systematic investigation is conducted to identify the catabolic intermediates generated and to know the time of their formation and duration of their presence either in culture medium or in resting cell assay. Based on identification and time of formation of catabolites of acephate, a putative pathway followed for degradation of acephate is presented in this chapter.

4.1. Identification of catabolic intermediates of acephate by GC-MS

While attempting to identify catabolites of acephate two independent methods have been followed. One of them is extracting and identifying the degradation products from the culture medium where *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* is grown using acephate as sole source of carbon. The second approach is through resting cell assay, which typically contained acephate grown *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* cells in various densities in milli Q water. Addition of fresh acephate to the resting cells and time dependent extraction and analysis of cell free extracts to detect acephate degradation products in a time dependent manner has indeed provided substantial clues on identification of catabolic intermediates of acephate formed at different time intervals.

While following the first approach, acephate degradation products were extracted from a mid log phase culture of *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* grown in minimal medium supplemented using acephate as source of carbon. The extracted metabolites were then analyzed both in GC-MS and LC-MS. Before analyzing acephate degradation products the parent compound and its mass spectrum was generated using GC-MS. As shown in Fig 4.1A the parent compound was detected at the retention time 13. 8 minutes with a characteristic mass pattern shown in Fig. 4.1B. After analyzing the parent compounds the extracts prepared from the medium were analyzed using GC-MS by keeping the conditions described in materials and methods section. In a typical chromatogram two characteristic peaks were obtained in addition to the peak that corresponds to parent compound acephate.



Fig. 4.1. Panel A shows gas chromatogram showing single peak of acephate with retention time 13.8 min. Panel B shows mass spectrum of acephate showing the presence of acephate with molecular mass 183.

One of them was found at the retention time 12.0 minutes (Fig 4.2 A). As it is new and prominent, a mass spectrum was generated for this peak. Its mass spectrum perfectly matched with the mass spectrum generated for the authentic methamidophos obtained from Sigma-Aldrich and used as standard. As shown in Fig 4.2 B, the major molecular ion [M⁺] at m/z 141, perfectly coincided with the mass of methamidophos. Even, the other major fragmentation ions were found to be identical when compared to the mass spectrum of authentic methamidophos.



Fig. 4.2. Panel A shows gas chromatogram showing single peak of methamidophos with retention time 12.0 min. Panel B shows mass spectrum of methamidophos showing the presence of methamidophos with molecular mass 141.

Similarly the second characteristic peak was seen at retention time of 4.3 min (Fig 4.3 A). In its mass spectrum a molecular ion $[M^+]$ at m/z 60 perfectly coincided with the mass of acetic acid (Fig 4.3 B).



Fig. 4.3. Panel A shows gas chromatogram showing a single peak of acetic acid with retention time 4.3 min. Panel B shows mass spectrum of acetic acid showing the presence of acetic acid with molecular mass 60.

Identification of these two prominent compounds in the spent medium clearly indicates that acephate is hydrolyzed to form methamidophos and acetate. If the structure of acephate is examined methamidophos and acetate are linked together through an amide linkage. If formation of acetate and methamidophos are taken as any indication, it would clearly suggests that the amide linkage which keeps these two moieties together in acephate, is hydrolyzed through existence of a novel amidase found it *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* (Fig 4.4). However, the other metabolites of methamidophos were not detected in GC-MS. This may be due to high solubility of methamidophos degradation products in water. In order to overcome such problem LC-MS was employed.



Fig. 4.4 Hydrolysis of acephate to methamidophos and acetic acid by *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*.

4.2. Identification of Catabolic intermediates of acephate by LC-MS analysis

While employing LC-MS for identification of metabolites of acephate and methamidophos resting cells were prepared to obtain acephate grown *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* in various cell densities. While varying the cell densities in each assay mixture, the acephate concentration and incubation time were kept constant. Each resting cell preparation was incubated with 10 mM acephate for 15 min with shaking at 200 rpm. After incubation, cells were pelleted and the supernatant was directly taken for LC-MS analysis. Before analyzing the acephate metabolites formed during incubation the parent compounds acephate and methamidophos were analyzed and their retention times were recorded. These two parent compounds have appeared in the chromatogram at retention time's 6.2 and 4.3 min (Fig 4.5 & 4.6). After standardization, the metabolites formed in resting cells were analyzed. As expected two characteristic peaks that match both in retention time and mass spectrum of acephate and methamidophos were detected. This observation reinforces the data generated by GC-MS study and rather confirms that the initial step of acephate degradation is due to cleavage of amide linkage, probably due to existence of novel amidase in *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*.



Fig. 4.5. Panel A shows liquid chromatogram showing single peak of acephate at retention time 6.2 min Panel B shows mass spectrum of acephate showing molecular mass as 184.



Fig. 4.6. Panel A shows the liquid chromatogram showing single peak of methamidophos with retention time 4.2 min. Panel B shows mass spectrum of methamidophos showing molecular mass as 142.

Further, formation and disappearance of these two peaks followed very characteristic pattern. Either with increase in cell density or with the increase of time the acephate concentration has gone down leading the increase in the peak height of methamidophos. With the further increase of time the methamidophos peak disappeared, suggesting that the methamidophos is being either used as source of carbon or further metabolized (Fig 4.7).



Fig. 4.7. Cell density dependent degradation of acephate. Formation of methamidophos is seen at retention time 4.3 min within 15 min of incubation at 30°C. Progressive disappearance of acephate is seen in liquid chromatograms obtained from the reaction mixtures incubated with different cell densities. Similar pattern is obtained with increase in incubation time.

After detecting disappearance of methamidophos an attempt was also made to detect its metabolites. As methamidophos degradation products lack detectable absorbance in UV range, they were measured in mass spectrometry.

Detection of desmethyl methamidophos

A stated before, either increase of incubation time or increase in cell density has contributed to decrease of acephate concentration and methamidophos formation. When acephate was completely degraded, methamidophos started receding with the formation of its degradation products. A mass peak corresponding to molecular ion $[M^+]$ at m/z 126, which is characteristic pattern of desmethyl methamidophos appeared at retention time 2.8 min (Fig 4.8), suggesting that methamidophos is further dealkylated to generate desmethyl methamidophos.



Fig. 4.8. Panel A shows the mass spectrum of desmethyl methamidophos showing the molecular mass 126. The peak in chromatogram appeared at 2.8 min. Panel B shows formation of desmethyl methamidophos from methamidophos through dealkylation during degradation process.

Similarly another characteristic mass peak with a molecular ion $[M^+]$ at m/z 112 corresponding to *o*-methyl phosphoramidate, appeared at retention time 2.62 min (Fig 4.9), which further reiterates existence of typical dealkylation process during stepwise degradation of methamidophos. Further, the formation of phosphoramidate from *o*-

methyl phosphoramidate, is evident from the appearance of the characteristic mass peak at retention time 2.7 min with a molecular ion $[M^+]$ at m/z 98.9 (Fig 4.10).



Fig. 4.9. Panel A shows the mass spectrum of *o*-methyl phosphoramidate showing the molecular mass 112. The peak in chromatogram appeared at 2.62 min. Panel B shows the chemical reaction indicating the formation of *o*-methyl phosphoramidate from desmethyl methamidophos through oxidation reaction.



Fig. 4.10. Panel A shows the mass spectrum of phosphoramidate showing the molecular mass 98.9. The phosphoramidate peak appeared at retention time of 2.7 min. Panel B shows chemical reaction indicating formation of phosphoramidate from *o*-methyl phosphoramidate through dealkylation reaction.

Based on the above mass spectrophotometric data a step wise degradation of acephate is shown in Fig. 4.11. If the figure drawn based on the formation of metabolites of acephate and methamidophos is taken into consideration it clearly suggests that the acephate is degraded due to initial hydrolysis of amide linkage leading to the formation of acetate and methamidophos. Methamidophos thus generated was further metabolized by the *P. jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* either through dealkylation or oxidation process. Formation of desmethyl methamidophos

via dealkylation of methamidophos and its oxidation to form *o*-methyl phosphoramidate is indicative of exiting dedicated enzymatic machinery in *P*. *jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* for mineralization of acephate. Further formation of phosphoramidate from *o*-methyl phosphoramidate is an indication of prominent dealkylation process in mineralization of acephate. Using the mass spectrophotometric data a putative pathway is proposed for degradation of acephate found in *P. jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* (Fig 4.11).



Fig. 4.11. Putative acephate degradation pathway in *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*.

4.3. Discussion

Microbes have been shown to degrade a number of recalcitrant and toxic compounds found in the environment as pollutants. While thriving on these toxic

compounds, they clear the environment and hence these eco-friendly bacterial strains are optly called as 'Bioscavengers'. While scavenging the toxic wastes microbes adapt variety of strategies. Based on the degradation mechanism followed, the process of biodegradation is classified into four broad categories (Kumar et al., 1996). Out of these four types, mineralization, a process that leads for complete degradation resulting in mineralization of compound to carbondioxide or methane, is one of the best methods of biodegradation. Microbes that contribute for mineralization of recalcitrant and toxic compounds are the best candidates to be involved in bioremediation process (Singh et al., 1999). In certain cases microbes just degrade toxic residues rendering them non-toxic compounds. But neither parent compounds nor their metabolites are used as carbon source. The process known as detoxification is often useful for converting toxic residues to non-toxic residues (Kumar et al., 1996). Though they are useful for detoxification they are not the preferred candidate organisms for the development of bioremediation tools, as they contribute for accumulation of byproducts. In contrast to these two processes some microorganisms bring about degradation of recalcitrant compounds only while growing on other compounds through a process known as cometabolism (Kumar et al., 1996). They are useful only to certain extent while performing cleanup operation. The fourth category while metabolizing recalcitrant compounds generate and contribute for accumulation of toxic metabolites (Singh et al., 1999). The process, well known as activation, is very dangerous and such microbe have naturally no place while developing bioremediation tools.

A number of biochemical pathways and reactions for microbial degradation of pesticides have been reported. Hydrolases and oxygenases are the two most important

classes of enzyme that are involved in catalyzing the conversion of op-pesticides. Hydrolases include esterases, and amidases. These groups do not require cofactors and are stable in a wide range of pHs and temperatures. Examples are: (1) esterases like parathion hydrolase attack phosphotriester bonds of organophosphates, and (2) amidases hydrolyze amide bonds existing in certain classes of op compounds (Singh et al., 1999). These two classes of microbial enzymes contribute only for detoxification of op compounds by rendering them incapable of inhibiting acetylcholinesterases.

In the degradation of organophosphates like parathion, methyl parathion and paraoxon the initial reaction is hydrolytic reaction leading to formation of *p*nitrophenol. To achieve complete mineralization, *p*-nitrophenol has to undergo further degradation. Oxygenases play a prominent role in the degradation of aromatic compounds like *p*-nitrophenol. Hence oxygenases in combination with above mentioned hydrolases are needed to achieve complete mineralization of op compounds. Unlike esterases, oxygenases depend on cofactors and molecular oxygen for activity and hence are less stable than hydrolases. These complex enzymes are further divided into two subgroups: (1) monooxygenases require reduced pyridine nucleotides as cofactors; and (2) dioxygenases do not require a reduced compound as a cofactor. A combined action of these two enzymes is infact essential for complete mineralization of op compounds. In the absence of oxygenases, if only hydrolases are there, they would rather contribute either for detoxification process or for activation.

Several studies have documented involvement of soil microorganisms in the degradation of op compounds. In most of the degradation studies, growth experiments have served as bench marks for generating preliminary data pertaining to the

metabolism of a recalcitrant compound. Usage of organophosphates as source of carbon is not uncommon in literature. Way back in 1973, Sethunathan and Yoshida (1973) have reported isolation of *Flavobacterium* strain ATCC 27551 which utilized diazinon as a sole source of carbon. Further, hydrolysis of parathion and utilization of its hydrolytic product *p*-nitrophenol as a carbon and nitrogen source by a *Pseudomonas* sp. was also reported (Siddaramappa et al., 1973). Rosenberg & Alexander have isolated *Pseudomonas* sp. which used a number of op compounds as source of phosphate (Rosenberg and Alexander, 1979).

Organophosphorus compounds being esters, they have many vulnerable sites and are potentially hydrolyzable. Degradation of organophosphate pesticides is generally faster than that of organochlorines. Microbial degradation through hydrolysis of P-O- alkyl and P-O-aryl bonds is considered the most significant step in the detoxification of organophosphorus compounds. The principal reactions involved in organophosphates metabolism are hydrolysis, oxidation, alkylation, and dealkylation.

Hydrolysis is the important and initial step in the degradation of organophosphates which is catalyzed by a hydrolase enzyme. Hydrolysis of OP compounds reduces their mammalian toxicity by several orders of magnitude (Singh and Walker, 2006). Examples for hydrolysis of organophosphates include hydrolysis of parathion to *p*-nitrophenol and diethylthiophosphoric acid, conversion of methyl parathion to *p*-nitrophenol and dimethylthiosphosphoric acid (Sethunathan and Yoshida, 1973; Siddaramappa et al., 1973; Chaudhry et al., 1988; Pakala et al., 2007). The enzyme catalyzing this hydrolysis step is an esterase known as Organophosphate hydrolase (OPH).

4.3a. Organophosphate degrading enzymes

degrading Several op soil bacteria possess highly conserved а organophosphate degrading gene (opd) which encodes organophosphate hydrolase (OPH). As OPH catalyzes hydrolysis of triester linkage present in structurally diverse group of organophosphates is also known as phosphotriesterase (PTE). The OPH is a dimer of two identical subunits that contain 336 amino acid residues and have a molecular mass of ~72 kDa (Raushel, 2002). It has a broad substrate specificity and can hydrolyse P–O, P–F and P–S bonds, but with different efficiencies (Efremenko and Sergeeva, 2001). The OPHs show structural resemblance with members of the amidohydrolase superfamily like urease, dihydroorotase and adenosine deaminase. Alignment and superimposition studies of three-dimensional structures of these enzymes revealed a striking structural similarity consisting of an ellipsoidal $(\beta \alpha)_8$ barrel with a conserved metal binding site at the C-terminal end of strands β 1, β 5, β 6, and $\beta 8$. The active site residues like four histidine residues, one aspartic acid residue and metal ligands are strictly conserved in the three enzyme families. Though the protein-scaffold and key active-site residues of these enzymes are conserved, the substrate specificity and reaction mechanisms of different family members vary due to differences in the sequence and length of the β - or α -loops, particularly in loops one, seven and eight which contribute for substrate-binding (Raushel, 2000). In view of such structural and catalytic relationship, the members of triesterases such as OPHs have been proposed to have evolved from amidohydrolase superfamily of proteins, through divergent evolution (Holm and Sander, 1997).

Recent reports have shown the isolation of several enzymes that are involved in op degradation but share less or no homology with OPH. These enzymes include

OPDA from Agrobacterium radiobacter (Horne et al., 2002), MPH from Pseudomonas sp. WBC-3 (Dong et al., 2005) and OPAA from Alteromonas haloplanktis (Cheng et al., 1993). Even though OPH and OPDA shares 90% homology they differ with each other due to presence of 20 amino acid tail at the carboxy terminus of OPDA. In addition to these two known classes, a third category of op hydrolyzing enzymes have been discovered in microbes isolated from Chinese agricultural soils. They are named as methyl parathion hydrolases (MPH) and the gene coding the MPH is designated as methyl parathion degrading (mpd) gene. The mpd gene shown no homology either with the well known opd gene or with opdA isolated from Agrobacterium radiobacter (Horne et al., 2002). Such an observation prompts to propose an independent evolution of op compound degrading triats in bacteria. Supporting this hypothesis, the *mpds* have been shown to have structural similarities with the members of β -lactamases super family of proteins (Fig. 4.12). The Ophc2 (Chu et al., 2006) and ophB (Tago, 2006) which are isolated from Pseudomonas pseudoalcaligenes and Burkholderia sp. NF100, despite of showing considerable diversity, have clustered with mpd genes. However, the dendrogram constructed for opd sequences collected from NCBI database has shown very significant distance between mpd and opd genes. Interestingly, the opaA genes isolated from Alteromonas haloplanktis (Cheng et al., 1997) and Alteromonas sp. are very distantly related to both *mpd* and *opd* genes. Such diversity among organophosphate hydrolyzing enzymes speaks of divergent evolution.



Fig. 4.12. Phylogenetic tree constructed from organophosphorus-degrading gene sequences. The tree was compiled using the sequences that were available in the NCBI database. Distinct groups that correspond to different genes, such as the *mpd* (methyl parathion degrading), *opd* (organophosphorus degrading) and *opaA* (organophosphorus acid anhydrolase) genes are easily delineated (shown in different colours). The tree was constructed using a neighbour-joining method and Mega4 software. All major nodes are supported by a bootstrap value of >50%. The scale bar represents the number of expected changes per site. The locus tags are provided for each gene followed by the species name in brackets (Singh, 2008).

4.3b. Oxygenases

In number of cases, the organophosphate hydrolase mediated hydrolytic cleavage of op compounds generates nitrophenols. Detailed degradation pathways are given in Introduction section. The reviewer may kindly refer the introduction section for gaining more information. The bacterial strains having ability to mineralize these classes of op compounds have been shown to possess several oxygenases, in addition to the existence of op hydrolyzing enzymes. Degradation of *p*-nitrophenol was catalyzed by either single component monooxygenase (gram-negative bacteria) or two component monooxygenase (gram-positive bacteria) (Kadiyala and Spain, 1998; Kitagawa et al., 2004). In Bacillus sphaericus existence of a novel monooxygenase was reported to catalyze the first two steps of *p*-nitrophenol degradation via formation of *p*-nitrocatechol and benzenetriol (Kadiyala and Spain, 1998). This enzyme consists of two components, a reductase and oxygenase, and catalyzes two sequential monooxygenation reactions that convert *p*-nitrophenol to benzenetriol. The first oxygenation results in conversion of *p*-nitrophenol to *p*-nitrocatechol while the second removes the nitro group from para positon (Kadiyala & Spain, 1998). The oxygenases invariably contain NADH/ NAD (P) H/ FADH as co-factor (Kadiyala and Spain, 1988; Spain et al., 1979; Mitra and Vidyanathan, 1984). Several other reports have also been shown, the involvement of monooxygenase in the degradation of pnitrophenol (Spain and Gibson, 1991; Jain et al., 1994; Pakala et al., 2007; Lynda and Zylstra, 2007). The benzenetriol formed is directly converted to maleylacetate by means of a dioxygenase, known as benzenetriol dioxygenase (Jain et al., 1994; Bhushan et al., 2000a; Chauhan et al., 2000).

The other principal reaction involved in degradation of organophosphates is dealkylation. The general structure of organophosphate shows two R groups which are substituted with alkyl or aryl groups. Hence in the complete degradation of organophosphates, dealkylation step is necessary. Dealkylation mainly removes the alkyl groups like methyl, ethyl groups present in the OP compounds. The methyl and ethyl groups present in the organophosphates methyl parathion and parathion are

removed by hydrolysis reaction and released as DMTP (dimethyl thiophosphate) and DETP (diethyl thiophosphate).

Acephate is one of the prominent op compound used as insecticide all over the world. Its recalcitrancy is shown to be due to its resistance to OPH hydrolysis. To the best of our knowledge, there are no reports on degradation of acephate. However, few studies are available on microbial degradation of methamidophos, the degradation product of acephate. (Xiao and Wang 1995; Li et al., 1999; Liu and Zhong 1999; Chao et al. 1999, 2000; Liu et al., 2001; Wu et al. 2005; Zheng et al. 2006).

In the previous chapter, we have reported isolation and characterization of a new isolate *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* that thrives on acephate and its principal metabolite methamidophos. The elucidated degradation pathway of acephate in *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* clearly shows that acephate degradation is initiated through hydrolysis of amide linkage. This step appears to be catalyzed by an amidohydrolase, as amidohydrolases are known to hydrolyze the amide linkage (CO-NH). Formation of acetate and methamidophos, immediately after the addition of acephate to the resting cells supports the prediction of existence of amidohydrolase in *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*.

In general, microbial amidases are mostly involved in the detoxification of industrial effluents containing toxic amides such as acrylamide or formamide (Andrade et al., 2007). Additionally, immobilized amidase can be used efficiently for production of acrylic acid from acrylamide, thus converting a toxic ambient contaminant into widely used industrial raw material (Babu et al., 1995; Nawaz and Chapatwala, 1991; Nawaz et al., 1991). The unusual catalytic properties of amidases such as thermo stability, catalytic activity, enantioselectivity, and substrate specificity make them most preferred candidate enzymes in industrial applications. Microbial amidases are a class of enzymes that have potential value for the development of commercial bioprocesses (Banerjee et al., 2002). Further characterization of amidohydrolase involved in the initial hydrolysis of acephate probably contribute for understanding on biodegradation of acephate, besides adding yet another novel amidohydrolase for industrial application. Efforts in this direction are in good progress in our laboratory.

Recently Li and his associates (2009) have reported the complete degradation of methamidophos and the degradation pathway proposed by them is shown in Fig. 4.13. If the proposed pathway is examined, *Hyphomicrobium* species MAP-1 hydrolyzed methamidophos via deamination step generating O, S - dimethyl hydrogen thiophosphate. In *Hyphomicrobium* species MAP-1, O, S - dimethyl hydrogen thiophosphate proceeded through hydrolytic cleavage generating either O – methyl dihydrogen thiophosphate or S – methyl dihydrogen thiophosphate. It's not clear which one of these two is formed first. Finally the two metabolites generate inorganic phosphate through one more round of dealkylation process (Fig.4.13, Panel A).

The situation in *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* is totally different. After generating methamidophos from acephate it has undergone dealkylation process generating desmethyl methamidophos, *o*-methyl phosphoramidate and phosphoramidate. Further conversion of phosphoramidate into inorganic phosphate and ammonia is not seen though methods employed in this study (Fig. 4.13, Panel B). However, looking at the facts that *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* thrive on acephate using it as source of carbon, nitrogen and sulfur, existence of a final deamination step in this organism cannot be ruled out.



Fig. 4.13. Degradation of methamidophos as reported in *Hyphomicrobium* species MAP-1 (Panel A) and in *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* (Panel B).

Dealkylation of insecticidal organophosphate triesters is a general process of detoxification occurring in mammals, insects, plants and microorganisms. The dealkylation process significantly reduces the toxicity of organophosphates (Hollingworth, 1969). The major enzymes involved in this dealkylation process are cytochrome P450 and GST (Glutathione – S - Transferase). The major site for detoxification in mammals is liver. Glutathione S- transferases (GSTs) belong to a super gene family of enzymes whose main function is to catalyze the conjugation of a diverse array of electrophilic compounds with glutathione (Eaton and Bammler, 1999). Conjugation reactions with glutathione have been suggested as an important pathway of contaminant transformation, particularly in the pesticide literature (Field and Thurman, 1996). The presence of glutathione and glutathione S- transferase enzymes in microorganisms suggests that the transformation of electrophilic

chemicals by glutathione conjugation may commonly occur in natural waters and in terrestrial environments. Glutathione reactions with electrophilic chemicals are catalyzed by glutathione *S*-transferase enzymes. Glutathione *S*-transferase enzymes are present in most organisms, including plants, animals, protozoa, fungi, and bacteria (Lamoureux and Bakke, 1984).

In plants the process of dealkylation of methyl parathion proceeds via *N*-dealkylation where as in animals and in microbes it proceeds via *O*-deakylation. In insects, studies suggest that GSTs play an important role in resistance against several classes of insecticides including OPs (Syvanen *et al.*, 1996; Wei *et al.*, 2001). Methyl parathion (MeP), a widely used OP insecticide, is biotransformed via a glutathione dependent pathway in rat and mouse liver fractions (Clark *et al.*, 1973; Benke *et al.*, 1974; Benke and Murphy, 1975; Fukami, 1980).

Recently in our laboratory, we have observed elevation of GST levels when the *Acinetobacter* sp. DS004 was grown in presence of organophosphate methyl parathion. Reasons for such induction and their role in biotransformation of methyl parathion are being examined. As there are number of dealkylation steps in degradation of methamidophos, we suggest existence of novel GSTs in *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* that play a critical role in dealkylation of methamidophos.

4.4. Conclusions

1. Acephate degradation in *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* proceeded via hydrolysis of the amide bond to give acetic acid and

methamidophos. This reaction is probably catalyzed by a novel amidohydrolase.

- 2. GC-MS analysis has clearly shown the formation of acetic acid and methamidophos from acephate.
- 3. Methamidophos is further degraded through dealkylation and oxidation. LC-MS studies have clearly demonstrated formation of desmethyl methamidophos, *o*-methyl phosphoramidate and phosphoramidate.
- 4. A novel putative degradation pathway involved in degradation of acephate is proposed in *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*.

Results and Discussion Chapter III

The basic objective of the study is to isolate a bacterial strain that can mineralize acephate, which is resistant to hydrolytic cleavage of organophosphate hydrolase (OPH). In the first and second chapters the work related to the isolation of acephate degrading bacterium and pathway involved in degradation of acephate has been described. Based on the systematic study described in the first chapter, the new isolate is identified as *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*. Degradation of acephate through initial hydrolysis of amide linkage has been established through detection of acephate and methamidophos using GC-MS and LC-MS. Further metabolism of methamidophos is shown through detection of desmethyl methamidophos, o-methyl phosphoramidate and phosphoramidate. In a way results presented in chapter II have demonstrated the strains capability to thrive on acephate using as source of carbon and nitrogen and sulfur. Most of organophosphate degrading bacteria, though enriched using a particular type of op compound, have degraded other op compounds especially by hydrolyzing ester linkages. This has been possible due to existence of phosphotriesterases, coded by structurally similar opd genes among these bacterial strains. Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus is isolated from the activated sludge collected from a pesticide manufacturing company. This company makes variety of op compounds and hence their residues are expected to exist in the sludge. A bacterial strain isolated from such environment is also expected to have innate ability to degrade or to thrive on other op compounds. It is therefore tested to know if *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype acephalyticus can use other op compounds as source of carbon or possess the ability to hydrolyze prominent op compounds. The current chapter describes experimental strategies used to test the

hypothesis and to manipulate *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* for degradation of wider range of op compounds.

5.1. Organophosphates other than acephate as carbon source

The minimal media prepared as described in materials and methods section was supplemented with prominently used organophosphate insecticides, methyl parathion, monocrotophos, phosalone and ethion respectively and inoculated with the overnight cultures of acephate grown Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus culture. The inoculated flasks were incubated at 30°C and the growth of the bacterium was observed for 24 hours. No increase in the cell density was seen even after incubating the culture for more than 48 hours. This clearly shows that the *P. jinjuensis* biotype acephalyticus has no capability to utilize organophosphates other than acephate as carbon sources. As stated in earlier sections a number of bacterial isolates that are involved in degradation of organophosphate compounds possess a highly conserved plasmid borne organophosphate degrading gene (*opd*) (Serdar et al., 1982; Mulbry et al., 1987). The organophosphate hydrolase (OPH), the product of opd gene is found to be responsible for degradation of op compounds. In number of cases, the op compound degrading bacterial strains failed to grow using them as sole source of carbon suggesting that the mere degradation capability doesn't confirm the strains ability to grow on op compounds. In such a situation assaying for OPH activity and looking for existence of opd gene is a better and viable option. Hence Pseudomonas *jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* is used to test OPH activity and presence of *opd* gene.

5.2. Amplification of opd gene from Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus

Based on the published sequences of *opd* gene from different sources (Serdar and Gibson, 1985; Mulbry et al., 1986; McDaniel et al., 1988; Mulbry and Karns, 1989), oligonucleotides were designed taking the conserved internal sequences of *opd* gene and used as primers. The *opd* gene was amplified using genomic DNA isolated from *E. coli*, *B.diminuta* and *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*. A 20 mer oligo with a sequence of 5' GAAGCGGGTGCCACACTGAC 3', was used as forward primer. Similarly a 25 mer oligo with a sequence of 5' GTCGGGGTTCACAGAATCCATCACG 3' has served as reverse primer. After completion of the PCR reaction, the reaction mixture was analyzed by agarose gel electrophoresis (Fig.5.1).



Fig. 5.1. Lane 1 represents 1 Kb DNA ladder; lane 2, 3 and 4 represents PCR reaction mix containing genomic DNA of *E.coli, Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus* and *Brevundimonas diminuta*. Amplification of 1.0 Kb *opd* gene is shown with arrow mark.

As shown in Fig. 5.1 the 1.0 kb PCR product is seen only in the lane loaded with the PCR mixture obtained using genomic DNA of *Brevundimonas diminuta* which served as positive control. There was no such amplicon in the reaction mixture containing genomic DNAs of *E. coli* and *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype

acephalyticus. This result clearly demonstrates that the opd gene is not present in *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype acephalyticus.

5.3. OPH assay

A number of microorganisms have been reported for microbial degradation of organophosphates especially parathion and methyl parathion (Sethunathan and Yoshida, 1973; Serdar et al., 1982; Chaudhry et al., 1988; Singh, 2008). In most of the cases, the initial hydrolytic step that inactivates op compounds was catalyzed by a triesterase also known an as organophosphorus hydrolase (OPH) or parathion hydrolase (Brown, 1980; Serdar et al., 1982; Mulbry and Karns, 1989). However, recently a number of reports have come showing organophosphate hydrolyzing (OPH) enzymes that are coded by opd genes that share no homology with the well characterized opd gene (Cheng et al., 1996, 1997; Zhongli et al., 2001). Based on these observations an independent evolution of *opd* gene is proposed. If less conserved or altogether new opd gene is present in P. jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus, PCR amplification, using primers designed based on the *P. diminuta* opd gene, is not a correct approach. Therefore, OPH activity was assayed using methyl parathion as substrate. The cell lysate prepared from P. jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus, Brevundimonas diminuta and E.coli were used as enzyme source. The OPH assay was performed by following the protocols described in materials and methods section. The enzyme activity was observed only in reaction tube where cell lysate of *Brevundimonas diminuta* was used as enzyme source, which apparently served as positive control. No OPH activity was observed with the cell lysate prepared from E.coli and Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus which served as

negative control and test respectively (Fig. 5.2). If PCR data is seen together with OPH activity, it clearly shows non-existence of organophosphate degrading (*opd*) gene in *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*.





OPH hydrolyses structurally diverse organophosphorus compounds including those present in nerve gas agents such as sarin and soman (Benning et al., 1994; Cho et al., 2004). The OPH is a homodimer having monomer with a binuclear metal center weighing approximately 36 kDa (Donarski et al., 1989). Though OPH is capable of hydrolyzing P-O, P-F, P-CN and P-S bonds, existing in structurally diverse organophosphates, it shows very weak activity towards P-S bond hydrolysis. Hence the op compounds like acephate, which contains P-S bond, will act as poor substrates for OPH. It is precisely for this reason an attempt is made to manipulate, *P. jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* which has innate capability to thrive on acephate, by expressing OPH both in membrane and cytoplasmic fractions. Such manipulated strain is expected to acquire the ability to degrade wide range of op compounds besides its ability to thrive on acephate.

While attempting to perform genetic manipulation of *P. jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* three strategies were followed. In the first strategy the *opd* gene was cloned with its native promoter to know if its native promoter is recognized by *P. jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*. The second strategy is to direct the OPH to the periplasmic face of *P. jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* inner membrane by expressing it with its signal peptide. The third strategy is designed to clone the *opd* gene without its signal coding region. Such *opd* variant is expected to code for a mature form of OPH (mOPH), which is expected to stay in cytoplasm. All three strategies used in the present study are shown in Fig.5.3.



Fig. 5.3. Pane A shows strategies used to clone the *opd* gene in to *P. jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*. Panel B represents amino acid sequence of OPH. Signal peptide sequence was shown in red letters. Signal peptide cleavage site is shown with arrow mark.

5.4. Construction of expression plasmids

Based on the aforementioned experiments, the absence of OPH in Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus is evident. If OPH is successfully expressed in *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* it would add hydrolyzing ability of structurally diverse group of op compounds to the strain's innate ability of mineralizing acephate. The present chapter describes strategies used to express OPH in Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus. To express opd gene in P. jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus conventional vectors used to achieve heterologous expression of cloned genes in E. coli are not suitable. Therefore a broad host range mobilizable expression vector pMMB206 (Morales et al., 1991) is selected for expressing opd gene in P. *jinjuensis* biotype acephalyticus. However, pMMB 206 has chloramphenicol resistance marker and it can't be used to mobilize into chloramphenicol resistant P. jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus. Therefore the pMMB206 backbone was manipulated by replacing the chloramphenicol resistant gene with a kanamycin resistant marker taken from pUC4 (Mazodier et al., 1985). The chloramphenicol resistant marker from pMMB206 was excised from pMMB206 by digesting the vector with DraI and a kanamycin marker from pUC4, obtained as SmaI fragment was cloned in pMMB206. The resulting expression vector is designated as pMMBKM206 and used as vector to clone and express opd gene and its variants in *P. jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*. (Fig. 5. 4)



Fig. 5.4. Construction of expression vector pMMBKM.

5.41. Expression of *opd* gene with its native promoter

The expression plasmid pMMBKMOPD was constructed by cloning the *opd* gene taken as *Bam*HI fragment available in pSS15 (Siddavattam et al., 2006) in pMMBKM206. A detailed strategy used to construct pMMBKMOPD is shown in Fig.5.5. In the expression plasmid pMMBKMOPD, the *opd* gene contains its native promoter. The 1.5 kb *Bam*HI fragment not only contain *opd* gene it also contains transcriptional terminator sequence of *ist*B gene upstream of the *opd* promoter. Therefore the transcription initiated from vector specific *lac*UV5 promoter is

AleemBasha, Ph.D. Thesis, 2010

Chapter III

terminated before reaching the *opd* gene and hence if expression of OPH is seen it got to be solely from the native promoter of *opd* gene (Fig.5.5).



Fig. 5.5. Cloning strategy used to clone *opd* with its native promoter. Panel A indicates organization of *opd* gene cluster. The terminator sequences of *ist* B and *opd* genes are shown with inverted arrows. Panel B shows cloning of *opd* gene as *Bam* HI fragment.

5.42. Expression of OPH in the inner membrane of *P. jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*

In our previous studies our lab has shown that OPH is a Tat substrate and it targets the periplasmic space of the inner membrane in a prefolded state (Gorla et al, 2009). If *opd* gene is cloned with its signal sequence, it's expected to direct the OPH to the periplasmic space. Our lab has generated expression plasmid pHYS400 to
express precursor form of OPH in *E.coli* with C-terminal his tag (Siddavattam et al., 2006). This plasmid is used as source and *opd* gene is amplified by designing vector specific primers taking the sequences found upstream of ribosomal binding site and downstream of transcriptional terminator sequence. An EcoRI site was included in the forward primer (5'GGGAGACCACAACGAA TTCCCTCTAGAAA3'), whereas a **BamHI** is included in the reverse primer (5'GCTCAGCGGATCCAGCAGCCAACTCAGC3'). Inclusion of these restriction sites facilitates cloning of the ORF of opd gene containing vector pET23b specific ribosomal binding site and transcription terminator sequence under the control of ptac lacUV5 promoter of expression vector pMMBKM. The cloning strategy followed to generate pHLCKMOPD is shown in Fig. 5.6. As the expression plasmid pHLCKMOPD contains pMMB206 vector backbone, it can be mobilized into *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* by following conventional conjugation protocols (Simon et al., 1983). Further the localization of OPH can be monitored by performing anti-His antibodies as it has C-terminal his-tag.

5.43. Expression of cytoplasmic OPH in *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*

An identical strategy followed to construct pHLCKMOPD was used for constructing expression plasmid coding for OPH without signal peptide (mOPH), except that the plasmid pHNS400 (Pandey et al., 2009) was used as a template. In the plasmid pHNS400, the *opd* gene without signal sequence was cloned as *Nde*I and *Xho*I fragment. The 3' end of the *opd* gene was altered in such a way that the stop codon was mutated to fuse with the vector encoded sequences that ensures addition of

a 6x His-tag immediately after opd coding sequences. This pHNS400 plasmid was used as a template to amplify opd gene along with ribosomal binding site and the region that specifies his-tag by using the vector specific forward (5'GGGAGACCACAACGAATTCCCTCTAGAAA3') and primer reverse (5'GCTCAGCGGATCCAG CAGCCAACTCAGC3') having EcoRI and BamHI respectively. The amplicon was then cloned as EcoRI and BamHI fragment in pMMBKM to keep the opd gene under the control of lacUV5 promoter and the resulting plasmid was designated as pHNSKMOPD (Fig.5.6).



Fig. 5.6. Strategy used for construction of expression plasmids coding precursor (preOPH) and mature (mOPH) forms of OPH with C-terminal his-tags.

5.5. Mobilization of expression plasmids into *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*

The expression plasmids pMMBKMOPD, pHLCKMOPD and pHNSKMOPD were mobilized into *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* by conjugation (Simon et al., 1983) experiments. The expression plasmids pMMBKMOPD, pHLCKMOPD and pHNSKMOPD were first independently transformed into *E.coli* S17.1 which serves as conjugal donors for the transfer of the plasmids to the recipient *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*. The conjugation experiments were performed following the protocols described in materials and methods section. The exconjugants were selected on chloramphenicol (30 µg/ml) and kanamycin (100 µg/ml) plates. Strategy used for mobilization of expression plasmids is shown in Fig.5.7.



Fig. 5.7. Mobilization of expression plasmids into *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* by conjugation.

5.6. Screening of exconjugants for the presence of expression plasmids

5.61. Growth on acephate kanamycin plates: The purity of the exconjugants was checked by growing the cells on acephate, kanamycin plates. All the three exconjugants have grown very well on both acephate/kanamycin plates indicating presence of expression plasmid in *P*.*jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*. No such growth was recorded in the wild type *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*. (Fig.5.8).





5.62. Colony PCR using *opd* specific primers: After establishing growth properties of exconjugants single colonies developed on kanamycin and acephate plates were used to perform colony PCR using *opd* specific primers. There was a clear amplification of *opd* gene in exconjugants and no such amplification is seen in wild type cells. These results reinforce the growth behaviour of exconjugants and confirm existence of expression plasmids containing *opd* variants in *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* (Fig.5.9).



Fig. 5.9. Colony PCR showing the existence and stable maintenance of expression plasmids pMMBKMOPD, pHLCKMOPD and pHNSKMOPD in *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*. In Panel A Lane 1 kb ladder, lanes 2 represent exconjugants of *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* containing pMMBKMOPD. Panel B, Lane 1 kb ladder, lane 2 represent exconjugants containing expression plasmid pHLCKMOPD. Panel C, Lane 1 kb ladder, lane 2 represents exconjugants containing expression plasmid pHNSKMOPD.

5.7. Expression of OPH in *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype acephalyticus

The exconjugants containing pMMBKMOPD contain *opd* gene with its native promoter. Therefore there is no need to induce the cultures following conventional methods. The mid log phase cultures of *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* (pMMBKMOPD) were directly used to fractionate the cells and to obtain membrane and cytoplasmic fractions. However, the cells containing pHLCKMOPD and PHLNSKMOPD were induced by conventional methods described in materials and methods section. The cultures expressing *opd* variants were taken to prepare cytoplasmic and membrane fractions and these fractions were further used to assay for OPH activity and to analyze for existence of precursor and mature forms of OPH through western blots.

5.71. Expression of opd gene with native promoter

While assessing the expression of *opd* gene using its own promoter two strategies was followed. Fist strategy was to assay OPH activity in whole cell extracts and sub-cellular fractions. As shown in Fig. 5.10 there was no OPH activity in exconjugants containing pMMBKMOPD suggesting that the *opd* gene when cloned with its native promoter is not expressed in *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* (Fig.5.10). To rule out the possibility of having inactive OPH, protein gels were prepared for the subcellular extracts and western blots performed using anti-OPH antibodies. Western blots failed to give OPH specific signals confirming the lack of expression of OPH in exconjugants having expression plasmid pMMBKMOPD (Fig.5.11).



Fig. 5.10. OPH activity in subcellular fractions. The bar diagram represents OPH activity obtained in cytoplasmic and membrane fractions prepared from *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* (pMMBKMOPD).



Fig. 5.11. Subcellular localization of OPH in *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* (pMMBKMOPD). Panel A) SDS-PAGE analysis of subcellular fractions. Panel B represents corresponding western blots performed using OPH antibodies to detect OPH. Lanes 2 and 3 represent protein extracts prepared from cytoplasmic and membrane fractions of wild type *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*. Lanes 4 and 5 represent similar extracts prepared from strains containing expression plasmid pMMBKMOPD. Partially purified mOPH and preOPH used as size markers are loaded in lanes 6 and 7. The OPH specific signal is not detected in any subcellular fractions.

5.72. Expression and sub cellular localization of preOPH in *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*

The subcellular fractions of induced cultures of P. *jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* (pHLCKMOPD) were used for subcellular localization of OPH. When OPH activity was assayed most of it was found in the membrane fractions. Its quantity was very negligible in cytoplasmic fraction (Fig.5.12). In support of this result, even the western blots performed to detect OPH using anti-His antibodies gave very prominent signal only in lanes loaded with proteins extracted from the membrane fractions (Fig.5.12). The size of the signal has perfectly matched with the signal obtained for mOPH used as marker protein, implicating that the expressed preOPH is processed in *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* (Fig.5.13, Lane 5).



Fig. 5.12. OPH activity in subcellular fractions of *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* (pHLCKMOPD). The bar diagram represents OPH activity obtained in cytoplasmic and membrane fractions.



Fig. 5.13. Subcellular localization of preOPH in *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* (pHLCKMOPD). Panel A) SDS-PAGE analysis of subcellular fractions. Panel B represents corresponding western blots performed using anti-His antibody to detect OPH-6His. Lane 2 and 3 represent protein extracts prepared from cytoplasmic and membrane fractions prepared from wild type *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*. Lane 4 and 5 represent similar extracts prepared from strains containing expression plasmid pHLCKMOPD. Partially purified mOPH and preOPH used as size markers are loaded in lanes 6 and 7. The OPH specific signal corresponding to the size of mOPH is seen in lane 5.

5.73. Expression and subcellular localization of mOPH in *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*

Experiments related to expression of mOPH are done to obtain *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* cells with cytoplasmically located OPH. The logic behind conducting such experiments is discussed in detail in subsequent sections of this chapter. As described in the preceding sections the sub-cellular fractions prepared from *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* (pHNSKMOPD) were used to assay for OPH activity and detect mOPH. As expected, the OPH activity was found only in cytoplasm. There was no OPH activity in the membrane fraction (Fig.5.14). In consistent of this observation, the OPH specific western signal is seen only in cytoplasmic fraction. (Fig.5.15).



Fig. 5.14. OPH activity in subcellular fractions. The bar diagram represents OPH activity obtained in cytoplasmic and membrane fractions prepared from *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* (pHNSKMOPD).

Such observations testify the OPH ability to fold prior to targeting the membrane and confirm that the cytoplasmically located OPH is active in *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*. (Fig.5.15, Lane 4).



Fig. 5.15. Subcellular localization of mOPH in *P.jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus* (pHNSKMOPD). Panel A) SDS-PAGE analysis of subcellular fractions. Panel B represents corresponding western blots performed using anti-His antibody to detect OPH-6His. Lanes 2 and 3 represent protein extracts prepared from cytoplasmic and membrane fractions prepared from wild type *P.jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus*. Lanes 4 and 5 represent similar extracts prepared from strains containing expression plasmid pHNSKMOPD. Partially purified mOPH and preOPH used as size markers are loaded in lanes 6 and 7. The OPH specific signal corresponding to the size of mOPH is seen in lane 4.

5.8. Degradation of organophosphates by engineered strains of *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*

After ascertaining the expression and subcellular localization of OPH the manipulated strains expressing membrane and cytoplasmic OPH were tested for their ability to degrade op compounds other than acephate. Further, the influence of OPH expression was also tested on the strains innate ability to use acephate as carbon source.

The induced cultures of *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* expressing either preOPH or mOPH were supplemented with 100 µmole of methyl parathion. The

concentration of the methyl parathion and formation of *p*-nitrophenol due to the OPH mediated hydrolytic cleavage of substrate were periodically tested by taking absorbance at 270 and 410 nm. As reported in table 1 the methyl parathion added to the induced culture has quickly disappeared leading to the accumulation of PNP in the culture medium.

Table.5.1. Degradation of organophosphates methyl parathion and paraoxon by engineered *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* in culture medium.

Time in min	Methyl parathion	<i>p</i> -Nitrophenol
0 min	100 μmole	0
15 min	45.5 μmole	54.5 μmole
30 min	36.4 µmole	63.6 μmole

Time in min	Paraoxon	<i>p</i> -Nitrophenol
0 min	100 μmole	0
15 min	39.4 µmole	60.6 μmole
30 min	2.3 μmole	97.7 μmole

Even the spectra (200nm to 600nm) obtained at different time intervals showed time dependent increase in peak height at 410 nm suggesting that *p*-nitrophenol accumulation in the culture media. Such increase was not seen in the uninduced and wild type cultures (Fig.5.16). In fact the cultures expressing both preOPH and mOPH have shown more or less similar degradation efficiency. Similar results were obtained when experiments were conducted using paraoxon instead of

Chapter III

methyl parathion (Fig.5.17) reassuring the strains ability to degrade wide range of op compounds due to existence of *opd* gene.



Fig. 5.16. Degradation of Parathion by *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* expressing mOPH.



Fig. 5.17. Degradation of Paraoxon by *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* expressing mOPH.

5.9. Influence of OPH expression on strains acephate mineralization ability

After establishing the manipulated strains ability to successfully degrade wide range of op compounds, the manipulated strain was again tested to know if the expressed OPH has any influence on its acephate degradation ability. While trying to gain evidence on this point, the strain was grown in minimal medium having acephate as carbon source and the growth properties and OPH mediated methyl parathion hydrolysis was tested. The cells have successfully grown in acephate medium and quickly hydrolyzed methyl parathion due to successful expression of OPH. In the spent medium methamidophos peak is also seen indicating active acephate metabolism in the manipulated strains of *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* (Fig.5.18). Such observations rather suggest possible usage of manipulated strains for successful elimination of op residues from the contaminated strains.



Fig. 5.18. Degradation of acephate by *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* expressing mOPH. Detection of acephate (Panel A) and its degradation product methamidophos (Panel B) is seen in the chromatogram obtained by performing LC-MS.

5.10. Discussion

Ever since, the extraordinary power of OPH to degrade structurally diverse group of op compounds is discovered, a number of investigators have attempted to achieve heterologous expression of opd gene (Mulbry and Karns, 1989). The studies on heterologous expression of *opd* gene, for simplicity and understanding, can be divided in to three categories. The first category attempted to express opd gene from its own promoter, which have given mixed results. When expressed in E.coli by cloning opd gene with indigenous promoter, no OPH activity was seen (Mulbry and Karns, 1989). The active OPH is produced only when the 5' region of opd gene specifying signal peptide coding region is removed and fused to the *lac* promoter (Mulbry and Karns, 1989). However, in contrast to these experiments, the OPH is expressed as an extracellular protein, when opd gene cloned in Streptomyces lividans using its indigenous promoter (Rowland et al., 1991; Steiert et al., 1989). The Streptomyces lividans transcriptional machinery successfully recognized opd promoter and facilitated production of an active OPH. Further, the protein secretion machinery of Streptomyces lividans successfully directed the OPH in to extracellular environment. This is rather a very unusual observation. There is no experimental evidence till date to explain, how a signal peptide that facilitates membrane targeting of OPH in native species, is directing OPH to the extracellular environment. In fact the OPH expressed in Streptomyces lividans served as good source for producing active OPH to be used for cleaning the containers used to preserve op compounds.

The second category expression strategies exploited availability of second generation expression vectors. Most of the expression plasmids used to achieve

heterologous expression of OPH have cloned *opd* gene by eliminating signal peptide coding sequence. Deletion of 5' region of *opd* gene while achieving heterologous expression was found to be advantageous in number of ways. Initially, the signal peptide unlike in other cases, is not required for OPH to acquire active confirmation (Pandey et al., 2009). Expression of OPH without signal peptide helped in producing cytoplasmic OPH and thus contributed for reducing cumbersomeness associated with purification of OPH. As shown from the studies of our own laboratory, the signal peptide coding region of OPH has inverted repeated sequence with a potential to form stable stem loop structure. Destabilization or elimination of stem loop has significantly elevated the quantity of OPH produced in *E.coli* cells (Pandey et al., 2009). This has really contributed for achieving large scale production of OPH.

The third category of OPH expression studies are based on manipulation of signal peptide. Though OPH is an excellent enzyme for the detoxification of organophosphates, its accessibility to substrate will be limited due to outer membrane permeability. The outer membrane acts as permeability barrier and prevents the pesticides from interacting with the OPH, anchored to the inner membrane of the cells (Richins et al., 1997). Hence expression of OPH on cell surface is considered to be more advantageous than expressing it in either cytoplasm or in membrane. This can be achieved by the fusion of *opd* gene with various surface-anchoring signal peptides that possess the potential to cross both the cytoplasmic and outer membranes. For example fusing OPH to the lipoprotein-outer membrane protein A (Lpp-OmpA), ice nucleation protein (INP) (Samuelson et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2003) take OPH on the surface of the cells. Recently, active OPH has been successfully expressed on the cell surface of *Escherichia coli* by using either the Lpp-OmpA fusion system (Richins et

al., 1997) or the truncated ice nucleation protein (INPNC) anchor (Shimazu et al., 2001). Cultures with surface-expressed OPH degraded parathion and paraoxon very effectively without the transport limitation observed in cells expressing OPH intracellularly (Shimazu et al., 2001).

While planning to express OPH in *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* we have followed first two strategies i.e. expression of *opd* gene using its native promoter, the second being the one which expressed OPH from inducible *lac*UV5 promoter. The first attempt has met with a failure. As seen in case of *E.coli* the *opd* gene is not expressed when cloned with its indigenous promoter. However, the expression of OPH is successfully seen when *opd* gene is cloned under the control of inducible *lac*UV5 promoter. Interestingly, the precursor form of OPH (preOPH) which contains signal peptide successfully targeted to the membrane in *P. jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus*. The results presented in this study gave clear indication to claim that the preOPH expressed is processed and successfully targeted to the membrane. The size of the OPH associated with the membrane of *P. jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* clearly matches with the size of recombinant mature OPH (mOPH) expressed in *E.coli* to use as molecular size marker.

In our previous studies our lab has shown existence of twin arginine transport motif (T-R-R-V-V-L-K) in the signal peptide of OPH (Gorla et al., 2009). Existence of twin arginine motif in the N-terminal signal peptides of precursor proteins targets to the Tat (twin-arginine translocation) protein export pathway (Berks et al., 2000). The energy for this transport comes from transmembrane proton electrochemical gradient (Hulford et al., 1994; Yahr and Wickner, 2001). The genetics of bacterial Tat

pathway is well studied in *E.coli*. The Tat pathway mainly comprises of *tatA*, *tatB*, tatC and tatE genes (Bogsch et al. 1998; Sargent et al. 1998, 1999; Weiner et al. 1998). The *tatA*, *tatB*, and *tatE* gene products are sequence-related proteins that are each predicted to comprise a transmembrane N-terminal α -helix followed by an amphipathic α -helix at the cytoplasmic side of the membrane. The *tatC* gene product is predicted to be a polytopic membrane protein with six transmembrane helices. Genetic experiments have shown TatA and TatE to have overlapping functions on the Tat pathway. Of the three Tat proteins, TatBC forms a complex and interacts with Tat signal peptides (Alami et al., 2003) where as TatA forms a transport channel which takes folded proteins across the membrane in the presence of transmembrane proton electrochemical gradient (Leake et al., 2008) (Fig.5.19). As stated before, in our previous studies we have shown OPH as a Tat substrate and essentiality of twin arginine motif (T-R-R-V-V-L-K) for membrane targeting of OPH. OPH has utilized the Tat specific translocases that exists in the wild type *Brevundimonas diminuta* and is transported to the periplasmic face of the inner membrane. If the results generated in the present study are taken into consideration, the preOPH expressed *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* is processed and correctly targeted to the membrane (Fig 5.13). When OPH was expressed without its signal peptide the OPH was retained in cytoplasm suggesting that signal peptide is prerequisite for membrane targeting. It appears that in Pseudomonas jinjuensis biotype acephalyticus, the OPH processed using similar processing mechanism followed in wild type *B.diminuta*.



Fig. 5.19. Model of Tat targeting and transport. In the membrane TatA is depicted in red, TatB in blue, and TatC in yellow. (*a*) Upon emerging from the ribosome the preprotein must avoid targeting to other pathways such as Sec, which is aided by the characteristics of the signal peptide and mature protein and/or the binding of Tat-specific chaperones (red circles). (*b*) After folding, any cofactors and/or additional subunits are added prior to targeting to the TatBC receptor complex. (*d*) The proton motive force drives the formation of an active translocase and the substrate is transported through a pore consisting mainly of TatA. (*e*) Upon removal of the signal peptide the mature protein is released on the periplasmic side of the membrane (Lee et al., 2006).

Justifying our previous claim, the mOPH expressed in the cytoplasm of *P.jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* acquired folded confirmation and didn't depend on signal sequence. Even the OPH produced without signal peptide is seen more in quantity (Fig. 5.15, Lane 4). This is infact supportive of our study where we have shown that the secondary structure of *opd* specific mRNA dependent down regulation of OPH (Pandey et al., 2009).

The engineered strain expressing OPH degraded methyl parathion, parathion and paraoxon. There was no influence of OPH expression on the strains innate ability of using acephate as source of carbon, nitrogen and sulfur. Such properties of manipulated *P. jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* puts it ahead of all other bioremediation strategies being used for elimination of op compounds.

5.11. Conclusions

- 1. Mobilizable expression vector is constructed for achieving heterologous expression of OPH.
- 2. The preOPH expressed in *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* successfully processed and targeted to the membrane.
- 3. The mOPH expressed in *P. jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* is active and localized in cytoplasm.
- 4. The manipulated *P. jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* degraded number of op compounds added to the culture medium. Expression of OPH showed no influence on strains ability to thrive on acephate.

References

Abd-Alla, M. H. 1994. Phosphodiesterase and phosphotriesterase in *Rhizobium* and *Bradyrhizobium* strains and their roles in the degradation of organophosphorus pesticides. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. **19:**240-243.

Achouak, W., L. Sutra, T. Heulin, J. M. Meyer, N. Fromin, S. Degraeve, R. Christen, and L. Gardan. 2000. *Pseudomonas brassicacearum* sp. nov. and *Pseudomonas thivervalensis* sp. nov. two root-associated bacteria isolated from *Brassica napus* and *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. **50**:9–18.

Adhya, T. K., S. Barik, and N. Sethunathan. 1981. Hydrolysis of selected organophosphorus insecticides by two bacteria isolated from flooded soil. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 50:167–172.

Ahmed, M. K., and J. E. Casida. 1958. Metabolism of some organophosphorus insecticides by microorganisms. J. Econ. Entomol. **51**:59–63.

Alami, M., I. Luke, S. Deitermann, G. Eisner, H. G. Koch, J. Brunner, and M. Muller. 2003. Differential interactions between a twin-arginine signal peptide and its translocase in *Escherichia coli*. Mol. Cell **12**:937-46.

Aleem Basha, P., J. P. Pandey, N. Boris, M. Wales, J. R. Wild and S. Dayananda. 2010. Characterization and manipulation of acephate mineralizing *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* biotype *acephalyticus* for degradation of a wide range of organophosphates. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. (manuscript submitted).

Alexander, M. 1981. Biodegradation of chemicals of environmental concern. Science **211:**132-138.

Alexander, M. 1985. Biodegradation of organic chemicals. Environ. Sci. Technol. 18:106-111.

Alscher, R. G. 1989. Biosynthesis and antioxidant function of glutathione in plants. Physiol. Plant. **77**:457-464.

Andersen, S. M., K. Johnsen, J. Sørensen, P. Nielsen, and C. S. Jacobsen. 2000. *Pseudomonas frederiksbergensis* sp. nov., isolated from soil at a coal gasification site.
Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 50:1957–1964.

Anderson, J. P. E., and A. Lafuenza. 1992. Microbiological aspects of accelerated pesticide degradation. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Environmental Aspects of Pesticide Microbiology (J.P.E. Anderson, D.J. Arnold, F. Lewis and L. Torstensson, eds), pp. 184–192. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Upsalla, Sweden.

Andrade, J., A. Karmali, M. A. Carrondo, and C. Fraza. 2007. Structure of amidase from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* showing a trapped acyl transfer reaction intermediate state. J. Biol. Chem. **282(27):**19598-19605.

Antonious, G. F. 1995. Analysis and Fate of Acephate and its Metabolite, Methamidophos, in Pepper and Cucumber. J. Environ. Sci. Health. B30 **3**:377-399.

Antonious, G. F., and J. C. Snyder. 1994. Residues and Half-Lives of Acephate, Methamidophos and Pirimiphos-methyl in Leaves and Fruit of Greenhouse-Grown Tomatoes. Bull. Envir. Cont. Toxicol. **52:**141-148. Anzai, Y., H. Kim, J. Y. Park, H. Wakabayashi, and H. Oyaizu. 2000. Phylogenetic affiliation of the *Pseudomonads* based on 16S rRNA sequence. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. **50**:1563–1589.

Anzai, Y., Y. Kudo, and H. Oyaizu. 1997. The phylogeny of the genera *Chryseomonas, Flavimonas*, and *Pseudomonas* supports synonymy of these three genera. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. **47:**249–251.

Ashani, Y., N. Rothschild, Y. Segall, D. Levanon, and L. Raveh. 1991. Prophylaxis against organophosphate poisoning by an enzyme hydrolysing organophosphates compounds in mice. Life Sci **49:**367–374.

Aspelin, A.L. 1994. Pesticide industry sales and usage.1992 and 1993 market estimates. US Environmental Protection Agency. Office of Pesticide programs, Biological and Economic Analysis division, Economic analysis Branch,773-K-94-001:33.

Babu, G. R. V., J. H. Wolfram, J. M. Marian, and K. D. Chapatwala. 1995. *Pseudomonas marginalis*: its degradative capability on organic nitriles and amides. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 43:739–745.

Bachmann, A., W. Bruin, J. C. Jumelet, H. N. N. Rijnaartz, and A. J. B. Zehnder. 1988. Aerobic biomineralization of alpha-hexachlorocyclohexane in contaminated soil. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **54**:548–554.

Bailey, J. E. 1991. Toward a science of metabolic engineering. Science **252:**1668–1675.

Ballantyne, B., and T. C. Marrs. 1992. Clinical and Experimental Toxicology of Organophosphates and Carbamates. Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford.

Banerjee, A., R. Sharma, and U. C. Banerjee. 2002. Nitrile degrading enzymes: current status and future prospects. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. **60:**33–44.

Barles, R. W., C. G. Daughton, and D. P. H. Hsieh. 1979. Accelerated parathion degradation in soil inoculated with acclimated bacteria under field conditions. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 8:647-660.

Benke, G. M., and S. D. Murphy. 1975. The influence of age on the toxicity and metabolism of methyl parathion and parathion in male and female rats. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. **31(2):**254–269.

Benke, G. M., K. L. Cheever, F. E. Mirer, and S. D. Murphy. 1974. Comparative toxicity, anticholinesterase action and metabolism of methyl parathion and parathion in sunfish and mice. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. **28**(1):97–109.

Benning, M. M., H. Sims, F. M. Raushel, and H. M. Holden. 2001. High resolution X-ray structures of different metal-substituted forms of phosphotriesterase from *Pseudomonas diminuta*. Biochemistry **40**:2712–2722.

Benning, M. M., J. M. Kuo, F. M. Raushel, and H. M. Holden. 1994. Threedimensional structure of phosphotriesterase: an enzyme capable of detoxifying organophosphate nerve agents. Biochemistry **33**:15001-7.

Benzet, H. O. J., and F. Matsumura. 1973. Isomerization of g-BHC to a-BHC in environment. Nature (London) 243:480–481.

Berks, B. C., F. Sargent, and T. Palmer. 2000. The Tat protein export pathway. Mol. Microbiol. 35:260-74.

Beynon, K. I., D. H. Hutson, and A. N. Wright. 1973. The metabolism and degradation of vinyl phosphate insecticides. Residue Rev. 47:55–142.

Bhadbhade, B. J., P. K. Dhakephalkar, S. S. Sarnik, and P. P. Kanekar. 2002a. Plasmid-associated biodegradation of an organophosphorus pesticide, monocrotophos, by *Pseudomonas mendocina*. Biotechol. Lett. **24:**647–650.

Bhadbhade, B. J., S. S. Sarnik, and P. P. Kanekar. 2002b. Biomineralization of an organophosphorus pesticide, monocrotophos, by soil bacteria. J. Appl. Microbiol. **93**: 224–234.

Bhat, R. V., and K. A. V. R. Krishnamachary. 1977. Endemic familial arthritis of Malnad -An Epidemiological study. Ind. J. Med. Res. 66:777-785.

Bhushan, B., S. K. Samanta, A. Chauhan, A. K. Chakraborti, and R. K. Jain.
2000. Chemotaxis and biodegradation of 3-methyl 4-nitrophenol by *Ralstonia* sp.
SJ98. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 275:129-133.

Biebl, H., and N. Pfennig. 1981. Isolation of members of the family *Rhodospirillaceae*. In *"The Prokaryotes"*, p. 167–273. (Starr, M. P., Stolp, H., Trüper, H. G., Balows, A. and Schlegel, H. G. (eds)) New York: Springer.

Birmingham, J., P. Demirev, Y. P. Ho, J. Thomas, W. Bryden, and C. Fenselau. 1999. Corona plasma discharge for rapid analysis of microorganisms by mass spectrometry. Rapid. Commun. Mass. Spectrom. **13:** 604–606. **Birnboim, H. C., and J. Doly.** 1979. A rapid alkaline extraction procedure for screening of recombinant plasmid DNA. Nucleic Acids Res. **7**:1513.

Bogsch, E. G., F. Sargent, N. R. Stanley, B. C. Berks, C. Robinson, and T. Palmer. 1998. An essential component of a novel bacterial protein export system with homologues in plastids and mitochondria. J. Biol. Chem. 273:18003-6.

Boush, G. M., and F. Matsumura. 1967. Insecticidal degradation by *Pseudomonas melaphthora*, the bacterial symbiotic of apple maggot. J. Econ. Entomol. **60**:918–920.

Brown, K. A. 1980. Phosphotriesterase of *Flavobacterium* sp. Soil Biol. Biochem.12:105-112.

Buchanan, R. E., and N. E. Gibbons. 1974. Bergey's manual of determinative bacteriology. (Eighth edition), The Williams and Wilkins Co., Baltimore, pp.747 - 842.

Burke, M. D., S. Thompson, C. R. Elcombe, J. Halpert, T. Haaparanta, and R. T. Mayer. 1985. Ethoxy-, pentoxy- and benzyloxyphenoxazones and homologues: a series of substrates to distinguish between different induced cytochromes P-450. Biochem. Pharm. **34**:3337–3345.

Butler, C. S., and J. R. Mason. 1997. Structure, function analysis of the bacterial aromatic ring hydroxylating dioxygenases. Adv Microb Physiol **38**:47–84.

Caldwell, S. R., and F. M. Raushel. 1991. Detoxification of organophosphate pesticides using an immobilized phosphotriesterase from *Pseudomonas diminuta*. Biotechnol. Bioeng. **37**:103-109.

Chao, Y. P., Y. F. Zhao, B. B. Liu, and Y. S. Wang. 2000. Production, partial purification and characterization of methamidophos- degrading enzyme from methylotroph WB-1. Acta Microbiol. Sin. **40**(5):523–527.

Chao, Y. P., Y. F. Zhao, Y. S. Wang, H. Chen, and Y. M. Xie. 1999. The detection of a non-water soluble methamidophos-degrading enzymatic activity. Chin. J. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 15(1):145–147.

Chapalmadugu, S., and G. R. Chaudhry. 1993. Isolation of constitutively expressed enzyme for hydrolysis of carbaryl in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J. Bacteriol. **157**: 6711–6716.

Chaudhry, G. R., A. N. Ali, and W. B. Wheeler. 1988. Isolation of a methyl parathion-degrading *Pseudomonas* sp. that possess DNA homologous to the *opd* gene from a *Flavobacterium* sp. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **54**:288–293.

Chaudhry, G. R., and S. Chapalamadugu. 1991. Biodegradation of halogenated organic compounds. Microbiol. Rev. 55:59-79.

Chauhan, A., A. K. Chakraborti, and R. K. Jain. 2000. Plasmid encoded degradation of *p*-nitrophenol and 4-nitrocatechol by *Arthrobacter protophormiae*. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. **270:**733–740.

Chen, W. X., Z. Y. Tan, J. L. Gao, Yingli, and E. T. Wang. 1997. *Rhizobium hainanense* sp. nov., isolated from tropical legumes. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. **47(3):**870-873.

Cheng T. C., S. P. Harvey, and G. L. Chen. 1996. Cloning and expression of a gene encoding a bacterial enzyme for decontamination of organophosphorus nerve agents and nucleotide sequence of the enzyme. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **62:**1636–1641.

Cheng T. C., V. K. Rastogi, J. J. DeFrank, D. M. Anderson, and A. B. Hamilton. 1997. Nucleotide sequence of a gene encoding and organophosphorus never agent degrading enzyme from *Alteromonas haloplanktis*. J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 18:49–55.

Cheng, T. C., S. P. Harvey, and A. N. Stroup. 1993. Purification and properties of a highly active organophosphorus acid anhydrolase from *Alteromonas undina*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **59:**3138–3140.

Cho, C. M. H., A. Mulchandani, and W. Chen. 2004. Altering the substrate specificity of organophosphorus hydrolase for enhanced hydrolysis of chlorpyrifos. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **70**:4681–4685.

Chong, B. E., D. B. Wall, D. M. Lubman, and S. J. Flynn. 1997. Rapid profiling of *E. coli* proteins up to 500 kDa from whole cell lysates using MALDI-TOF MS. Rapid. Commun. Mass. Spectrom. **11:**1900–1908.

Chu, X. Y., N. F. Wu, M. J. Deng, J. Tian, B. Yao, and Y. L. Fan. 2006. Expression of organophosphorus hydrolase OPHC2 in *Pichia pastoris*: Purification and characterization. Protein Expr. Purif. **49**(1):9-14. Chun, J., J. H. Lee, Y. Jung, M. Kim, S. Kim, B. K. Kim, and Y. W. Lim. 2007. EzTaxon: a web-based tool for the identification of prokaryotes based on 16S ribosomal RNA gene sequences. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. **57**:2259-2261.

Clarion-Ledger. 1996., A Mississippi News Paper, November.

Clark, A. G., J. N. Smith, and T. W. Speir. 1973. Cross specificity in some vertebrate and insect glutathione- transferases with methyl parathion (dimethyl *p*-nitrophenyl phosphorothionate), 1- chloro-2,4-dinitro-benzene and s-crotonyl-N-acetylcysteamine as substrates. Biochem. J. **135(3)**:385–392.

Clayton, R. A., G. Sutton, P. S. Hinkle, C. Bult, and C. Fields. 1995. Intraspecific variation in small-subunit rRNA sequences in GenBank: why single sequences may not adequately represent prokaryotic taxa. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. **45**:595–599.

Cole, J. R., Q. Wang, E. Cardenas, J. Fish, B. Chai, R. J. Farris, A. S. Kulam-Syed-Mohideen, D. M. McGarrell, T. Marsh, G. M. Garrity and J. M. Tiedje. 2008. The Ribosomal Database Project: improved alignments and new tools for rRNA analysis. Nucleic Acids Res. **37**:Database issue D141-D145.

Coppella, S. J., N. DelaCruz, G. F. Payne, B. M. Pogell, M. K. Speedie, J. S. Karns, E. M. Sybert, and M. A. Connor. 1990. Genetic engineering approach to toxic waste management: case study for organophosphate waste treatment. Biotechnol Prog. **6(1):** 76–81.

Cork, D. J., and J. P. Krueger. 1991. Microbial degradation of herbicides and pesticides. Adv. Appl. Microbiol. **36:**1-66.

Cremlyn, R. 1978. Pesticide preparation and mode of action. pp 1-11. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, New York, Brisbane, Toronto.

Dagley, S. 1975. Microbial degradation of organic compounds in the biosphere. American Scientist **63**:681-689.

Dai, Y., L. Li, D. C. Roser, and S. R. Long. 1999. Detection and identification of low-mass peptides and proteins from solvent suspensions of *Escherichia coli* by HPLC fractionation and MALDI mass spectrometry. Rapid. Commun. Mass. Spectrom. **13**:73-78.

Daughton, C. G., and D. P. Hsieh. 1977. Parathion utilization by bacterial symbionts in a chemostat. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **34:**175–184.

Davis, R. F., A. W. Johnson, and R. D. Wauchope. 1993. Accelerated degradation of fenamiphos and its metabolites in soil previously treated with fenamiphos. J. Nematol. **25:**679–685.

DeFrank, J. J., and T. Cheng. 1991. Purification and properties of an organophosphorus acid anhydrate from a halophilic bacterial isolate. J. Bacteriol. **173:**1939-1943.

Demirev, P. A., J. Ramirez, and C. Fenselau. 2001. Tandem mass spectrometry of intact proteins for characterization of biomarkers from *Bacillus cereus* T spores. Anal. Chem. **73:**5725–5731.

Deo, P. G., N. G. Karanth, and N. G. K. Karanth. 1994. Biodegradation of hexachloro-cyclohexane isomers in the soil and food environment. CRC Crit. Rev. Microbiol. **20:**57-78.

Deshpande, N. M., P. K. Dhakephalkar, and P. P. Kanekar. 2001. Plasmidmediated dimethoate degradation in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* MCMB-427. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. **33:**275–279.

Don, R. H., and J. M. Pember. 1981. Properties of six pesticide degradation plasmids isolated from *Alcaligenes paradoxus* and *Alcaligenes eutrophus*. J. Bacteriol. **145**:681-686.

Donarski W. J., D. P. Dumas, D. P. Heitmeyer, V. E. Lewis, and F. M. Raushel. 1989. Structure-activity relationship in the hydrolysis of substrates by the phosphotriesterase from *Pseudomonas diminuta*. Biochemistry **28**:4650–4655.

Dong, Y. J., M. Bartlam, L. Sun, Y. F. Zhou, Z. P. Zhang, C. G. Zhang, Z. Rao, and X. E. Zhang. 2005. Crystal structure of methyl parathion hydrolase from *Pseudomonas* sp. WBC-3. J. Mol. Biol. **353**(3):655–663.

Drancourt, M. C., A. Bollet, R. Carlios, J. P. Martelin, Gayral and D. Rsoult. 2000. 16S ribosomal DNA sequence analysis of a large collection of environmental and clinical unidentifiable bacterial isolates. J. Clin. Microbiol. **38:**3623-3630.

Dubus, I. G., J. M. Hollis, and C. D. Brown. 2000. Pesticides in rainfall in Europe. Environ. Pollution. **110:**331-344.

Dumas, D. P., H. D. Durst, W. G. Landis, F. M. Raushel, and J. R. Wild. 1990. Inactivation of organophosphorus nerve agents by phosphotriesterase from *Pseudomonas diminuta*. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. **277:**155–159.

Dumas, D. P., J. R. Wild, and F. M. Raushel. 1990b. Expression of *Pseudomonas* phosphotriesterase activity in the fall armyworm confers resistance to insecticides. Experientia **46**:729–731.

Dumas, D. P., S. R. Caldwell, J. R. Wild, and F. M. Raushel. 1989. Purification and properties of the phosphotriesterase from *Pseudomonas diminuta*. J. Biol. Chem.
264: 19659–19665.

Easterling, M. L., C. M. Colangelo, R. A. Scott, and I. J. Amster. 1998. Monitoring protein expression in whole bacterial cells with MALDI time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Anal. Chem. **70**:2704-2709.

Eaton, D. L., and T. K. Bammler. 1999. Concise review of the glutathione S-transferases and their significance to toxicology. Toxicol. Sci. **49(2):**156–164.

Efrmenko, E. N., and V. S. Sergeeva. 2001. Organophosphate hydrolase – an enzyme catalyzing degradation of phosphorus-containing toxins and pesticides. Russ. Chem. Bull. (Int Ed). **50:**1826–1832.

Elhanany, E., R. Barak, M. Fisher, D. Kobiler, and Z. Altboum. 2001. Detection of specific *Bacillus anthracis* spore biomarkers by MALDI-TOF MS. Rapid. Commun. Mass. Spectrom. **15:**2110–2116.

Ellis, B. M. L. 2000. Environmental biotechnology informatics. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 11:232–235.

Environment Canada. 1999. A Compendium of Information on Pesticides used in Atlantic Canada. (Minister of Public Works & Government Services Canada, 1999), pp. 11–12, 216–217.

EPA. 2004. http://www.epa.gov/oppsrrd1/REDS/factsheets.

Eto, M. 1974. Organophosphorus Pesticides. Organic and Biological Chemistry. CRC Press, Cleveland, OH.

Evans, C. S., and C. Bucke. 1998. Bioremediation by fungi. Chemistry and Industry.4:134-137.

Evason, D. J., M. A. Claydon, and G. B. Gordon. 2001. Exploring the limits of bacterial identification by intact cell-mass spectrometry. J. Am. Soc. Mass. Spectrom. **12:**49–54.

Felsenstein, J. 1981. Evolutionary trees from DNA sequences: a maximum likelihood approach. J. Mol. Evol. **17:**368-376.

Felsenstein, J. 1993. PHYLIP (phylogeny inference package), version 3.5.1. Department of Genome Sciences, University of Washington, Seattle, USA.

Felsot, A. 1989. Enhanced biodegradation of insecticides in soil: implications for agroecosystems. Annu. Rev. Entomol. **34:**453–476.

Field, J. A., and E. M. Thurman. 1996. Glutathione Conjugation and Contaminant Transformation. Environ. Sci. Tech. **30(5):**1413-1418.

Fitch, W. M., and E. Margoliash. 1967. Construction of phylogenetic trees: a method based on mutational distances as estimated from cytochrome *c* sequences of general applicability. Sci. 155:279–284.

Foster, G., B. Holmes, A. G. Steigerwalt, P. A. Lawson, P. Thorne, D. E. Bryer,
H. M. Ross, J. Xerry, P. M. Thompson, and M. D. Collins. 2004. *Campylobacter insulaenigrae* sp. nov., isolated from marine mammals. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.
54:2369–2373.

Fox, G. E., J. D. Wisotzkey, and P. Jurtshuk, Jr. 1992. How close is close: 16S rRNA sequence identity may not be sufficient to guarantee species identity. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. **42**:166-170.

Fukami, J. 1980. Metabolism of several insecticides by glutathion S-transferase. Pharmacol. Ther. **10(3):**473–514.

Gaines, T. B. 1969. Acute toxicity of pesticides. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 14:515-535.

Giassion, T., and V. M. G. Lee. 2000. A new link between pesticides and Parkinson's disease. Nature Neurosci. 3(12):1227-1228.

Gibson, W. L., and L. R. Brown. 1974. The metabolism of parathion by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Dev. Ind. Microbiol. 16:17–87.

Glazer, A. N., and H. Nikaido. 1995. Microbial biotechnology: fundamentals of applied microbiology. Freeman, New York.

Golomb, B. A. 2008. Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors and Gulf War illnesses. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 105:4295-4300.

Graetz, D. A., G. Chesters, T. L. Daniel, L. W. Newland, and G. B. Lee. 1970. Parathion degradation in lake sediments. J. Water. Pollut. Con. Res. **42:**R76-R94.

Green, M. B., G. S. Hartley, and T. F. West. 1977. Chemicals for crop protection and pest control. Pp- 8, Pergoman Press, London.

Guindon, S., and O. Gascuel. 2003. A simple, fast, and accurate algorithm to estimate large phylogenies by maximum likelihood. Syst. Biol. **52**:696-704.

Gunner, H. B., and B. M. Zuckerman. 1968. Degradation of diazinon by synergistic microbial action. Nature **217:**1183–1184.

Hanahan, D. 1983. Studies on transformation of *E. coli* with plasmids. J. Mol. Biol.166:557.

Hanne, L. F., L. L. Kirk, S. M. Appel, A. D. Narayan, and K. K. Bains. 1993.
Degradation and induction specificity in *Actinomycetes* that degrade *p*-nitrophenol.
Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **59**:3505-3508.

Harmsen, D., J. Rothglinger, M. Frosch, and J. Alber. 2002. RIDOM: ribosomal differentiation of medical micro-organisms database. Nucleic Acids Res. **30**:416-417.

Harper, L. L., C. S. McDaniel, C. E. Miller, and J. R. Wild. 1988. Dissimilar plasmids isolated from *Pseudomonas diminuta* MG and a *Flavobacterium* sp (ATCC 27551) contain identical *opd* genes. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **54:**2586–2589.

Hayatsu, M., M. Hirano, and S. Tokuda. 2000. Involvement of two plasmids in fenitrothion degradation by *Burkholderia* sp. strain NF100. Appl. Environ. Microbiol.
66:1737–1740.

Hayden, R. T., C. P. Kolbert, M. K. Hopkins, and D. H. Persing. 2001. Characterization of culture-derived spiral bacteria by 16S ribosomal RNA gene sequence analysis. Diagn. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. **39:**55-59.

Hill, I. R., and S. J. L.Wright. 1978. Microbial aspects of pesticide behavior in the environment. In: Pesticide Microbiology (Hill, I.R. and Wright, S.J.L., Eds.) pp. 79-136. Academic Press, New York.

Hirakosa, S. 1969. Inactivating effects of microorganisms on insecticidal activity of dursban. Jpn. J. Exp. Med. **39:**17-20.

Holland, R. D., C. R. Duffy, F. Rafii, J. B. Sutherland, T. M. Heinze, C. L. Holder, K. J. Voorhees, and J. O. Lay, Jr. 1999. Identification of bacterial proteins observed in MALDI TOF mass spectra from whole cells. Anal. Chem. **71**:3226–3230.

Holland, R. D., J. G. Wilkes, F. Rafii, J. B. Sutherland, C. C. Persons, K. J. Voorhees, and J. O. Lay, Jr. 1996. Rapid identification of intact whole bacteria based on spectral patterns using matrix-assisted laser desorption/ ionization with time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Rapid. Commun. Mass Spectrom. 10:1227–1232.
Hollingworth, R. M. 1969. Dealkylation of organophosphorus esters by mouse liver enzymes *in vitro* and *in vivo*. J. Agr. Food. Chem. **17**(5):986-996.

Holm, L., and C. Sander. 1997. An Evolutionary Treasure: Unification of a Broad Set of Amidohydrolases Related to Urease. Proteins **28**:72-82.

Hong, S. B., and F. M. Raushel. 1996. Metal-substrate interactions facilitate the catalytic activity of the bacterial phosphotriesterase. Biochemistry. **35**:10904-10912.

Horne I, R. L. Harcourt, T. D. Sutherland, R. J. Russell, and J. G. Oakeshott. 2002a. Isolation of a *Pseudomonas monteilli* strain with a novel phosphotriesterase. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. **206:**51–55.

Horne, I., T. D. Sutherland, J. G. Oakeshott, and R. J. Russell. 2002b. Cloning and expression of the phosphotriesterase gene *hocA* from *Pseudomonas monteilli* C11. Microbiology **148**:2687–2695.

Horne, I., T. D. Sutherland, R. L. Harcourt, R. J. Russel, and J. G. Oakeshott. 2002. Identification of an *opd* (organophosphate degradation) gene in an *Agrobacterium* isolate. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **68**:3371-3376.

Horne, I., X. Qiu, R. J. Russell, and J. G. Oakeshott. 2003. The phosphotriesterase gene *opdA* in *Agrobacterium radiobacter* P230 is transposable. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. **222:**1–8.

Hoskin, F. C. G., and A. H. Roush. 1982. Hydrolysis of nerve gas by squid type diisopropyl phosphorofluoridate hydrolysing enzyme on agarose resin. Science 215: 1255-1257.

Hulford, A., L. Hazell, R. M. Mould, and C. Robinson. 1994. Two distinct mechanisms for the translocation of proteins across the thylakoid membrane, one requiring the presence of a stromal protein factor and nuclrotide triphosphates. J. Biol. Chem. **269**:3251–3256.

Hussain, M. A. 1987. Anticholinesterase properties of methamidophos and acephate in insects and mammals. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. **38:**131-138.

Imran, H., K. M. Altaf, and J. G. Kim. 2004. Malathion degradation by *Pseudomonas* using activated sludge treatment system (biostimulator). Biotechnology 3:82–89.

Ish-Horowicz, D., and J. F. Buker. 1981. Rapid and efficient cosmid cloning. Nucleic Acids Res. **9**:2989.

Jacob, G. S., N. M. Kimack, G. M. Kishore, L. E. Halllas, J. R. Garbow, and J.
Schaefer. 1988. Metabolism of glyphosate in *Pseudomonas* sp. strain Lbr. Appl.
Environ. Microbiol. 54:2953–2958.

Jain, R. K., J. H. Dreisbach, and J. C. Spain. 1994. Biodegradation of *p*-nitrophenol via 1, 2, 4-benzenetriol by an *Arthrobacter*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **60:**3030–3032.

James, P. G., and P. H. Russell. 1996. Phylogenetic Analysis of the Bacterial Communities in Marine Sediments. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 62:4049-4059.

Jukes, T. H., and C. R. Cantor. 1969. Evolution of protein molecules. In *"Mammalian Protein Metabolism*", p. 21-132. Munro, H. N. (eds)) New York: Academic Press.

Kadiyala, V., and J. C. Spain. 1998. A two component monooxygenase catalyzes both the hydroxylation of *p*-nitrophenol and the oxidative release of nitrite from 4-nitrocatechol in *Bacillus sphaericus* JS905. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **64:**2479–2484.

Kadiyala, V., and J. C. Spain. 1998. A two component monooxygenase catalyzes both the hydroxylation of *p*-nitrophenol and the oxidative release of nitrite from 4-nitrocatechol in *Bacillus sphaericus* JS905. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **64**:2479–2484.

Kaplainis, J., D. E. Hopkin, and O. Treiber. 1959. Dermal and oral treatment of cattle with P-32 labelled Co- Ral. J. Agric. Food Chem. **7**:438–486.

Karalliedde, L., and N. Senanayake. 1999. Organophosphorus insecticide poisoning. J. Int. Fed. Clin. Chem. 11:4–9.

Karns, J. S., J. J. Kilbane, D. K. Chatterjee, and A. M. Chakrabarty. 1984. Microbial biodegradation of 2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyacetic acid and chlorophenols. In: *Genetic Control of Environmental Pollutants* pp. 3–21. Omen, G. S. and Hollander, A., Eds. Plenum Press, New York.

Karns, J. S., J. J. Kilbane, S. Dattagupta, and A. M. Chakrabarty. 1983. Metabolism of halophenols by 2,4,5- trichlorophenoxyacetic acid degrading *Pseudomonas cepacia*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **46:**1176–1181. Karns, J. S., M. T. Muldoon, K. K. Mulbry, K. K. Derbysihire, and P. C. Kearney. 1987. Use of microorganisms and microbial systems in the degradation of pesticide. ACS Symp. Ser. **334**:156–176.

Karpouzas, D. G., A. Walker, R. J. Froud-Williams, and D. S. H. Drennan. 1999a. Evidence for the enhanced biodegradation of ethoprophos and carbofuran in soils from Greece and the UK. Pestic. Sci. **55**:301–311.

Karpouzas, D. G., E. Karanasios, and U. Menkissoglou-Spiroudi. 2004b. Enhanced microbial degradation of cadusafos in soils from potato monoculture: demonstration and characterization. Chemosphere **56:**549–559.

Karpouzas, D. G., P. Hatziapostolou, E. Papadopoulou-Mourkidou, A. Georgiadou, and I. O. Giannakou. 2004a. The enhanced biodegradation of fenamiphos in soils from previously treated field sites in Greece and the effect of soil fumigants on the development of the phenomenon. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. **23**: 2099–2107.

Karunakaran, C. O. 1958. The Kerala food poisoning. J. Indian. Med. Assoc. 31: 204.

Kearney, P. C., J. S. Karns, and W. W. Mulbry. 1987. In: *Pesticide Science and Biotechnology* (Greenhalgh, R. and Roberts, B.R., Eds.) pp: 590-596. Blackwell Scientific Publishers, Oxford.

Keprasertsup, C., E. S. Upatham, N. Sukhapanth, and P. Prempree. 2001. Degradation of methyl parathion in an aqueous medium by soil bacteria. Sci. Asia **27**: 261–270.

Kertesz, M. A., A. M. Cook, and T. Leisinger. 1994a. Microbial metabolism of sulfur and phosphorus-containing xenobiotics. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. **15**:195–215.

Khadhair, A. H., and I. R. Evans. 2000. Molecular and microscopical detection of aster yellows phytoplasma associated with infected parsnip. Microbiol. Res. **155(1)**: 53-57.

Kilbane, J. J., D. K. Chatterjee, J. S. Karns, S. T. Kellog, and A. M. Chakrabarty. 1982. Biodegradation of 2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyacetic acid by a pure culture of *Pseudomonas cepacia*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **44**:72–76.

Kitagawa, W., N. Kimura, and Y. Kamagata. 2004. A Novel *p*-nitrophenol degradation gene cluster from a Gram-Positive Bacterium, *Rhodococcus opacus* SAO101. J. Bacteriol. **186**:4894-4902.

Knackmuss, H. J. 1996. Basic knowledge and perspectives of bioelimination of xenobiotic compounds. J. Biotech. **51**:287–295.

Knapp, F. W. 1962. Poultry tolerance to excessive amounts of Co-Ral dust. J. Econ. Entomol. **55:**560–561.

Kolakowski, J. E., J. J. DeFrank, S. P. Harvey, L. L. Szafraniec, W. T. Beaudry, K. Lai, and J. R. Wild. 1997. Enzymatic hydrolysis of the chemical warfare agent

VX and its neurotoxic analogues by organophosphorus hydrolase. Biocatal. Bioeng. **15**(4):297-312.

Kolbert, C. P., and D. H. Persing. 1999. Ribosomal DNA sequencing as a tool for identification of bacterial pathogens. Curr. Microbiol. 2:299-305.

Krishnamurthy, T., P. L. Ross, and U. Rajamani. 1996. Detection of pathogenic and non-pathogenic bacteria by MALDI-TOF MS. Rapid. Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 10:883–888.

Kumar, S., K. G. Mukherji, and R. Lal. 1996. Molecular aspects of pesticide degradation by microorganisms. CRC Crit. Rev. Microbiol. 22(1):1-26.

Kwon, S. W., J. S. Kim, I. C. Park, S. H. Yoon, D. H. Park, C. K. Lim, and S. J. Go. 2003. *Pseudomonas koreensis* sp. nov., *Pseudomonas umsongensis* sp. nov. and *Pseudomonas jinjuensis* sp. nov., novel species from farm soils in Korea. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. **53**:21–27.

Lacorte, S., C. Molina, and D. Barcelo. 1998. Temperature and extraction voltage effect on fragmentation of organophosphorus pesticides in liquid chromatography–atmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometry. J. Chromatogr. A. **795:**13-26.

Laemmli, U. K. 1970. Cleavage of structural proteins during assembly of the head of bacteriophase T₄. Nature **227**:680-685.

Lal, R. 1982. Factors influencing microbial insecticide interactions. CRC Cric. Rev.Microbiol. 10:261-296.

Lal, R., and D. M. Saxena. 1982. Accumulation, metabolism and effects of organochlorine insecticides on microorganisms. Microbiol. Rev. 46:95-127.

Lamoureux, G. L., and J. E. Bakke. In *Foreign Compound Metabolism*; Caldwell,J., Paulson, G. D., Eds.; Taylor and Francis: London, 1984; pp 185-199.

Lan, W. S., J. D. Gu, J. L. Zang, B. C. Shen, H. Jiang, A. Mulchandani, W. Chen, and C. L. Qiao. 2006. Coexpression of two detoxifying pesticide-degrading enzymes in a genetically engineered bacterium. Int. Biodeterior. Biodegrad.. 58(2):70-76.

Laveglia, J., and P. A. Dahm. 1977. Degradation of organophosphorus and carbamate insecticides in the soil and by soil microorganisms. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 22:483–513.

Leake, M. C., N. P. Greene, R. M. Godun, T. Granjon, G. Buchanan, S. Chen, R. M. Berry, T. Palmer, and B. C. Berks. 2008. Variable stoichiometry of the TatA component of the twin-arginine protein transport system observed by in vivo single-molecule imaging. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. **105:**15376–15381.

Lee, P. A., D. Tullman-Ercek, and G. Georgiou. 2006. The bacterial twin-arginine translocation pathway. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. **60**:373-395.

Lee, S. Y., H. C. Jong, and X. Zhaohui. 2003. Microbial cell-surface display. Trends Biotechnol. 21:45–52.

Lewis, V. E., W. J. Donarski, J. R. Wild, and R. M. Raushel. 1988. The mechanism and stereochemical course at phosphorus of the reaction catalysed by a bacterial phosphotriesterase. Biochemistry **27**:1591–1597.

Li, S. B., R. C. Zhou, Y. H. Liu, H. Liu, and Y. C. Zhong. 1999. The studies on methamidophos-degrading *Aspergillus* M-2. Microbiology **26**(1):27–30.

Li, W., W. Yang, G. Xinqing, W. Guangli, L. Shunpeng, and J. Jiandong. 2009. Degradation of methamidophos by *Hyphomicrobium* species MAP-1 and the biochemical degradation pathway. Biodegradation DOI 10.1007/s10532-009-9320-9.

Lichtensein, E. P., and K. R. Schulz. 1964. The effects of moisture and microorganisms on the persistence and metabolism of some organophosphorus insecticides in soils with special emphasis on parathion. J. Econ. Entomol. **57:**618-627.

Lillis, V., K. S. Dodgson, J. F. Whito, and W. J. Pyne. 1983. Initiation of activation of preemergent herbicide by a novel alkyl sulfatase of *Pseudomonas putida* FLA activation of crag herbicide (disul) by removal of ester sulfate groups. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **46**:988–992.

Liu, B. B., Y. F. Zhao, Y. P. Chao, Y. M. Xie, and Y. S. Wang. 2001. Degradation of methamidophos by Saccharomyces rouxii WY-3. Environ. Sci. 22(4):37–44.

Liu, Y. H., and Y. C. Zhong. 1999. Study on methamidophos-degrading fungus. Chin. Environ. Sci. 19(2):172–175.

Liu, Z., Q. Hong, H. H. Xu, W. Jun, and S. P. Li. 2006. Construction of a genetically engineered microorganism for degrading organophosphate and carbamate pesticides. Int. Biodeterior. Biodegrad. **58**:65–69.

Lowry, O. H., W. J. Rosebrough, A. L. Farr, and R. J. Randall. 1951. Protein measurement with the folin phenol reagent. J. Biol. Chem. **193:**265-275.

Lynda L. P., and G. J. Zylstra. 2007. Cloning of a Gene Cluster Involved in the Catabolism of *p*-Nitrophenol by *Arthrobacter* sp. Strain JS443 and Characterization of the *p*-Nitrophenol Monooxygenase. J. Bacteriol. **189(21)**:7563-7572.

Lynn, E. C., M. C. Chung, W. C. Tsai, and C. C. Han. 1999. Identification of *Enterobacteriaceae* bacteria by direct MALDI mass spectrometric analysis of whole cells. Rapid. Commun. Mass. Spectrom. **13**:2022–2027.

MAFF/HSE. 1995. Annual report of the working party on pesticide residue. HMSO.

Maidak, B. L., J. R. Core, T. G. Liburs, P. R. Saxman, R. J. Farris, G. M. Garrity, G. J. Olsen, and T. M. Schmidt. 2001. The RDP-II (Ribosomal Database Project). Nucleic Acids Res. 29:173-174.

Manahan, S. E. 1992. Toxicological Chemistry. 2nd edn. Lewis, London.

Mandel, M., and A. Higa. 1970. Calcium dependent DNA infection. J. Mol. Biol.53:159.

Marquis, J. K. 1986. Contemporary Issues in Pesticide Toxicology and Pharmacology. Karger, Basel.30-31.

Mathur, S. C. 1999. Future of Indian pesticide industry in next millennium. Pestic Inf. 24(4):9.

Mattozzi, M. de la Peña ., S. K. Tehara, T. Hong, and J. D. Keasling. 2006. Mineralization of paraoxon and its use as a sole C and P source by a rationally designed catabolic pathway in *Pseudomonas putida*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72:6699–6706.

Mazodier, P., P. Cossart, E. Giraud, and F. Gasser. 1985. Completion of the nucleotide sequence of the central region of Tn5 confirms the presence of three resistance genes. Nucleic Acids Res. 13:195–205.

Mazur, A. 1946. An enzyme in animal tissues capable of hydrolysing the phosphorus-fluorine bond of alkyl fluorophosphates. J. Biol. Chem. **164:**271–289.

Mc Ewens, F. L., and G. R. Stephenson. 1979. The use and significance of pesticides in the environment. Wiley-Interscience, New York p 538.

McDaniel C. S., L. L. Harper, and J. R. Wild. 1988. Cloning and sequencing of a plasmid-borne gene (*opd*) encoding a phosphotriesterase. J. Bacteriol. **170**:2306–2311.

Metcalf, R. L. 1995. Insect Control Technology. In: Kroschwitz J. Howe-Grant M. eds. Kirk-Othmer *Encyclopedia of chemical technology*. Volume 14. New York, NY: John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 524-602.

Mick, D. L., and P. A. Dahm. 1970. Metabolism of parathion by two species of *Rhizobium*. J. Econ. Entomol. 63:1155–1159.

Miller, G., and Tyler Jr. 2002. Living in the Environment (12th Ed.). Belmont: Wadsworth/Thomson Learning.

Minton, N. A., and Murray, S. V. G. 1988. A review of Organophosphate Poisoning. Medical Toxicology. **3:**350-375.

Misra, D., S. Bhuyan, T. K. Adhya, and N. Sethunathan. 1992. Accelerated degradation of methyl parathion, parathion and fenitrothion by suspension from methyl parathion and *p*-nitrophenol treated soils. Soil Biol Biochem. **24(10)**:1035-1042.

Mitra, D., and C. S. Vaidyanathan. 1984. A new 4-nitrophenol-2- hydroxylase from a *Nocardia* sp.: isolation and characterization. Biochem. Int. **8:**605–615.

Miyamoto, J., K. Kitagawa, and Y. Sato. 1966. Metabolism of organophosphorus insecticides by *Bacillus subtilis*, with special emphasis on Sumithion. Jpn. J. Exp. Med. **36:**211–225.

Mohapatra, S., and M. D. Awasthi. 1997. Enhancement of carbofuran degradation by soil enrichment cultures, bacterial cultures and by synergistic, interaction among bacterial cultures. Pestic. Sci. **49:**164–168.

Mohn, W. W., and J. M. Tiedje. 1992. Microbial reductive dehalogenation. Microbiol. Rev. 56:482-507.

Moore, E. R. B., M. Mau, A. Arnscheidt, E. C. Bottger, R. A. Hutson, M. D. Collins, Y. Van de Peer, R. De Wachter, and K. N. Timmis. 1996. The determination and comparison of the 16S rRNA gene sequences of species of the genus *Pseudomonas* (sensu stricto) and estimation of the natural intrageneric relationships. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. **19**:478–492.

Moore, I. K., H. D. Braymer, and A. D. Larson. 1983. Isolation of a *Pseudomonas* sp. which utilizes the phosphonate herbicide glyphosate. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 46:316–320.

Moorman, T. B. 1994. Pesticide degradation by soil microorganisms: Environmental, ecological and management effects. Adv. Soil. Sci. 33:121.

Morales, V. M., A. Backman, and M. Bagdasarian. 1991. A series of wide-hostrange low-copy number vectors that allow direct screening for recombinants. Gene 97:37-47.

Mulbry, W. W., and J. S. Karns. 1989. Parathion hydrolase specified by the *Flavobacterium opd* gene: Relationship between the gene and protein. J. Bacteriol. 171:6740-6746.

Mulbry, W. W., and J. S. Karns. 1989. Purification and characterization of three parathion hydrolases from Gram-negative bacterial strains. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 55:289-295.

Mulbry, W. W., J. S. Karns, P. C. Kearney, J. O. Nelson, C. S. McDaniel, and J.
R. Wild. 1986. Identification of a plasmid-borne parathion hydrolase gene from *Flavobacterium* sp. by southern hybridization with *opd* from *Pseudomonas diminuta*.
Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 51:926-930.

Mulbry, W. W., P. C. Kearney, J. O. Nelson, and J. S. Karns. 1987. Physical comparison of parathion hydrolase plasmids from *Pseudomonas diminuta* and *Flavobacterium* sp. Plasmid **18**:173-177.

Mulbry, W., and E. Rainina. 1998. Biodegradation of chemical warfare agents. *ASM* News 64:325–331.

Mulbry, W.W. 2000. Characterization of a novel organophosphorus hydrolase from *Nocardiodes simplex* NRRL B-24074. Microbiol, Res. **154:**285–288.

Munnecke, D. E., J. L. Bricker, and M. J. Kolbezen. 1974. Dosage response of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* to methyl bromide. Phytophathology. **31**(1):63-69.

Munnecke, D. M. 1981. The use of microbial enzymes for pesticide detoxification. In: Microbial degradation of xenobiotics and recalcitrant compounds (Leisiger, T., Cook, A.M., Huller, R. and Nuesch, J. Eds), pp. 251-269. Acadmic Press, London, New York, Toronto, Sydney and San Fransisco.

Munnecke, D. M. 1976. Enzymatic hydrolysis of organophosphate insecticides, a possible pesticide disposal method. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **32:**7–15.

Munnecke, D. M. 1979a. Chemical, physical and biological methods for the disposal and detoxification of pesticides. Residue Rev. **70**:1-26.

Munnecke, D. M., and D. P. H. Hsieh. 1974. Microbial decontamination of parathion and *p*-nitrophenol in aqueous media. Appl. Microbiol. **28**:212–217.

Muraji, M., and S. Nakahara. 2001. Phylogenetic relationships among fruit flies, Bactrocera (Diptera, Tephritidae), based on the mitochondrial rDNA sequences. Insect. Mol. Biol. **10(6)**:549-559.

Nacemann, K. 1970. Dynamics of the soil microflora following application of insecticides. IV. Zentralbl. Bacteriol. Parasitenkd. Abt. **II 125:**119–133.

Nandeau, L. J., M. Fu-Min, A. Breen, and G. S. Sayler. 1994. Aerobic degradation of (1,1,1-trichloro-2,2-bis (4-chlorophenyl ethane)-DDT by *Alcaligens eutrophus* A5. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **60:**51–55.

National Consumer Council. 1998. Farm Policies and Our Food: The Need for Change. PD 11/B2/98. London.

Nawaz, M. S., and K. D. Chapatwala. 1991. Simultaneous degradation of acetonitrile and biphenyl by *Pseudomonas aeroginosa*. Can. J. Microbiol. **37:**411–418.

Nawaz, M. S., J. W. Davis, J. H. Wolfram, and K. D. Chapatwala. 1991. Degradation of organic cyanides by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 28/29:865–875.

Nelson, L. M. 1982. Biologically induced hydrolysis of parathion in soil: isolation of hydrolysing bacteria. Soil Biol. Biochem. 14:223–229.

Nicolas, D., E. Carbonnelle, B. Dauphin, J. L Beretti, M. L. Bourgeois, I. S. Gaudelus, C. Segonds, P. Berche, X. Nassif, and A. Ferroni. 2008. Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization–Time of Flight Mass Spectrometry for identification of nonfermenting Gram-negative bacilli isolated from Cystic fibrosis patients. J. Clin. Microbiol. **46(10)**:3361-3367.

Nilsson, C. L. 1999. Fingerprinting of *Helicobacter pylori* strains by MALDI mass spectrometric analysis. Rapid. Commun. Mass. Spectrom. **13**:1067–1071.

Ohshiro, K., T. Kakuta, T. Sakai, H. Hidenori, T. Hoshino, and T. Uchiyama. 1996. Biodegradation of organophosphorus insecticides by bacterial isolated from turf green soil. J. Fermen. Bioeng. **82:**299–305.

Omburo, G. A., J. M. Kuo, L. S. Mullins, and F. M. Raushel. 1992. Characterization of the zinc binding site of bacterial phosphotriesterase. J. Biol. Chem. 267:13278–13283.

Ou, L. T., and A. Sharma. 1989. Degradation of methyl parathion by a mixed bacterial culture and a *Bacillus* sp. isolated from different soils. J. Agric. Food Chem.
37:1514–1518.

Pakala, S. B., P. Gorla, A. B. Pinjari, R. K. Krovidi, R. Baru, M. Yanamandra,
M. Merrick, and D. Siddavattam. 2007. Biodegradation of methyl parathion and *p*-nitrophenol: evidence for the presence of a *p*-nitrophenol 2-hydroxylase in a Gramnegative *Serratia* sp strain DS001. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. **73**:1452-1462.

Pandey, J. P., P. Gorla, B. Manavathi, and D. Siddavattam. 2009. mRNA secondary structure modulates the translation of organophosphate hydrolase (OPH) in *E. coli*. Mol. Biol. Rep. **36**:449-54.

Penaloza-Vazquez, A., G. L. Mena, L. Herrera-Estrella, and A. M. Bailey. 1995. Cloning and sequencing of the genes involved in glyphosate utilization by *Pseudomonas pseudomallei*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **61:**538–543.

Pesticide Trust. 1996. Pesticide Trust Review. Pesticide Trust, London.

Pike, R., and N. Amrhein. 1988. Isolation and characterization of a mutant of *Arthrobacter* sp. strain GLP-1 which utilises the herbicide glyphosate as its sole source of phosphorus and nitrogen. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **54:**2868–2870.

Pimentel, D., and L. Leviton. 1986. Pesticides: Amounts applied and amounts reaching pests. Bioscience **36**:86-91.

Pipke, R., N. Amrhein, G. S. Jacob, G. M. Kishore, and J. Schaefer. 1987. Metabolism of glyphosate in an *Arthrobacter* sp. GLP-1. Eur. J. Biochem. **165**:267–273.

Prakash, D., A. Chauhan, and R. K. Jain. 1996. Plasmid-encoded degradation of *p*nitrophenol by *Pseudomonas cepacia*. Biochem. Biophy. Res. Comm. **224:**375–381.

Purushotham, G., J. P. Pandey, S. Parthasarathy, M. Merrick, and D. Siddavattam. 2009. Organophosphate hydrolase in *Brevundimonas diminuta* is targeted to the periplasmic face of the inner membrane by the twin arginine translocation pathway. J. Bacteriol. **191(20):**6292-6299.

Racke, K. D., and J. R. Coats. 1987. Enhanced degradation of isofenphos by soil microorganisms. J. Agric. Food Chem. 35:94–99.

Racke, K. D., and J. R. Coats. 1988. Comparative degradation of organophosphorus insecticides in soil: specificity of enhanced microbial degradation. J. Agric. Food. Chem. **38**:193–199.

Ragnarsdottir, K. V. 2000. Environmental fate and toxicology of organophosphate pesticides. J. Geological. Soc. **157:**859–876.

Ramanathan, M. P., and D. Lalithakumari. 1996. Methyl parathion degradation by *Pseudomonas* sp. A3 immobilized in sodium alginate beads. World. J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. **12:**107–108.

Rani, N. L., and D. Lalitha Kumari. 1994. Degradation of methyl parathion by *Pseudomonas putida*. Can. J. Microbiol. **40**:1000-1006.

Rao, A. V., and N. Sethunathan. 1974. Degradation of parathion by *Penicillium waksmani* Zaleski isolated from flooded acid sulphate soil. Arch. Microbiol. 97:203–208.

Raushel, F. M. 2002. Bacterial detoxification of organophosphate nerve agents. Curr. Opinion. Microbiol. 5:288–295.

Raushel, F. M., and H. M. Holden. 2000. Phosphotriesterase: an enzyme in search of its natural substrate. Adv. Enzymol. Relat. Areas Mol. Biol.74:51-93.

Read, D. C. 1983. Enhanced microbial degradation of carbofuran and fensulfothion after repeated applications to acid mineral soil. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. **10**:37-46.

Reinecke, W., and H. J. Knackmun. 1988. Microbial degradation of haloaromatics, Ann. Rev. Microbiol. **42**:263-287.

Reineke, W. 1998. Development of hybrid strains for the mineralization of chloroaromatics by patchwork assembly. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. **52:**287–331.

Rice, C. P. 1996. Pesticides in fog water. Pesticide Outlook. 7(2):31-36.

Richins, R. D., I. Kaneva, A. Mulchandani, and W. Chen. 1997. Biodegradation of organophosphorus pesticides by surface-expressed organophosphorus hydrolase. Nat. Biotechnol. 15:984–987.

Robles, J., and M. Doers. 1994. pGEM-T Easy vector systems trouble shooting guide. Promega Notes 45:19-20.

Rosenberg, A., and M. Alexander. 1979. Microbial cleavage of various organophosphorus insecticides. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **37:**886–891.

Rotthauwe, J. H., W. de Boer, and W. Liesack. 1995. Comparative analysis of gene sequences encoding ammonia monooxygenase of *Nitrosospira* sp. AHB1 and *Nitrosolobus multiformis* C-71. FEMS. Microbiol. Lett. **133:**131–135.

Rowland S. S., M. K. Speedie, and B. M. Pogell. 1991. Purification and characterization of a secreted recombinant phosphotriesterase (parathion hydrolase) from *Streptomyces lividans*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **57:**440–444.

Ruelle, V., B. E. Moualij, W. Zorzi, P. Ledent, and E. D. Pauw. 2004. Rapid identification of environmental bacterial strains by matrix assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Rapid. Commun. Mass. Spectrom. **18**:2013–2019.

Ryzhov, V., and C. Fenselau. 2001. Characterization of the protein subset desorbed by MALDI from whole bacterial cells. Anal. Chem. **73:**746–750.

Ryzhov, V., Y. Hathout, and C. Fenselau. 2000. Rapid characterization of spores of *Bacillus cereus* group bacteria by MALDI-TOF MS. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **66(9)**: 3828–3834.

Saenz, A. J., C. E. Petersen, N. B. Valentine, S. L. Gantt, K. H. Jarman, M. T. Kingsley, and K. L. Wahl. 1999. Reproducibility of MALDI-TOF MS for replicate bacterial culture analysis. Rapid. Commun. Mass. Spectrom. **13**:1580–1585.

Sahu, S. K., K. Patnaik, M. Sharmila, and N. Sethunathan. 1990. Degradation of alpha, beta and gamma-hexachlorocyclohexane by a soil bacterium under aerobic conditions. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **56:**3620–3622.

Saitou, N., and M. Nei. 1987. The neighbor-joining method: a new method for reconstruction of phylogenetic trees. Mol. Biol. Evol. **4:**406–25.

Sambrook, J., E. F. Fritsch, and T. Maniatis. 1989. Molecular cloning: A Laboratory Manual, Cold Sring Harbor Laboratory, Cold spring, Harbor, N.Y.

Samuelson, P., E. Gunneriusson, P. A. Nygren, and S. Stahl. 2002. Display of proteins on bacteria. J. Biotechnol. 96:129–154.

Sanger, F., S. Nicklen, and A. R. Coulson. 1977. DNA sequencing with chain determinating inhibitors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. **74**:5463-5467.

Sargent, F., E. G. Bogsch, N. R. Stanley, M. Wexler, C. Robinson, B. C. Berks, and T. Palmer. 1998. Overlapping functions of components of a bacterial Secindependent protein export pathway. EMBO J. 17:3640-50. Sargent, F., N. R. Stanley, B. C. Berks, and T. Palmer. 1999. Sec-independent protein translocation in *Escherichia coli*. A distinct and pivotal role for the TatB protein. J. Biol. Chem. **274**:36073-82.

Schrader, G. 1950. Organische phosphor-verbindungen als neuartige insektizide (auszug), Angew. Chem. 62:471–473.

Serdar, C. M., D. J. Gibson, D. M. Munnecke, and J. H. Lancaster. 1982. Plasmid involvement in parathion hydrolysis by *Pseudomonas diminuta*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **44**:246-249.

Serdar, G. M., and D. T. Gibson. 1985. Enzymatic hydrolysis of organophosphates: Cloning and expression of parathion hydrolase gene from *Pseudomonas diminuta*. Bio/Technology **3**:567-571.

Serder, C. M., D. C. Murdock, and M. F. Rhode. 1989. Parathion hydrolase gene from *Pseudomonas diminuta* MG: subcloning, complete nucleotide sequence and expression of mature portion of the enzymes in *Escherichia coli*. Bio/Technology 7: 1151–1555.

Sethunathan, N. 1971. Biodegradation of diazinon in paddy field as a cause of loss of its efficiency for controlling brown planthoppers in rice fields. PANS **17:**18–19.

Sethunathan, N. 1973. Degradation of parathion in flooded acid soils. J. Agric. Food Chem. 21:602–604.

Sethunathan, N., and M. D. Pathak. 1972. Increased biological hydrolysis of diazinon after repeated application in rice paddies. J. Agric. Food Chem. 20:586–589.

Sethunathan, N., and T. Yoshida. 1973. A *Flavobacterium* that degrades diazinon and parathion. Can. J. Microbiol. **19:**873–875.

Shao, Z. Q., W. Seffens, W. Mulbry, and R. M. Behki. 1995b. Cloning and expression of s-triazine hydrolase gene (*trzA*) from *Rhodococcus corallinus* and development of *Rhodococcus* recombinant strains capable of dealkylating and dechlorinating the herbicide atrazine. J. Bacteriol. **177:**5748–5751.

Sheela, S., and P. S. Balakrishna. 1983. Metabolism of fensulfothion by a soil bacterium, *Pseudomonas alcaligenes* C1. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **46** (2):475-479.

Shimazu, M., A. Mulchandani, and W. Chen. 2001. Cell surface display of organophosphorus hydrolase using ice nucleation protein. Biotechnol. Prog. **17**:76-80.

Shroff, R. 2000. Chairman's address in *Pesticide information Annual issue*, (New Delhi: Pesticide association of India Publication).

Siddaramappa, K., K. P. Rajaram, and N. Sethunathan. 1973. Degradation of parathion by bacterium isolated from flooded soil. Appl. Microbiol. **26(6)**:846-849.

Siddavattam D., E. R. Raju, P. V. Emmanuel Paul, and M. Merrick. 2006. Overexpression of parathion hydrolase in *Escherichia coli* stimulates the synthesis of outer membrane porin OmpF. Pest. Biochem. Physiol. **86:**146–150.

Siddavattam, D., S. Khajamohiddin, B. Manavathi, S. B. Pakala, and M. Merrick. 2003. Transposon-like organization of the plasmid-borne organophosphate degradation (*opd*) gene cluster found in *Flavobacterium* sp. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **69:**2533–2539.

Sikorski, J., E. Stackebrandt, and W. Wackernagel. 2001. *Pseudomonas kilonensis* sp. nov., a bacterium isolated from agricultural soil. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. **51**: 1549–1555.

Simon, R., U. Priefer, and A. Pehle. 1983. A broad host range mobilization system for in vitro genetic engineering: transposon mutagenesis in gram negative bacteria.Bio/Technology 1:784–890.

Singh, A. K., and P. K. Seth. 1989. Degradation of malathion by microorganisms isolated from industrial effluents. B. Environ. Contam. Tox. **43**:28–35.

Singh, B. K. 2008. Organophosphorus-degrading bacteria: ecology and industrial applications. Nature Rev. Microbiol. 7:156-164.

Singh, B. K., and A. Walker. 2006. Microbial degradation of organophosphorus compounds. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. **30**:428-471.

Singh, B. K., and A.K. Singh. 1997. Adverse effect of coumaphos on soil dehydrogenase activity. J. Environ. Pollut. 4:255–257.

Singh, B. K., and M. Gautam. 1997. Effect of coumaphos on soil microbial population. Adv. Biosci. 14 (in press).

Singh, B. K., R. C. Kuhad, A. Singh, R. Lal, and K. K. Triapthi. 1999. Biochemical and molecular basis of pesticide degradation by microorganisms. Crit. Rev. Biotechnol. **19:**197–225.

Singh, B.K., A. Walker, and J. Grayston. 2003a. Degradation of chlorpyrifos and its effects on the soil biota. Pesticide in Air, Plant, Soil and Water System (Del Re

AAM, Capri E, Padovani L &Trevisan M, eds), Proceeding of the XII Symposium Pesticide Chemistry. Piacenza, Italy.

Singh, S., and D. K. Singh. 2003. Utilization of monocrotophos as phosphorus source by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* F10B and *Clavibacter michiganense* subsp. insidiosum SBL 11. Can. J. Microbiol. **49:**101–109.

Smelt, J. H., S. J. H. Crum. W. Teunissen, and M. Leistra. 1987. Accelerated transformation of aldicarb, oxamyl and ethoprophos after repeated soil treatments. Crop Protect. 6:295–303.

Smith, J. M., G. F. Dayne, J. A. Lumplein, and J. S. Karns. 1992. Enzyme-based strategy for toxic waste treatment and waste minimization. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 39: 71-152.

Sogorb, M. A., and E. Vilanova. 2002. Enzymes involved in the detoxification of organophosphorus, carbamate and pyrethroid insecticides through hydrolysis. Toxicol. Lett. **128:**215–228.

Somani, S. M., R. P. Solana, and S. N. Dube. 1992. Toxicodynamics of nerve agents. In: Somani S.M., ed. *Chemical Warfare Agents*. San Diego: Academic Press; 67-123.

Somara, S., and D. Siddavattam. 1995. Plasmid mediated organophosphate pesticide degradation by *Flavobacterium balustinum*. Biochem. Mol. Biol. Int. 36: 627-631.

Spain, J. C., and D. T. Gibson. 1991. Pathway for biodegradation of *p*-nitrophenol in a *Moraxella* species. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **57**:812–819.

Spain, J. C., and D. T. Gibson. 1991. Pathway for biodegradation of *p*-nitrophenol in a *Moraxella* species. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **57**:812–819.

Spain, J. C., O. Wyss, and D. T. Gibson. 1979. Enzymatic oxidation of *p*-nitrophenol. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. **88**:634–641.

Stackebrandt, E., and B. M. Goebel. 1994. Taxonomic note: a place for DNA-DNA reassociation and 16S rRNA sequence analysis in the present species definition in bacteriology. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. **44:**846–849.

Stackhouse, S. C. 1980. Determination, isolation and characterization of SD9129metabolizing microorganisms isolated from freshly collected and pretreated sandyloam soil. Shell Report RIR-22-013-80.

Steenland, K. 1995. Chronic neurological effects of organophosphate pesticides: subclinical damage does occur, but longer follow studies are needed, British Medical Journal, 25 May.

Steiert, J. G., B. M. Pogell, M. K. Speedie, and J. A. Laredo. 1989. A gene coding for membrane bound hydrolase is expressed as a soluble enzyme in *Streptomyces lividans*. Bio/Technology **7:**65–68.

Stiriling, A. M., G. R. Stiriling, and I. C. Macrae. 1992. Microbial degradation of fenamiphos after repeated application to a tomato-growing soil. Nematologica **38**: 245–254.

Subhas, S., and D. K. Singh. 2003. Utilization of monocrotophos as phosphorus source by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* F10B and *Clavibacter michiganense* subsp. insidiosum SBL 11. Can. J. Microbiol. **49:**101–109.

Suett, D. L., and A. A. Jukes. 1997. The accelerated biodegradation of phorate in carrot soils in the United Kingdom. Crop Protect. **16**:457–461.

Syvanen, M., Z. Zhou, J. Wharton, C. Goldsbury, and A. Clark. 1996. Heterogeneity of the glutathione transferase genes encoding enzymes responsible for insecticide degradation in the housefly. J. Mol. Evol. **43(3)**:236–240.

Tago, K. 2006. Novel organophosphorus pesticide hydrolase gene encoded on a plasmid in *Burkholderia* sp. Strain NF100 Microbes Environ. **21(1):**53-57.

Tchelet, R., D. Levanon, D. Mingelrin, and Y. Henis. 1993. Parathion degradation by a *Pseudomonas* sp. and a *Xanthomonas* sp. and by their crude enzyme extracts as affected by some cations. Soil Biol. Biochem. **25**:1665–1671.

The Insecticide Act, 1968. 1988. Eastern Book Agency, Lucknow. 1.

Thomas, J. J., B. Falk, and C. Fenselau. 1998. Viral characterization by direct analysis of capsid proteins. Anal. Chem. **70**:3863–3867.

Thompson, J. D., T. J. Gibson, F. Plewniak, F. Jeanmougin, and D. G. Higgins. 1997. The CLUSTAL_X windows interface: flexible strategies for multiple sequence alignment aided by quality analysis tools. Nucleic Acids Res. **25**:4876–4882.

Thompson, J., and D. C. Abbot. 1966. Pesticide Residues, Lecture Series No. 3, The Royal Institute of Chemistry, 30, Russel Square, London, .W.C.1. **Tiedje, J. M., J. M. Duxbury, M. Alexander, and J. E. Dawson.** 1964. 2,4-D metabolism: pathway of degradation of chlorecatechol by *Arthrobacter* sp. J. Agric. Food Chem. **17**:1021–1026.

Tiedje, J. M., S. A, Boyd, and B. Z. Fathepure. 1987. An aerobic degradation of chlorinated aromatic hydrocarbons. Dev. Ind. Microbiol. 27:117-127.

Timmis, K. N., and D. H. Piper. 1999. Bacteria designed for bioremediation. Trends.
Biotechnol. 17:201–204.

Timmis, K. N., R. J. Steffean, and R. Unterman. 1994. Designing microorganisms for the treatment of toxic wastes. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. **48:**528-557.

Toole, G., and S. Toole. 1995. Understanding Biology. 3rd edn. Stanley Thornes, Cheltenham, UK.

Tourova, T. P., and A. S. Antonov. 1987. Identification of microorganisms by rapid DNA-DNA hybridisation. Methods. Microbiol. **19:**333-355.

Van der Meer, J. R., W. M. de Vos, S. Harayama, and A. Z. B. Zehnder. 1992. Molecular mechanisms of genetic adaptation to xenobiotic compounds. Microbiol. Rev. 56:677–694.

Wacket, L. P., S. L. Shames, C. P. Venditti, and C. T. Walsh. 1987. Bacterial carbon-phosphorus lyase: products, rates and regulation of phosphonic and phosphinic acid metabolism. J. Bacteriol. **169:**710–717.

Walker, A. W., and J. D. Keasling. 2002. Metabolic engineering of *Pseudomonas putida* for the utilization of parathion as a carbon and energy source. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 78:715–721.

Walker, W. W., and B. J. Stojanovic. 1974. Malathion degradation by an *Arthrobacter* species. J. Environ. Qual. **3:**4–10.

Wang, Z., L. Russon, L. Li, D.C. Roser, and S. R. Long. 1998. Investigation of spectral reproducibility in direct analysis of bacteria proteins by MALDI-TOF MS. Rapid. Commun. Mass. Spectrom. 12:456–464.

Wayne, L. G., D. J. Brenner, R. R. Colwell, and 9 other authors. (1987). International Committee on Systematic Bacteriology. Report of the ad hoc committee on reconciliation of approaches to bacterial systematics. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. **37**: 463–464.

Wedemeyer, G. 1966. Dechlorination of DDT by *Aerobacteraerogenes*. Science **152**: 647–649.

Wei, S. H., A. Clark, and M. Syvanen. 2001. Identification and cloning of a key insecticide metabolizing glutathione S-transferase (MdGST-6A) from a hyper insecticide-resistant strain of the housefly *Musca domestica*. Insect. Biochem. Mol. Biol. **31(12):**1145–1153.

Weiner, J. H., P. T. Bilous, G. M. Shaw, S. P. Lubitz, L. Frost, G. H. Thomas, J. A. Cole, and R. J. Turner. 1998. A novel and ubiquitous system for membrane targeting and secretion of cofactor-containing proteins. Cell **93**:93-101.

Welham, K. J., M. A. Domin, K. Johnson, L. Jones, and D. S. Ashton. 2000. Characterization of fungal spores by laser desorption/ ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Rapid. Commun. Mass. Spectrom. **14**:307-310.

Wu, X. W., Z. G. Wu, Y. M. Wang, C. Dong, L. P. Zhang, Y. M. Shi, and Y. X.
Yang. 2005. Study on degradation of methamidophos by *Pseudomonas* sp. S-2.
Biotechnology 15(1):77–79.

Xiao, H. H., and Y. S. Wang. 1995. Studies on the isolation and characterization of methamidophos-degrading *Pseudomonas* WS-5. Chin. Environ. Sci. **15**(6):464–467.

Yahr, T. L., and W. T. Wickner. 2001. Functional reconstitution of bacterial Tat translocation in vitro. EMBO J. 20:2472–2479.

Yali, C., Z. Xianen, L. Hong, W. Yinshan, and X. Xiangming. 2002. Study on *Pseudomonas* sp. WBC-3 capable of complete degradation of methyl parathion.Weishengwu. Xuebao. 42:490–497.

Yang, C., N. Cai, M. Dong, H. Jiang, J. Li, C. Qiao, A. Mulchandani, and W. Chen. 2008. Surface display of *mph* on *Pseudomonas putida* JS444 using ice nucleation protein and its application in detoxification of organophosphates. Biotechnol.Bioeng. **99** (1):30-37.

Yasuno, M., S. Hirakoso, M. Sasa, and M. Uchida. 1965. Inactivation of some organophosphorus insecticides by bacteria in polluted water. Jpn. J. Exp. Med. 35: 546–563.

Yen, D. H. T., H. W. Yien, L. M. Wang, C. H. Lee, and S. H. H. Chan. 2000. Spectral analysis of systemic arterial pressure and heart rate signals of patients with acute respiratory failure induced by severe organophosphate poisoning. Clin. Invest. 28(8):2805-2811.

Zakrevsky, J. G., and V. N. Mallet. 1975. Determination of coumaphos and its oxygen analog in eggs by *in situ* fluorometry. J. ADCL. **58:** 554–556.

Zheng, Y. L., D. L. Liu, Q. Gao, W. Wang, and X. S. Shi. 2006. Isolation and characterization of a bacterium HS-A32 capable of degrading methamidophos. Chin.J. Appl. Environ. Biol. 12(3):399–403.

Zhongli, C., L. Shunpeng, and F. Guoping. 2001. Isolation of methyl parathiondegrading strain M6 and cloning of the methyl parathion hydrolase gene. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **67:**4922–4925.

Zhongli, C., Z. Ruifu, H. Jian, and L. Shunpeng. 2002. Isolation and characterization of a *p*-nitrophenol degradation *Pseudomonas* sp. strain p3 and construction of a genetically engineered bacterium. Weishengwu. Xuebao. **42**:19–26.

Zuckerman, B. M., K. Deubert, M. Mackiewicz, and H. Gunner. 1970. Studies on the biodegradation of parathion. Plant. Soil. **33**:273–281.